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Bold accomplishments

The first woman to fly in a hot air balloon was the 19-year-old 
Frenchwoman Elisabeth Thible. The flight was made in a hot air 

balloon called La Gustave in 1784 and lasted 45 minutes. 
The opera singer dressed as the goddess Minerva bravely 

climbed into it, amazing the crowd. 

Hot air balloons lift from two to six people into the air with 
a maximum payload of 350-550 kilograms. The world record holder 

is a 35-seat balloon with a two-story gondola. 

     from two to six people          of 350-550 kilograms

A confident ascent 

1784
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1 ADB    Asian Development Bank

2 ABS    Automated banking system

3 Colvir ABS/Colvir Banking System Colvir is the Bank's current IT platform

4 AIS LEA    Automated Information System for Law Enforcement Agencies

5 Damu EDF JSC / Damu Fund  Damu Enterprise Development Fund JSC

6 ATM    (Eng. Аutomated Тeller Маchine)

7 STB    Second-tier bank

8 DBK    Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC

9 BCC / Bank    Bank CenterCredit JSC

10 HO    Head Office

11 BCC Group / Banking Group  "Bank CenterCredit" JSC Group

12 CB    Court Bailiff

13 ITD    IT Department

14 EAEU    Eurasian Economic Union

15 EBRD    European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

16 IS    Information security

17 IT    Information technology

18 KISC    RSE "Kazakhstan Interbank Settlements Center of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan"

4



5

19 MCI    Monthly Calculation Index

20 SME    Small and medium business

21 IFRS    International Financial Reporting Standards 

22 MJ RK    Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan

23 NBRK / Regulator   National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan

24 RK    Republic of Kazakhstan

25 RCPB    Republican Chamber of Private Bailiffs

26 IAS    Internal Audit System

27 AB    Affiliated branch

28 PI    Private individual

29 PB    Private Bailiff

30 LE    Legal Entity

31 NPL    (Eng. Non-performing loan) - second-tier bank loans more than 90 days overdue

32 StarBanking   A remote banking system for individuals, allowing them to manage their bank accounts                                
     in real time (Online) from various devices (computer, smartphone, tablet, etc.)                                             
     connected to the Internet.

33 TONIA    The TONIA (Tenge OverNight Index Average) indicator is the weighted average interest                                 
     rate for repo opening deals for one business day made on the exchange in the automatic                                      
     repo sector with GS.
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Bakhytbek Rymbekovich
Baiseitov

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bank CenterCredit JSC since 1997 and 
President of the Association of Banks of Kazakhstan from 1996 to present. 
For more than 19 years, since 1999, he has been Chairman of the Central Control 
and Auditing Commission of the Nur Otan Party.    

He obtained his higher education in Russia, where he studied at the Moscow 
Finance Institute from 1975 to 1979. After returning to Kazakhstan, he continued 
his studies in Economics at the Alma-Ata Institute of National Economy (AINE) 
from 1980 to 1981. In 1982, he entered a postgraduate program at AINE, where 
he studied until 1986 in the Department of Currency Circulation and Credit. 
Meanwhile, he underwent further training at the All-Union Correspondence 
Financial and Economic Institute.

He started working as a Senior Economist, Department Head and Managing 
Director in the Kazakh Republican Office of the State Bank of the USSR from 
1981 to 1987. In 1988 he became the managing director and a member of 
the Management Board in the Kazakh Republican Office of the Zhilsotsbank 
of the USSR. From 1988 to 1991, he held the position of Chairman of the 
Management Board of Alma-Ata Central Cooperative Bank Centerbank. In 1991, 
after re-branding and changing the name to the Kazakh Central Joint Stock Bank 
Centerbank, he continued to work as Chairman of the Management Board, also 
heading the Board of Directors. In 1992, he joined the Council of the International 
Congress of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs (ICIE), becoming Vice President of the 
Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs of the Republic of Kazakhstan, as well 
as President of the Congress of Entrepreneurs of the Republic of Kazakhstan until 
1997. During this time, from 1993 to 2004, he was Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board at the Kazakhstan International Bank CJSC.

Today he is a member of the Business Council of EurAsEC — Kazakhstan 
Association, a member of the Board of Directors of the International Foundation 
for Sustainable Peace and Development (IFSPD), a co-founder of the BOAO 
Forum in Asia, and President of the Financial & Banking Association of Euro-Asian 
Cooperation (FBA EAC), taking office in 2013. 
He is the recipient of state awards of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
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Dear shareholders and partners,
The past year has been marked by positive trends in Kazakhstan's 
economy due to a positive economic growth rate, a slowdown of 
inflation and stabilization of the foreign exchange market, an increase 
in investment and business activity in the country, and the revival of 
domestic demand. Favorable market trends have had a positive effect 
on both the financial system in general and the Bank's activities.

In the reporting year, the Bank focused its efforts on restoring activity 
in the lending sector. This had a positive effect on the loan portfolio, 
which had increased by 41 bn tenge (4.7%) to 930.7 bn tenge by the 
end of 2017, allowing the Bank to maintain its market position (6th 
by size of the loan portfolio). I should also note that one of the Bank's 
important goals in the past year was not only to ensure a positive 
lending growth rate, but also to improve the quality indicators of the 
loan portfolio. As a result of the measures taken during the year, the 
share of non-performing loans in the loan portfolio (NPL) decreased 
from 8.9% to 7.9% during the year. 

The Bank is maintaining its share of 6.8% in the retail deposit market 
and 5.0% in the corporate deposit market.  

Bank CenterCredit took part in the Program for Improving the Financial 
Stability of the Banking Sector in Kazakhstan in order to meet the new, 
more stringent risk-oriented requirements of the NBRK. As a result, 
the Bank's prudential equity grew by 43% to 229 bn tenge. 

In general, 2017 was marked a number of important events for 
the Bank. After becoming major shareholders of the Bank in 2017, 

Tsesnabank JSC and Tsesna Financial Holding JSC, which bought 
a stake from Kookmin Bank, sold their shareholdings in Q1 2018 
to Bakhytbek Baiseitov and Vladislav Li (who received the status 
of major shareholder), and other individuals (minority shareholders).

There have been changes in the composition of the Bank's Board 
of Directors and Management Board. Galim Khusainov was elected 
Chairman of the Management Board.

Overall, the Bank managed to qualitatively improve its growth 
dynamics, implement advanced management methods, attract highly 
skilled specialists, and continue development of IT.

As of the end of 2017, consolidated profit was 28.9 bn tenge, which 
significantly exceeded the planned figure.

Based on the results of the reporting year, the Bank began to update its 
Strategy and revise the goals, objectives and main prospects for further 
development according to the current economic situation and the 
changes taking place in the country's banking sector.

A digitalization policy was adopted for the Bank: the development 
of digital channels, digitization of products and processes, and the 
development of analytical systems.

 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
"Bank CenterCredit" JSC
Bakhytbek Baiseitov

 

6 7



8

Vladislav Sedinovich Li

Member of the Board of Directors of Bank CenterCredit JSC from 2017 
to present.

In 1982, he graduated from the Institute of National Economy with a degree 
in Finance and Credit. Immediately after completing his studies, he started 
working as Chief Economist of the Planning and Economic Department 
of the Kazakh Republican Office of the State Bank of the USSR until 1986.

In 1988, he headed the Department of Financing and Crediting of State Trade 
and Light Industry of the Kazakh Republican Bank of Zhilsotsbank. From 1989 
to 1993, he served as First Deputy Chairman of the Board of Kazakh Central 
Joint Stock Bank, Centerbank. Two years later he became Chairman of the 
Managment Board of the Kazakh Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Social 
Development Lending, and in 1997, he became First Deputy Chairman of the 
Management Board of ZhilstroyBank CJSC. 

He has many years of experience as Chairman of the Management Board 
of Bank CenterCredit JSC from 1998 to 2017. He received his graduate 
degree in 2005 as part of a work-study program at the International Business 
Academy in cooperation with HEC School of Management, where he 
graduated in 2003 as a Master of Economics. Without stopping at what he had 
achieved, in 2005 he received a Master of Business Administration from the 
International Executive MBA Program.
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Jumageldi Rakhishevich Amankulov

Member of the Board of Directors of Bank CenterCredit JSC 
from 2011 to present.

From 1978 to 1982, he studied Finance and Credit at the 
Alma-Ata Institute of National Economy. Five years later, 
he moved to the city of Shevchenko, where he became 
Assistant to the First Deputy Chairman of the Regional 
Executive Committee (until 1988). Afterward, he worked 
for two years as Deputy General Director of the Mangyshlak 
Production Association for the extraction and processing 
of shell rock. 

In 1990, he assumed the position of Branch Director at 
Centerbank in Aktau. A new appointment took place a year 
later, and until 1997 he was Director of the branch and 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board, combined 
with the position of Chairman of the Management Board 
of KCJSB Centerbank in Almaty. 

In 1997, he became Chairman of the Management Board 
of Bank CenterCredit OJSC in Almaty. At the same time, 
he was appointed to the position of First Deputy Governor 
of Mangistau Region in Aktau, where he worked until 2001.  
In 2001, he assumed the position of First Vice President 
and Chairman of the Board of Directors of ABS-Balkhash 
Mining Co. JSC in Almaty. A year later, he became Advisor 
to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and served as 
a member of the Board of Directors of Bank CenterCredit 
JSC in Almaty until 2004. In 2007, he received a Master's 
degree in Corporate Business, following two years of study 
at the International Academy of Business. In 2010, he was 
appointed Advisor to Bank CenterCredit JSC.
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Frans Jozef Claes Werner

Member of the Board of Directors, Independent Director of Bank CenterCredit 
JSC since 2011, President of BVBA Global Financial Consulting since 2008, 
Member of the Board of Directors of United International Bank and Senior 
Consultant of International Financial Consulting Ltd from 2010 to present.

He graduated from the Institute of Translators in 1986, after 4 years of study, 
with a Master's in Translation and Interpreting. He continued his studies until 
1993 at the Flemish University of Economics and holds Master's degrees 
in Business Economics, Corporate Finance and Accounting. 

After graduating in 1995, he began his career in the position of Senior Credit 
Officer, quickly ascending the career ladder to Director of International Credit, 
followed by Director of Risk Management at Fortis Bank until 2005. From 
2002 to 2008, he was Director of Private Capital, Strategic Director, and a 
member of the Fortis Bank Board of Directors. During this time, from 2004 
to 2008, he was a member of the Board of Directors of Gimv Czech Ventures, 
and in 2005, also became a member of the Board of Directors of Metakor NV. 
In 2006, he became Chairman of the Board of Directors of Novy SA, serving 
until 2008.  
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June 5, 1783

Reaching foR dReams

The first functional balloon (aerostat) to reach an altitude 
of 400 meters did so on June 5, 1783, at the hands of French 
brothers Joseph and Étienne Montgolfier. The two had often 
dreamed of ways man could ascend into the skies.

 

The brothers Joseph and Étienne Montgolfier invented the first 
ever balloon, sewn a silk envelope with a volume of one cubic 
meter for the first balloon. The balloon heated over a fire rose 
to a height of thirty meters in November 1782. 
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Galim Abilzhanovich 
Khusainov

Chairman of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit JSC since September 
2017, member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants from 
2010 to present.

He obtained his first university degree at Omsk F. M. Dostoevsky State 
University, where he studied Taxes and Taxation from 2000 to 2005. In his 
final year, he had already begun working as Consultant in the Department 
of Management Accounting, Budgeting and Analysis at Energofinans IIC 
LLC. In 2005, he became Budget Controller and then Chief Economist for 
Budgeting, rising to Deputy Head of the Planning and Economics Department 
and Deputy Head of the Finance and Economics Department of Omsk-Polymer 
LLC, where he worked until 2007. He then moved to PROFIT Company LLP, 
where he headed the Department of Budgeting and Investment Planning until 
2009.

In 2008, he continued his education by joining the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (ACCA) and received an ACCA Diploma in International 
Financial Reporting (DiplFP Russian).

From 2009 to 2011, he served as Deputy General Director for Economics and 
Finance at Zarechnoe JV JSC. In 2011, he assumed the position of General 
Director of BRB INVEST LLP, which he held until 2015, when he became the 
President of AIFRI GREEN INVEST JSC until 2017. In 2015, while he continued 
to work, he defended his MBA from the Swiss Business School, International 
Management. 

Before becoming Chairman of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit 
JSC in March 2017, he assumed the position of Advisor to the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of Bank CenterCredit JSC, and in May 2017 he became 
Managing Director and a member of the Bank's Management Board.
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Dear shareholders and clients,
In 2017, we saw favorable trends in the country's economy. GDP growth at 
year end was 4%. The key growth factors were an increase in production, 
an increase in investment activity, and gradual recovery of domestic demand. 
Favorable external factors, particularly an increase in world commodity prices, 
also contributed to the growth of the domestic economy, as shown by the 
corresponding expansion of exports in 2017.

Positive trends in the economy contributed to strengthening of the national 
currency at the end of 2017, while intervention of the National Bank in 
the foreign exchange market was minimal and aimed at "smoothing" the 
devaluation surges throughout the year. Further de-dollarization of the 
economy amid appreciation of the tenge and lower devaluation expectations.

The monetary policy of the National Bank achieved the following results: at 
year-end, inflation in the country slowed from 8.5% to 7.1%, which is within 
the set corridor of 6 – 8%. As part of inflation targeting, the NBRK reduced 
the base rate three times from 12% to 10.25% during 2017. This year, the 
rate has been reduced from 10.25% to 9.5%, which in turn decreases the 
cost of credit resources. The reduction of remuneration rates amid a recovery 
of business activity in the country is an additional stimulus for a resumption 
in lending.

The Bank's efforts to increase lending together with favorable market trends 
were reflected in growth and improved quality of the loan portfolio. The Bank 
was one of the first STBs to transition successfully to IFRS 9.

"Bank CenterCredit" JSC has traditionally been actively involved in 
implementing government programs to support domestic business and the 
population. 2017 was no exception: BCC was the first bank in Kazakhstan 
to issue a mortgage loan under the Nurly Jer Program, and by year end was 
the leading STB in the development of this Program, with a 60% stake in all 
issued loans. Under the Unified Business Support and Development Program 
"Business Roadmap 2020", the Bank is consistently in 3rd place in subsidizing 
and guaranteeing loans to legal entities and sole proprietors. 

In October 2017, the Bank and "Damu" EDF JSC signed an agreement worth 
19.8 bn tenge for financing SME through ADB loans. The Bank will direct the 
funds received to SME lending in all sectors without restrictions, in particular, 
to replenish working capital, purchase and upgrade fixed assets, and to 
refinance loans issued by other banks. The maximum limit for one borrower 
is 1.08 bn tenge. 

Given the government's policy for digitalization of the economy, and 
the results of the Bank's research, in 2017, BCC focused on active 
implementation of new banking service technologies.

More specifically, interaction between the Bank and the NBRK and national 
revenue agencies was automated during foreign exchange control within the 
EAEU, and an electronic channel for interaction with private/court bailiffs 
was implemented. 

The card business has expanded significantly: The Bank has implemented 
a project to issue CashBack cards based on the MasterCard payment system, 
and has also started cooperation with UnionPay International, one of the 
largest international payment systems and the fastest growing network in the 
world. 

Improved functionality in the StarBanking and NIB systems for issuing and 
handling payment cards of both individuals and corporate clients. An online 
transfer service was launched from card to card of any RK bank, connection 
to the StarBanking system was made through the Website, and direct 
document flow (DirectBank) was implemented between NIB and 1C. 

The new "Mobile POS Terminal" project was launched together with K-Cell 
to connect to the acquiring network of the Bank's mobile POS terminals. 
The security standard of the Visa International payment system has been 
implemented. It supports 3D Secure technology and the PIN-Set service 
(issue of payment cards without PIN envelopes), which allows BCC payment 
card holders to set their own PIN code through an ATM. Certification in 
MasterCard International for the PayPass Acquiring project "Acceptance of 
contactless MasterCard PayPass cards in the Bank's POS terminal network" 
has been completed. The technology allows payment for purchases and 
services in seconds by simply bringing a card to a terminal equipped to accept 
contactless payments.

In October 2017, BCC, together with a representative of the National Bank, 
hosted the BCC Innovation Challenge hackathon, in which programmers 
and specialists from other areas developed and implemented projects for 
using modern technologies in the Bank's operations in prototypes of finished 
products. The BCC Innovation Challenge is the first and largest such event 
with the involvement of the NBRK.

These events are designed to strengthen the Bank's competitiveness in 
a rapidly changing digital age and are also the first step in the transition from 
a traditional bank to an innovative, customer-focused financial institution.

The measures planned within the updated strategy will be aimed at creating 
an in-house digital channel ecosystem that will bring financial services to the 
everyday life of the Bank's customers.

 
Chairman of the Management Board
"Bank CenterCredit" JSC
Galim Khusainov
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Bulan Adilkhanovich Adilkhanov

Managing Director, member of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit JSC 
from 2012 to present.

He graduated from Abai Kazakh National Pedagogical University (Faculty of 
Drafting and Drawing) in 1980. He came a long way from a supervisor, to 
inspector, and then senior researcher to Assistant Minister of Education of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan from 1986 to 1993, when he was invited to the position 
of Assistant to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. In 1994, he decided 
to continue his studies and enrolled at the Market Institute under the Kazakh 
State Academy of Management in the Faculty of Economics and Management 
and, in the same year, became Secretary of the Management Board of Bank 
CenterCredit JSC. 

He started 1995 in a new position as Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
and Director of the Operations Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC. Three years 
later, while still Deputy Chairman of the Management Board, he became Head of 
the Administrative Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC in 1998, a position which 
he held until 2008. 

He has a Master of Business Administration, following two years of study at the 
International Business Academy (from 2003 to 2005), and is also a Doctor of 
Business Administration, having graduated in 2008 from the Academy of National 
Economy under the Government of the Russian Federation. 

In 2008, he became Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of Bank 
CenterCredit JSC, a position he held until 2011.
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Timur Zhaksylykovich Ishmuratov

Managing Director, member of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit 
JSC from October 2017 to present. 

He graduated from the University of Warsaw in 1999 with a degree in 
International Relations.

In 2000, he was appointed Chief Specialist of the Department of Financial 
Institutions of Bank TuranAlem OJSC, which he held until 2002, when he 
became Head of IR of the Corporate Finance Department at Bank CenterCredit 
OJSC. Before becoming Director of the Treasury Department at Bank 
CenterCredit JSC in 2010, he had been working for five years as Managing 
Director of the Department of International Relations, starting in 2005.

From 2013 to 2016, he held the position of Chairman of the Management 
Board of Bank BCC-Moscow LLC. In 2016, he was invited to the position of 
Advisor to the Chairman of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit JSC 
in Almaty, becoming Managing Director of Bank CenterCredit JSC a year later.
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Yerzhan Asylbek uli Asylbek 

Managing Director of Bank CenterCredit JSC from 2017 to present.

He graduated from the Kazakh State Academy of Management in 1999 
with a degree in Finance and Credit, having received the qualification of an 
Economist. A year later, he started working in the Lending Department, where 
he remained until 2003. First, as Specialist of the Department of Problem 
Loans and Collateral Appraisal, then as Lead Specialist of the Department of 
Reporting and Analysis and Senior Loan Officer of the Lending Department. 

From 2004 to 2008, he worked as Chief Credit Risk Manager of the Credit 
Risk Department, Head of the Credit Risk Department, and Head of Credit Risk 
for major projects of the Credit Risk Department. After proving himself as a 
professional manager, he was invited to the position of Deputy Director of the 
Credit Risk Department in 2008, and, a year later, became the department's 
Director. He entered the Swiss Business School in 2015 through a work-study 
program, graduating as a Master of Business Administration. In 2016, he was 
appointed Head of the Department of Planning and Finance, where he served 
until 2017. 
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Ruslan Vladimirovich Vladimirov

Managing Director, member of the Management Board of Bank CenterCredit 
JSC from 2018 to present.

He graduated from Almaty State University in 2001 as an International 
Economist, and, since 2003, he has worked at the Almaty Branch of Bank 
CenterCredit as Senior Loan Officer and Head of the Lending Department. 
In 2005, he was appointed Manager of CSD #12 at the Almaty Branch 
of Bank CenterCredit and worked as Head of Lending in the SMBD of 
CenterCredit Bank.

Starting in 2006, for the next five years, he was Deputy Director — Manager 
of the Business Lending Office and Manager of Sales Office #2 of the Almaty 
Branch of Bank CenterCredit. 

Before becoming Director of the Almaty Branch of Bank CenterCredit JSC in 
2014, he spent two years (2008–2010) studying Business Administration 
at the International Academy of Business. From 2011 to 2014, he worked as 
Manager of the Center for Credit Analysis ARCKA Bank CenterCredit. 
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ANNUAL
REPORT
2017 It was a year of  big events and changes.

After 30 years, country's only 
private bank is still aspiring to new 
heights, new dreams and new prospects 
for landmark events. As always, we're 
guided by dreams of the future, 
and we're achieving them today.
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It was a year of  big events and changes.
After 30 years, country's only 
private bank is still aspiring to new 
heights, new dreams and new prospects 
for landmark events. As always, we're 
guided by dreams of the future, 
and we're achieving them today.
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The first image of a balloon with a tetrahedron-shaped
envelope and a two-seater gondola suspended below 
was found in cave paintings in the ancient Inca country 
in Peru. The stages of preparing a hot air balloon 
for a flight and making it were also shown.

Peru

While pReseRving 
tRadition
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Indicator 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Return on average equity (ROAE) 25.3% 5.8%

Return on average assets (ROAA) 2.1% 0.4%

Net interest margin 4.6% 2.4%

Operating expenses / operating results (CIR) 26.2% 65.9%

Capital adequacy ratio (k1) * 10.4% 8.7%

Tier one capital adequacy ratio (k1-2) * 13.3% 12.7%

Equity ratio (k2) * 21.4% 16.6%

Financial performance of BCC Group

*The ratios are calculated from financial data of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC

"Center Leasing" LLP is currently in the process of liquidation. 

Name
Ownership ratio

Type of activity
31.12.2017 31.12.2016

"BCC-OUSA" LLP 100%                 100% Management of stressed assets

"BCC Invest" JSC 95.19% 95.19% Broker-Dealer activities

"Center Leasing" LLP - 90.75% Financial leasing

Indicator 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Assets, mln tenge 1 330 498 1 362 251

Cash, interbank, securities, mln tenge 384 923 460 443

Loans granted to clients and banks, mln tenge 831 251 818 742

Funds of clients and banks, mln Tenge 976 952 1 053 902

Issued debt securities and subordinated bonds, mln tenge 92 782 78 142

Total equity, mln tenge 128 883 99 265

Indicator 2017 2016

Interest income, mln tenge 109 938 94 543

Interest expense, mln tenge 62 438 68 224

Net interest income, mln tenge 47 500 26 319

Formation of reserves for impairment of assets, mln tenge 43 743 10 603

Net non-interest income, mln tenge 60 612 20 309

Operating expenses, mln tenge 28 299 30 732

Income tax expenses, mln tenge 7 199 1 900

Net income, mln tenge 28 871 5 361

Structure of the banking group
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Indicator 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Number of cards (thous.) 1 055.3 1 054.5

Number of online banking users (thous.), including: 605.4 497.0

   - PI (thous. people) 564.8 462.5

   - LE (thous. companies) 40.6 34.5

Distribution network (as of December 31, 2017)

•	 19 branches  

•	 101 branch affiliates, including:

	 •	1	VIP	Center

	 •	20	Operations	Departments

	 •	29	Cash	Settlement	Offices

	 •	27	Financial	Service	Centers

	 •	24	Retail	Service	Centers

•	 627 ATMs

•	 4 928 POS terminals

•	 96 payment terminals

International credit ratings of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC as of January 1, 2018:

Rating agency Long-term rating Forecast

Standard & Poor’s B Stable*

Fitch Ratings B Stable**

Number of card business customers

* On September 14, 2017, Standard & Poor's confirmed BCC's long-term rating at level "B". Rating forecast is "stable". 
* * On December 15, 2017, Fitch Ratings confirmed BCC's long-term rating at level "B". Rating forecast is "stable".  
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As of January 1, 2018, the number of outstanding common shares was 
162 456 800 units, announced preferred shares amounted to 39 249 
255 units, and authorized capital of 69 751 mln tenge was paid.

In Q1 2017, there was a change of major shareholders of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC. Kookmin Bank Co Ltd. and IFC sold their stakes to 

Bakhytbek Baiseitov, "Tsesna Financial Holding" JSC and "Tsesnabank" 
JSC.

As a result, as of January 1, 2018, the following structure of 
shareholders owning at least 5% of the outstanding shares was 
established:

№ Name / Corporate name of shareholder Type of securities Total number

Ratio of the number of the holder's 
securities to the number of the issuer's 

securities

Outstanding, % Voting, %

1 "Tsesna Financial Holding" JSC preferred shares 27 067 109 13.42 -

2 "Tsesnabank" JSC
common shares 48 023 250 23.81 29.98

preferred shares 8 366 560 4.15 -

3 Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov
common shares 71 296 375 35.35 44.51

preferred shares 1 837 923 0.91 -

The percentage of voting shares is calculated according to Clause 8 of Article 1 of Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 415-II dated May 13, 2003 "On Joint 
Stock Companies"
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As of January 1, 2018, the equity of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC according 
to the prudential standards of the National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan was 229 420 mln tenge, an increase of 68 845 mln tenge 
or 30.0% over January 1, 2017.

Capital structure:

•	 Fixed capital — 111 582 mln tenge

•	 Added capital — 30 914 mln tenge

•	 Second-tier capital – 98 923 mln tenge.

The Bank's capital structure as of January 1, 2018.

Prudential capital adequacy ratios are met, with significant additional 
stock.

Information on meeting prudential capital requirements

Name of the ratio
Value as of 
January 1, 
2018

Buffer-
sensitive 
requirement

Stock

k1 10.4% 7.5% 2.90%

k1-2 13.3% 8.5% 4.80%

k2 21.4% 10.0% 11.40%

Dividend Policy  

The rights of shareholders to receive dividends and the procedure for 
paying them are stated in the Bank's Charter approved by a resolution 
of the Board of Directors of the Bank.

Dividend policy is based on the balance of interests of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC and its shareholders in determining the amount of 
dividend payments; increasing the bank's investment attractiveness, 
financial stability, capitalization and liquidity; ensuring market return 
on invested capital; respect for and strict observance of shareholders' 
rights and increasing their wealth. 

The decision to pay dividends on shares and approval of the dividend 
amount for the year based on one common share is within the 
competence of the General Meeting of Shareholders of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC. 

Furthermore, according to the Charter of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC, 
guaranteed annual remuneration amounting to 0.01 tenge per 
preferred share is approved.

Dividend expenses of the Bank

Name In 2017 In 2016 In 2015

On preferred shares, thous. 
tenge 392 392 392

On common shares, thous. 
tenge - - -

Total 392 392 392

Earnings per share in 2017 were 143.19 tenge.

According to data of Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC, the mar-
ket value of one common share of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC (NIN 
KZ1C36280010) as of January 1, 2018, was 193 tenge.
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"Bank CenterCredit" Joint Stock Company was established on September 
19, 1988 and was one of the first commercial banks in Kazakhstan. 

The Bank has its own extensive branch network and serves corporations 
and individuals in more than 100 offices throughout the country. 

The bank's correspondent network includes about 40 foreign banks, 
allowing settlements with partners around the world.

BCC is actively involved in almost all government entrepreneurship 
support programs. On the results of 2015, BCC was awarded the title 
of "Best Bank for Subsidized Loans in 2014 under the Mono-Cities 
Development Program for 2012-2020". BCC is also a leader in the 
number of signed guarantee agreements of the "Damu Entrepreneurship 
Development Fund" JSC within the "Business Road Map 2020" program. 
As of year-end 2017, BCC was the leading bank for the issue of 
mortgage loans under the "Nurly Zher Housing Construction Program" to 
increase the availability of mortgage lending.

2018: 
•	 "Tsesnabank" JSC and "Tsesna Financial Holding" JSC sold their stake 

in BCC to major participants Bakhytbek Baiseitov. and Vladislav Li, 
as well as a number of individuals (minority shareholders). 

•	 "Bank CenterCredit" was one of the first STBs to make a successful 
transition to IFRS 9.

2017: 
FEBRUARY
•	 A new product "SMS and E-mail notification for legal entities" was 

launched.

MARCH, APRIL  
•	 Kookmin Bank and IFC withdrew from BCC shareholders by selling 

their stake in the Bank to Mr. Bakhytbek Baiseitov, "Tsesna Financial 
Holding" JSC and "Tsesnabank" JSC.     

JUNE
•	 The Bank and Kazakhstan Mortgage Company issued the first loan 

under the "Nurly Zher" government program.

•	 BCC was the first bank in Kazakhstan to successfully undergo an 
audit for compliance with the PCI DSS payment card industry data 
security standard version 3.2.

•	 The functionality for registering a client in the StarBanking system 
through a website (m.bcc.kz) was implemented, and the ability 
to issue and reissue payment cards through StarBanking was 
automated.

JULY
•	 A new corporate card functionality was implemented in the Internet 

Banking System for legal entities, including issue of a corporate 
card, filing an application for issue of a corporate credit card, and 
blocking and reissuing corporate debit cards. 

AUGUST   
•	 BCC was the first second-tier bank to start up an electronic channel 

for interaction with the Automated Information System for Law 
Enforcement Agencies (AIS LEA). 

•	 The Bank presented consolidated financial statements for the first 
half of 2017, compiled in accordance with IFRS. 

•	 Head of "Bank CenterCredit" Vladislav Li announced his decision to 
step down as Chairman of the Management Board of BCC.

SEPTEMBER
•	 Galim Khusainov was elected Chairman of the Management Board 

of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC.   

OCTOBER
•	 The first BCC Innovation Challenge was held. It was the first and 

largest banking hackathon in Kazakhstan with the participation of 
the Regulator.

•	 The Bank became a partner with "Kcell" JSC in making transactions 
through the K-Pay mobile payment terminal.

•	 "Bank CenterCredit" was involved in a program to improve financial 
stability. Under the Program, the Bank received a subordinated loan 
of 60 bn tenge for a period of 15 years at a rate of 4% per annum. 
The program will run for 5 years.

•	 An agreement for 19.8 bn tenge was signed between the Bank 
and DAMU EDF JSC to finance micro, small and medium-sized 
enterprises through ADB loans.

•	 The Bank implemented the Verified by Visa security standard of 
the Visa International payment system, which supports 3D Secure 
technology to ensure the security of online card payments.
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•	 A functionality for opening an online deposit and current account 
was implemented in the StarBanking system.

•	 A functionality was implemented for integrating POS terminals with 
Hospitality & Retail Systems (HRS), a management system for hotels 
and restaurants.

•	 The capability of direct document flow (DirectBank) with 1С was 
implemented in the "Internet Banking" system for legal entities.

•	 The Bank and UnionPay International completed the integration. 
The Bank started servicing cards of the UnionPay International 
payment system in its own ATM network and POS terminals.

•	 UnionPay International is one of the largest international payment 
systems and the fastest growing network in the world. There are 
more than 6.5 billion bank cards in circulation, which are accepted 
for payment in 162 countries. The UnionPay card service network 
includes more than 2 million ATMs and more than 41 million retail 
businesses around the world.

DECEMBER
•	 BCC launched the CashBack product based on the MasterCard 

payment system for issuing debit and credit cards, as well as 
refunding part of the amounts from non-cash transactions when 
buying goods and services with these cards.

•	 Online transfers from card to card of any bank in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan were launched in the StarBanking system.

•	 Self-Deposit, a unique new deposit with a remote-control 
MasterCard Standard instant payment card, was launched. A 
deposit was opened for up to 1 000 000 tenge and made available 
to the client around the clock.

•	 The PIN-Set service (issue of payment cards without PIN 
envelopes), which allows BCC payment card holders to set their 
own PIN code through an ATM, was implemented.

•	 The Bank started servicing cards of the UnionPay International 
payment system in its own ATM network and POS terminals.

•	  Certification in MasterCard International for the project PayPass 
Acquiring "Acceptance of contactless MasterCard PayPass cards in 
the Bank's network of POS terminals" was completed.

 2016:
•	 Transition to the new Colvir IT platform.

•	 Bank CenterCredit started issuing plastic cards for travelers — Card 
for fly.

•	 The stake in "Bank BCC-Moscow" LLC was sold.

2015:
•	 An agreement was concluded with the "Damu Entrepreneurship 

Development Fund" to raise the second installment of funds under 
the investment program of the Asian Development Bank (ADB) 
amounting to 11.1 bn tenge for a period of 5 years.

•	 An agreement was concluded with DBK to raise 2 bn tenge for a 
period of 20 years to support Kazakhstan producers by lending to 
buyers of cars from domestic assembly plants.

•	 The Bank joined the UnionPay International payment system, 
which is the largest in the world by number of payment cards in 
circulation.

2014:
•	 A loan agreement was signed with "Damu" EDF JSC to raise funds 

from the National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan for financing 
SMEs in the processing industry.

•	 An agreement was signed to obtain a second installment from the 
Asian Development Bank to finance SMEs.

•	 A loan agreement for 10 bn tenge was signed with the EBRD to 
finance micro, small and medium-sized enterprises for a period of 5 
years against security of "Damu" EDF JSC.

2013:
•	 The bank prepared a new medium-term development strategy for 

2013 – 2017.

•	 A key project of the IT strategy was launched: construction of a 
new automated banking system based on a ready-made package 
solution.

2012:
•	 The new StarBanking system – a remote account management 

system – was implemented.

2011:
•	 Korean Desk, a unique project for Kazakhstan, was launched to 

work with business clients maintaining business ties with South 
Korea, and for cooperation with Korean joint ventures.

•	 Development of an information technology strategy for the bank 
was completed together with KPMG.

2010:
•	 The International Finance Corporation recognized CenterCredit as 

the best issuing bank under the global trade facilitation program in 
2010 in Kazakhstan.

•	 BCC received an EBRD award as the most active issuing bank under 
the trade facilitation program in 2010.

•	 "Bank CenterCredit" JSC, Kookmin Bank Co Ltd and the International 
Finance Corporation (IFC) completed a transaction for participation 
in the capital of BCC.
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The main outcome of 2017 for Kazakhstan's economy was recovery 
with a gradual shift of the country to higher growth rates. The upward 
trend was supported by favorable external factors, and a higher price 
environment for oil and metals (Brent crude oil price: 2016 – $44.00, 
2017 – $54.40 metals price index: 2016 – 97.9% 2017 – 122.9%), 
as well as by internal processes, i.e., an increase in production in the 
real sector of the economy, an increase in investment activity and a 
gradual recovery of domestic demand. At year-end, the economy of 
Kazakhstan reached dynamic growth of 4.0%.    

Economy growth rates

An additional stimulus for the economy was the slowdown of 
inflationary processes. Throughout the year, inflation was within the 
established target corridor of 6-8% and decreased by 1.4 percentage 
points compared to 2016, amounting to 7.1%. For all components of 
inflation, there was a decrease in the rate of price increases compared 
to 2016. Foodstuffs increased by 6.5% versus 9.7%, non-food 
products increased by 8.9% versus 9.5%, the cost of paid services by 
5.9% versus 6.1% in the same period last year. 

The situation in the foreign exchange market was stable. Fundamental 
factors determining the exchange rate of the national currency were 

favorable; the tenge rate was in the range of 310.40 – 345.00 tenge 
per US dollar. During the year, the tenge strengthened against the 
dollar by 0.3% in nominal terms, amounting to 332.33 tenge per 
dollar at the end of the year. Participation of the National Bank in 
foreign exchange trading in 2017 was minimal – 1.7% of the annual 
volume of exchange trades, and interventions were conducted only in 
June, August, September and October. The average annual tenge rate 
as of the end of 2017 was 326 tenge per dollar. 

Of the six basic industries in the real sector of the economy, the 
highest growth was observed in industry at 7.1%, transport at 4.8%, 
communications at 3.3% and trade at 3.2%. Fixed asset investments 
increased by 5.5% as of the end of 2017 to more 7.5 trillion tenge. 
The highest growth was seen in agriculture (29.3%), commerce 
(21.8%), construction (11.8%), telecommunications (9.5%) and 
industry (3.8%). Equity was the main source of investment financing. 

 

Fixed asset investments by industry 
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Recovery of external demand and improvement of the price 
environment on world commodity markets stimulated the growth 
of exports and the trade balance, which had a positive effect on the 
foreign trade of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Foreign trade turnover 
grew by 25.1% over 2016, which in monetary terms is USD 69.5 
bn. The total volume of exports from Kazakhstan increased by 31.6% 
to USD 43.1 bn (USD 32.7 bn in 2016), with non-resource based 
products accounting for more than USD 14 bn, or 32.7% of total 
exports (timber, paper and paper products, buses, pharmaceuticals). 
Imports grew by 15.8% to USD 26.4 bn. The export surplus increased 
by 1.7 times. The adopted Export Strategy provided support for 400 of 
the country's exporters. 

Government stimulation of the economy in 2017 through 
implementation of the "Nurly Zher" Program helped increase housing 
construction to a record of 11.2 mln sq. m; 4,000 km of roads were 
also reconstructed under the "Nurly Zhol" Program; 120 projects were 
implemented according to the Industrialization Map, and 192 000 
business entities were supported under the Business Roadmap 2020.  

Economic momentum did not affect the growth of wages, productive 
employment and income of the population. The average monthly 
nominal wage in 2017 was 149.7 thousand tenge, an increase of 
5.1% in nominal terms; in real terms it decreased by 2.1%, and the 
unemployment rate was 5.0%.

In general, the upward trend in economic growth, improvement of the 
balance of payments and the increase in production capacity resulted 
in confirmation of Kazakhstan's level of investment reliability by 
international rating agencies in 2017 and improved the outlook from 
Negative to Stable.

This year, the main areas of economic policy will be ensuring the 
country's macroeconomic stability, improving intergovernmental fiscal 
relations, strengthening tax policy, expanding the tools and approaches 
of public-private partnership, and effective management of the 
country's debt.

The banking sector in 2017
The year was filled with events in the banking sector:

•	 Gradual reduction of the base rate during the year from 12% to 
10.25% with a corridor of +/-1%; 

•	 Consolidation of Kazakhstan's two largest banks – 
"Kazkommertsbank" JSC and "Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan" 
JSC;

•	 Revocation of the license of "Delta Bank" JSC by the National Bank 
of Kazakhstan;

•	 Infusion of funds of the National Bank and shareholders in "Bank 
RBK" JSC

•	 Launch of the NBRK Program for Improving the financial stability of 
the banking sector.

In 2017, the banking sector as a whole was characterized by excess 
liquidity, which, amid a small, although growing, lending volume was 
placed by banks in instruments of monetary policy. As of the end of 
2017, the open position of the NBRK on open market operations and 
continuous access instruments was 2.4 tn tenge.

In 2017, the NBRK used short-term notes as an effective instrument 
for liquidity withdrawal. Issue of short-term notes in 2017 increased by 
52.5% to 62 974.3 bn tenge. The yield on short-term notes decreased 
during the year, following a decrease in the base rate: the weighted 
average yield on 7-day notes in 2017 was 10.03% (13.55% in 
2016).

in 2017, the TONIA indicator was generally at the lower band of the 
base interest rate corridor. The weighted average value of TONIA for 
December was 9.31% per annum.

In 2017, total deposits in the banking system decreased by 3% to 17 
509.7 bn tenge. Excluding the indicators of "Kazkommertsbank" JSC, 
"Bank RBK" JSC and "Delta Bank" JSC, the annual growth of deposits 
was 1.5%. 

The de-dollarization process continued against the backdrop of the 
appreciation of the tenge against the US dollar (0.3% by the end of the 
year) and devaluation expectations, as the share of foreign currency 
deposits in the total portfolio decreased from 54.5% to 47.7% by the 
end of the year.
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Trends in de-dollarization of deposits

The decrease in the base rate of the National Bank of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan also affected the cost of raising funds in the market, 
and as of year-end 2017, the weighted average interest rate on time 
deposits in the national currency of legal entities was 8.0% (10.5% in 
December 2016), and 11.7% (12.2%) on deposits of individuals.

The loan portfolio of second-tier banks at the end of December 
remained at the level of early 2017, or 12.7 tn tenge. Excluding the 
indicators of "Kazkommertsbank" JSC, "Bank RBK" JSC and "Delta 
Bank" JSC, the annual growth of loans was 10.8%. However, although 
growth in 2016 was mainly due to the revaluation of foreign currency 
loans, growth in 2017 was associated with a gradual resumption of 
lending in the country and adaptation of the population and business 
to the new economic conditions.

A distinctive feature of lending in 2017 was the decisive role of retail 
lending in the dynamics of the overall loan portfolio in the banking 
sector. Retail loans started growing in March 2017, and by the end of 
the year the retail loan portfolio had grown by 12.4%.

However, the fundamental reasons for growth indicate a short-term 
trend, since in real terms household income has been decreasing over 
the past two years. 

In the structure of the retail portfolio, both consumer (15.3%) and 
mortgage (11.7%) loans had increased at year-end 2017, with an 
aggregate share in the total retail portfolio of more than 80%. 

The increase in mortgage loans was due to growth of the loan portfolio 
of Zhilstroysberbank, which had a mortgage market share of more 
than 40% by the end of 2017. Implementation of the "Nurly Zher" 
Housing Construction Program also contributed to the revival of 
mortgage lending. 

The opposite trend was observed in corporate lending: the volume 
of the loan portfolio for 2017 decreased by 5.8% compared to the 
previous year, reaching 8 164.4 bn tenge at year-end.  The main 
decrease in the portfolio occurred in November and December 2017 
due to the exclusion of Delta Bank's indicators from the portfolio 
structure, the withdrawal of problem loans from Bank RBK to a 
special financial company, and a decrease in the loan portfolio of 
Kazkommertsbank. It should be noted that without these banks, 
growth of corporate loans for the year was 8.4%, or 558.8 bn tenge. 

In December 2017, the weighted average interest rate on loans 
issued in the national currency to legal entities was 13.2% (14.5% 
in December 2016), and 19.2% (18.4%) on loans to individuals.

By mid-2017, delinquent loans accounted for 28.3% of the loan 
portfolio, while loans overdue for more than 90 days (NPL) accounted 
for 10.7%. The real level of non-performing loans, estimated by the 
NBRK at 25%, was hidden by restructuring and write-offs from the 
balance.

 

Under the Program for Improving the Financial Stability of the Banking 
Sector approved by the NBRK, measures were taken to rehabilitate 
Kazkommertsbank, and government support was provided to 5 large 
banks. 

As a result, by the end of 2017, the share of loans more than 90 days 
overdue in the total loan portfolio of banks decreased to 9.3%.
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Rustam Bolatkanovich Tenizov

Director of the Department of Planning and Finance of Bank CenterCredit JSC 
from 2017 to present.

He graduated from the Faculty of Oriental Studies at Al-Farabi Kazakh National 
University in Almaty in 2005 as a country expert (China) and immediately 
continued his studies at Auezov Semipalatinsk State University in Semey. 
In 2008, he earned his degree in Accounting and Audit from the Faculty of 
Information Technology and Economics. He combined his studies with work at 
the Almaty Branch of Bank CenterCredit from 2005 to 2007, working as Loan 
Officer and Senior Loan Officer in the Small Business Lending Department of 
the Business Lending Office. 

From 2007 to 2011, he was Head of the Lending Department of the Almaty 
Branch of Bank CenterCredit, and then became Head of the Department and 
Manager of the ARCKA of Bank CenterCredit until 2016, when he received 
the new appointment of Director of the Risk Department at Bank CenterCredit 
until 2017. 
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Assets

According to the consolidated financial statements, the assets of the Banking Group decreased by 2.3% in 2017 to 330.5 bn tenge. The assets of 
Bank CenterCredit amounted to 330.1 bn tenge. As of year-end 2017, the Bank was in 7th place in the market with a 5.5% share in total assets 
of the banking system of Kazakhstan.

Dynamics of assets of the Banking Group, bn tenge

Structure of assets of the Banking Group and the Bank:

Assets of the Banking Group Assets of the Bank

(mln tenge) 2017 2016 +/- % 2017 2016 +/- %

Cash assets and cash equivalents 188 056 258 787 -27% 187 913 258 742 -27%

Loans granted to clients and banks, mln tenge 831 251 818 742 2% 816 913 805 341 1%

Financial Instruments and Securities 183 727 194 822 -6% 172 946 185 122 -7%

Funds in banks 13 140 6 834 92% 13 140 6 829 92%

Other assets 114 324 83 066 38% 139 175 103 410 25%

Total: 1 330 498 1 362 251 -2.3% 1 330 087 1 359 444 -2.2%
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In 2017 The Bank worked actively to restore lending, which is confirmed by an increase of 4.7% in the gross loan portfolio, or 41 bn tenge. 
The share of corporate lending in the loan portfolio is 35%. The share of loans to retail business (individuals) in 2017 was 38%. Loans to small 
and medium-sized businesses make up 27% of the loan portfolio.

Structure of the loan portfolio of the Banking Group

Given the importance of controlling and reducing credit risks, the Bank focused more efforts on the quality of loans. As a result, the share of 
non-performing loans in the loan portfolio (NPL according to the NBRK) decreased from 8.9% to 7.9% during the year. Provisions for impairment 
of the portfolio for 2017 increased by 21.8%. The reserve rate was 12.2% as of January 1, 2018. 

Liabilities

According to the consolidated financial statements for 2017, the total liabilities of the Banking Group decreased by 4.9% to 1 202 bn tenge. 
Meanwhile, CenterCredit's liabilities decreased by 4.8% to 1 201 bn tenge.   

Dynamics of liabilities of the Banking Group, bn tenge
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Structure of liabilities of the Banking Group and the Bank:

Liabilities of the Banking Group Liabilities of the Bank

(mln tenge) 2017 2016 +/- % 2017 2016 +/- %

Funds and loans of banks and finacial institutions 98 791 109 649 -10% 97 908 107 754 -9%

Funds of clients and banks 976 952 1 053 902 -7% 977 304 1 054 358 -7%

Debentures issued by the Central Bank 17 328 24 809 -30% 17 366 24 832 -30%

Subordinated bonds 75 454 53 333 41% 75 605 53 489 41%

Other liabilities 33 090 21 293 55% 33 223 21 469 55%

Total liabilities: 1 201 615 1 262 986 -4.9% 1 201 406 1 261 902 -4.8%

Structure of liabilities at the end of 2017:
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Retail deposits made up the largest share of liabilities of the Banking Group: 42% or 505 bn tenge. In this segment, the Bank is in 8th place in the 
market with a share of 6.3%. The share of corporate deposits is 39.2% or 471 bn tenge. The Bank's share in the retail deposit market was 5.0%, 
in 7th place.

The increase in positions of subordinated bonds and other liabilities was due to placement by the Bank of debt securities in the amount of 60 bn 
tenge as a result of the Bank's participation in the Program for Improving the Financial Stability of the Banking Sector of the National Bank of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan.

Capital

In 2017, the capital of the Banking Group increased by 29.8%, amounting to 129 bn tenge as of January 1, 2018. The growth of capital was due 
to an increase of 29 bn tenge in retained earnings as a result of the Bank's participation in the Program for Improving the Financial Stability of the 
Banking Sector.

Dynamics of capital of the Banking Group, bn tenge
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Capital structure of the Banking Group and Bank:

Capital of the Banking Group Capital of the Bank

(mln tenge) 2017 2016 +/- % 2017 2016 +/- %

Authorized capital  69 569 69 789 0% 69 856 69 856 -

Reserve capital 3 343 2 686 24% 3 344 2 687 24.5

Retained earnings 55 575 26 387 111% 55 481 24 999 121.9%

Noncontrolling interest 396 403 -2% - - -

Total: 128 883 99 265 29.8% 128 681 97 542 31.9%

Including: net income 28 871 5 361 438.5% 30 301 2 629 1052.6%

The Bank's equity increased from 161 to 229 bn tenge according to the 
prudential standards for 2017. Tier 1 capital increased by 20 bn tenge, 
while Tier 2 capital increased by 52 bn tenge.
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Loans

Loans as at January 1, 2018 increased by 4.7% to 930.7 bn tenge.

Bank loans, mln. tenge

As at January 1, 2018, the Bank had one of the lowest rates for foreign currency loans among STBs of the RK (22.5%); thus, the Bank is the least 
exposed to currency risk.
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The Bank's loan portfolio is diversified, with the largest share consisting of retail loans (37.6%) and loans in the Business sector (15.2%). 
Other sectors account for no more than 10%. 

Loan structure, %

Inputs: Auditor's Report for 2017 Gross portfolio (before provisions)

Improved quality of the loan portfolio

As of January 1, 2017, non-performing loans in the loan portfolio (NPL according to the NBRK) were 8.9%. Due to efforts to reduce the share of 
non-performing loans, as of January 1, 2018, NPL was 7.9%, which is within the limits set by the NBRK.
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RETAIL BUSINESS

Aizhan Ergaliyevna Eselbaeva

Director of the Retail Business Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from July 
2017 to present.

She graduated from Al-Farabi Kazakh National University in 1995 with a 
degree in Psychology. A year later, in 1996, she entered the Market Institute 
under the Kazakh State Academy of Management, where she studied for two 
years, majoring in Finance and Credit.

From 1995 to 1998, she worked at Eurasian Bank JSC as Specialist and Chief 
Specialist at the Stock Department of the Securities and Investment Projects 
Department. After working for a year as General Manager of United Clearing 
Corporation CJSC (until 1999), she was invited to Temirbank JSC as Senior 
Specialist of the Stock Department and Securities Custody Department, where 
she worked until 2000.

In 2000, she became Trader and Head of the Trading Division of Central 
Asian Trust Company LLP. Two years later, she became Head of Back Office 
Management and Head of the Securities Accounting Department of the 
Treasury Department of Alliance Bank JSC.

In 2004, she began her career at Bank CenterCredit JSC, where she held 
the positions of Chief Risk Manager, Head of Financial and Operational Risk 
Management of the Risk Analysis and Risk Management Department, and 
Head of Financial Risk Management of the Financial Department until 2016. 

From 2016 to 2017, she was Head of the Non-Credit Products Department — 
Deputy Director of the Retail Business Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC.
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The retail loan portfolio as at January 1, 2018 amounted to 349.9 bn tenge (73 115 loans), an increase of 3.2% over 2016. The bank is in fifth 
place in the market by volume of retail loans, with a market share of 7.2%. 

The Bank was the first to issue a mortgage loan under the "Nurly Zher" government program and led second-tier banks with a share of 60% of 
loans issued. In 2017, 13 992 loans were issued for a total of 88 774 mln tenge, including:

– 3 183 mortgage loans amounting to 24 748 mln tenge 

– 5 894 consumer loans amounting to 31 210 mln tenge

– 2 428 unsecured loans amounting to 1 974 mln tenge

– 2 241 sole proprietorship loans amounting to 29 458 mln tenge

– 246 car loans amounting to 1 383 mln tenge.

Changes in the loan portfolio

The figures for the deposit portfolio of individuals as of year-end 2017 were 504.6 bn tenge, a decrease of 7.0% as compared to 2016 due to 
maturity of the deposits of large clients. However, the volume of tenge deposits of individuals increased by 2.2%. The Bank is in seventh place 
among the country's second-tier banks in terms of the deposit portfolio of individuals, with a market share of 6.3%. 
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During 2017, the Bank carried out a set of measures to develop remote 
banking services and improve the quality of "business processes for 
personal accounts", which allowed remote opening of deposits and 
current accounts through the "StarBanking" system.

In 2017, the Bank successfully launched a new product for instant 
money transfers without opening a "Golden Crown" account, a service 
provided by 550 banks and partners in the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
Russia, as well as in neighboring and other foreign countries.

At year-end 2017, there was an increase in non-interest retail business 
income, due to, among other things, effective tariff policies, tariff 
automation, enhanced features of existing products, and more active 
involvement of branches in cross-selling products and services.

As of January 1, 2018, the sales network of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC 
included 19 branches with 101 affiliates. In 2017, 1 affiliated branch 
was opened, 3 affiliated branches were closed, and a branch in Aktobe 
and 2 affiliated branches were relocated.

Changes in the deposit portfolio
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TRANSFER OPERATIONS
Western Union
BCC is the first official Western Union representative in Central Asia 
and has been providing international personal transfer services since 
1998. Through the Western Union system, in addition to transfers 
between individuals, BCC accepts Quick Pay payments (payments from 
individuals to legal entities connected to the Western Union system) 
and Quick Cash payments (payments from legal entities to individuals). 
As of December 31, 2017, BCC's agency network includes 630 points 
of service. Sub-representatives of BCC include 11 Kazakh banks: ATF 
Bank, Forte Bank, Tsesnabank, Sberbank, VTB Bank (Kazakhstan), 
Bank of Astana, Tengri Bank (formerly Dana Bank), Kapital Bank, 
KassaNova Bank, Bank RBK and Qazaq Banki.

Golden Crown
In August 2017, the Bank successfully launched the "Golden Crown" 
International Transfer System (ITS). Providing instant money transfers 
without opening an account, with service available in the infrastructure 
of more than 550 banks and partners in the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
Russia, as well as in neighboring and other foreign countries. Golden 
Crown has proved its worth among individuals, since there is no need 
to open an account. At the same time, the cost of a transfer is minimal, 
amounting to only 0.9% of the total transfer, and a fee is collected from 
the sender. As of year-end 2016 The National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan (NB RK) recognized the "Golden Crown" payment system 
as important. "Golden Crown" is one of three systems, and the only 
Russian payment system to receive the status of an important system in 
Kazakhstan. 

Fast transfers
Express transfers through "BCC Express" are BCC's own development 
and have been successfully operating since July 2000. The "BCC 
Express" system allows transfers by individuals throughout Kazakhstan, 
both with and without opening an account. What makes the system 
unique is instant delivery of the transfer, which is achieved through the 
use of Internet technologies and the BCC corporate network. In 2016, 

the Bank rebranded this money system in order to increase awareness 
of it on the market. A functionality allowing money transfers through 
the "StarBanking" service was implemented in 2017. Today, the new 
image and brand of "BCC Express" transfers are ensuring successful 
development of the monetary system. In 2017, the volume of money 
transfers by individuals within the Republic of Kazakhstan through the 
BCC Express system was more than 2.0 bn tenge. More than 26 000 
transfers were made through this system in 2017.

Contact
BCC has been carrying out operations through the "Contact" money 
transfer system since July 2001. The "Contact" system allows individuals 
to conduct money transfers in US dollars, euros and Russian rubles in 
CIS countries and abroad without opening a bank account. Addressless 
payment of transfers through the "Contact" system is possible in some 
countries. The system allows payment of transfers by crediting funds to 
a bank account and mobile wallet. Since 2010, the "Contact" system 
has had a service for accepting payments from individuals without 
opening an account for legal entities, operators and service providers 
who have contractual relations with the "Contact" system.

Quick revenue
The Quick Revenue service provided by BCC allows quick collection 
of payments throughout the Republic of Kazakhstan for companies 
connected to this system, and also provides them with up-to-date 
information on incoming payments in real time. Self-service channels 
for receiving payments through the "Fast Revenue" system were 
expanded in 2013. In particular, a functionality was implemented that 
allows payment for services of legal entities through "StarBanking" and 
terminals by paying cash or transferring money from an account. More 
than 2 500 legal entities in all regions of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
use the services of the "Fast Revenue" system. In 2017, more than 
18 million payments were accepted and more than 89 bn tenge were 
credited to corporate accounts through the Fast Revenue system.
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CARD BUSINESS 
AND REMOTE BANKING

Tatiana Valeryevna Popova

Director of the Department of Bank Cards and Remote Banking at Bank 
CenterCredit JSC from January 2012 to present.

She graduated from the Kazakh State Academy of Architecture and 
Construction in 1999 with a degree in Economics and Management in 
Construction. In 2000, she entered Turar Ryskulov Kazakh Economic University, 
and two years later she received a degree in Finance and Credit. 

She started working at Bank CenterCredit JSC in 2002 as Senior Cashier, 
and then Account Manager of CSD No. 2 at the Almaty Branch of Bank 
CenterCredit. In 2004, she became Lead Specialist of the Department of Plastic 
Card Transaction Administration and Control, and in 2005 she moved to the 
position of Head of the Card Transaction Administration and Processing Branch. 

In 2006, she worked as Department Manager of the Card Center at the 
Almaty Branch. In 2006, she received her new appointment as Head of the 
Payment Card Department at the Almaty Branch of Bank CenterCredit JSC.

Before assuming the position of Managing Director of the Bank Card 
Department at the Head Office of Bank CenterCredit JSC, she was Head of the 
Department for Development and Promotion of Retail Products and Head of 
Card Business Administration and Support at the Almaty Branch from 2008 
to 2011.  
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In 2017, the Bank introduced a number of new card products and 
significantly expanded the functionality of remote banking products. 

The CashBack product based on the MasterCard payment system was 
launched in December. CashBack is a refund to the cardholder of part 
of the amount from a non-cash transaction when buying goods and 
services on a payment card. Both debit and credit cards are issued.

Self-Deposit, a unique new deposit with a remote-control MasterCard 
Standard instant payment card, was launched. A deposit is opened for 
up to 1 000 000 tenge and is available to the client around the clock.

A new technology "Issue of payment cards without PIN envelopes" was 
introduced. Instead of a standard PIN envelope with a random set of 
digits, the customer receives an SMS message with the activation code 
for the payment card on his mobile phone. After this, the customer 
independently sets the PIN code through a BCC ATM.

The Bank started servicing cards of the UnionPay International payment 
system in its own ATM network and POS terminals.

UnionPay International is one of the largest international payment 
systems and the fastest growing network in the world. There are more 

than 6.5 billion bank cards in circulation, which are accepted for 
payment in 162 countries. The UnionPay card service network includes 
more than 2 million ATMs and more than 41 million retail businesses 
around the world. 

Certification in MasterCard International for the PayPass Acquiring 
project "Acceptance of contactless MasterCard PayPass cards in the 
Bank's network of POS terminals" was completed.

The new "Mobile POS Terminal" project was launched together with 
K-Cell to connect to the acquiring network of the Bank's mobile POS 
terminals.

The functionality in the "Internet-Banking" System was expanded: the 
capability of direct document flow (DirectBank) between the "Internet 
Banking" system and 1С has been implemented; it is now possible to 
issue corporate debit cards and request a deposit.

A new product "SMS and E-mail notification for legal entities" was 
launched. A functionality for opening an online deposit, payment card 
and current account has been implemented in the StarBanking system. 
Interbank transfers became available in Kazakhstan.
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SERVING BUSINESS CLIENTS

Nurgazin Murat Maralovich

Director of the Corporate Finance Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from 
2015 to present.  

He graduated from the Kazakh Red Banner of Labor Agricultural Institute as 
a mechanical engineer. Two years later he entered the Kazakhstan Institute of 
Management, Economics and Forecasting under the President of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan, where he took Master of Business Administration (MBA) in 
Finance in 1999.

After graduation, he worked as Junior Loan Officer and Loan Officer, Lending 
Management in the Lending Department from 1999 to 2002.

In 2002, he obtained a new position as Head of Major Project Lending 
in the Lending Department. For the next two years, he headed the Credit 
Risk Management Department for major projects and Project Financial 
Management of the Credit Risk Department.

From 2005 to 2008, he was Managing Director of the Department of 
Small and Medium Business. He then served as Managing Director of the 
Department of Business Support and Development (2008—2010). 

In 2010, he continued to work as Managing Director of the Department of 
Small and Medium Business and was Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board of Tsesnabank JSC until 2015.  
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Small and Medium Enterprises

Support and development of small and medium enterprises in 
Kazakhstan is a priority for the Bank. Lending to small and medium 
business is an effective tool for the development of entrepreneurship. 
The prompt receipt of funds allows company owners to respond quickly 
to changes. Small business loans are an opportunity to expand the 
production or commodity base, introduce innovative technologies, equip 
new workplaces, etc. 

A new, simplified lending process was implemented in the SME block in 
2016 – 2017.

As of January 1, 2018, a total of 41 014 SME clients were being serviced 
by the Bank, including 926 clients of borrowers; the number of SME 
loans was 3 394.

Out of the total number of SME clients,

4 093 clients use 2 products,

11 818 clients use 3 products,

29 601 clients use 4 or more products.

Furthermore, a total of 33 694 clients use more than one product.

SME loan portfolio* (bn tenge)

*Data on the SME loan portfolio is provided in accordance to the internal 
segmentation criteria adopted by BCC

The following trends are observed in SME lending:

•	 The Bank's SME lending volumes are steadily increasing. 
Total loans issued to SME clients in 2017, increased by 32% over 
the previous year, from 69.9 bn tenge to 92.3 bn tenge.

•	 The Bank has strengthened its positions in the trade finance 
market. As of the end of 2017, guarantees issued by the Bank and 
letters of credit increased by 21% over the previous year.

As of January 1, 2018, the largest SME loan portfolios by region are: 
Almaty 31%, East Kazakhstan Region 16%, South Kazakhstan Region 
12%, West Kazakhstan Region 11%, Astana 9%.

Shares of branches in the total SME portfolio

"Bank CenterCredit" JSC is one of the leaders of the banking 
sector in support of private business. The Bank is involved in 
most government programs for small and medium-sized business 
development. 
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As of the end of 2017, the Bank had issued more than 2 500 loans 
through third-party financing under government programs for a 
total of more than 51.1 bn tenge.

Under the Unified Business Support and Development Program 
"Business Roadmap 2020", the Bank is consistently in 3rd place 
in subsidizing and guaranteeing loans to legal entities and sole 
proprietors. As of January 1, 2018, the Bank's portfolio included:

- 1 510 subsidized loans for a total of 131 bn tenge, with an annual 
increase of 355 loans, or 31 bn tenge

- 629 guarantee loans for a total of 7.7 bn tenge, with an annual 
increase of 217 loans, or 2.5 bn tenge.

The Bank was also involved in the following programs in 2017:

•	 The Productive Employment and Mass Entrepreneurship 
Development Progam for 2017 – 2021;

•	 A program to finance micro, small and medium enterprises 
through loans from the Asian Development Bank;

•	 The "Nurly Zher" Housing Construction Program.

In October 2017, an agreement worth 19.8 bn tenge for financing 
SME through loans from the Asian Development Bank was signed 
between the Bank and "Damu" EDF JSC. The Bank will direct the 
funds received to SME lending in all sectors without restrictions to 
replenish working capital, purchase and upgrade fixed assets, and 
for refinancing loans issued by other banks. The maximum limit for 
one borrower is 1.08 bn tenge. 

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development together 
with "Bank CenterCredit" were among the first to launch the first 
credit line in Central Asia under the Women in Business program 
for financing women entrepreneurs. This program is focused on 
providing support for women-owned small and medium-sized 
businesses.

The "Women in Business" program has no industry restrictions: 
Enterprises in which women have at least a 50% stake in the 
authorized capital and which are managed by women may apply for 
a low-interest loan during a period of tenge volatility. 

 

The Bank is continuing to work on expanding the "Women in 
Business" program. Last year, the Bank and the Frankfurt School 
of Business launched a new mechanism for developing the Bank's 
relationships with women entrepreneurs sponsored by the EBRD. 

Due to the growth of foreign companies in Kazakhstan, the Bank is 
seeking to connect with the world's leading industrial countries as 
quickly as possible. In anticipation of this, the Bank set up a new 
unit called International Desk in June 2017. 

International Desk is one of the Bank's new projects. Its objective 
is to provide a full range of financial services to foreign companies.  
More specifically, the unit provides support and advice to 
international companies and their local partners on lending, trade 
finance and settlements, as well as cash services.

International Desk employees consider the mindset and culture of 
foreign partners in order to create a more comfortable environment 
and increase the client's loyalty to the Bank. 
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The following results were achieved within the Bank's development 
strategy in 2017:

•	 A new segmentation system based on the client's annual 
revenue was built for the purpose of segmentation and raising 
awareness about the client.

•	 Small and medium-sized business departments were set up.

•	 An International Desk was set up to provide support services 
for foreign companies.

•	 Key performance indicators were set for each SME manager.

Corporate business

The corporate unit will offer business clients a full range of financial 
services, including traditional financing, trade finance, settlements 
and cash services, a payroll card program, cash collection services, 
Internet banking and other services.

In serving corporate clients, the Bank is still focused on developing 
remote service technology and adding new functions to the Internet 
banking system for legal entities.

The Bank studies clients’ needs, takes the specific features of their 
activities into account, and tries to understand the nature of their 
business and improve the scope and content of the products and 
services it provides. 

*Data on the large business loan portfolio is presented according to the internal 
segmentation criteria adopted by BCC

Overall, the corporate unit ended 2017 with good results. The Bank 
maintained and increased its base of large corporate clients and 
attracted new prime borrowers. 

As part of its development strategy for 2016 – 2017, the Bank built 
a new customer segmentation system for corporate business based 
on revenue, improved the principles of relations with major corporate 
clients, and defined goals and objectives for developing and improving 
the service and finding the best product and service offering. 

 

 

01.01.2017

01.01.2018 327,409

323,360

Large business loan portfolio* (bn tenge)
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OPERATIONS IN THE STOCK
AND INTERBANK MARKETS

Timur Raufovich Gabasov

Director of the Treasury Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from 2013 
to present.

He graduated from the Military Institute of Ministry of Defense in Moscow, 
where he majored in Chinese and English.

He served in the Soviet Army from 1982 to 1992. He began working as 
Financial Director at Unitrade LLP in Almaty in 1992, a position he held until 
1995. 

He became Head of the Treasury Department in 1996 and worked at Alem 
Bank JSC in Almaty until 1997. He then moved to Bank TuranAlem JSC, where 
he held the position of Head of the Treasury Department. Starting in 1998, he 
was Chief Treasury Dealer of Citibank Kazakhstan in Almaty until 2005, when 
he assumed the position of Managing Director of the Treasury Department of 
Kazinvestbank JSC in Almaty and worked there until January 2013.
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BCC considers international relations to be a key component of its development strategy, and in the reporting year the Bank continued its active 
cooperation with foreign financial institutions, particularly the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD).

BCC participates in the following EBRD programs in cooperation with "Damu Entrepreneurship Development Fund" JSC:

- MSME 1 (lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises)

- Female entrepreneurship 

- MSME 2 (lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises). 

All loans are accompanied by the EBRD's technical assistance program to further strengthen BCC's internal potential for MSME lending.

BCC maintains correspondent relations with the world's leading banks and financial institutions in Kazakhstan, CIS countries and abroad, which 
significantly expands our clients' geographic area for trade and financial operations.

BCC's consistent development, stable financial position and creditworthiness have been noted by international rating agencies. BCC had the 
following credit ratings as of December 31, 2017: Fitch: B; S&P: B. 

International credit ratings as of December 31, 2017: 

Rating agency Long-term rating Forecast

Standard & Poor’s B Stable*

Fitch Ratings B Stable**

* On September 14, 2017, Standard & Poor's confirmed the long-term rating of BCC at level "B". Rating forecast is "stable". 

* * On December 15, 2017, Fitch Ratings confirmed BCC's long-term rating at level "B". Rating forecast is "stable". 
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In 2017, the Bank carried out state registration of two bond issues under its third bond program for a total of 70 bn tenge (subordinated bonds 
and secured bonds (mortgage loans)). These bonds are included in the official list of "Kazakhstan Stock Exchange" JSC under the "Bonds category" 
of the "Debt Securities sector" on the "Primary exchange". During 2017, the Bank completed full placement of a new issue of subordinated bonds 
for a total of 60 bn tenge by conducting specialized trades on the "Kazakhstan Stock Exchange" JSC.

In addition, according to the issue prospectuses, in 2017, the Bank made a scheduled redemption of two bond issues for a total of 13.0 bn tenge. 
The redemption was made at the face value of the bonds in circulation, with simultaneous payment of the last coupon commission. 

BCC is the primary dealer for the purchase of short-term notes of the NBRK and Treasury Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan. The Bank also provides brokerage services for the purchase and sale of government securities on "Kazakhstan Stock Exchange" JSC. 

At year-end 2017, BCC was an active participant of the repo market. BCC makes transactions in the domestic and foreign markets with 
government and non-government securities. 

Custodian activities

Assets of BCC custodian clients:

As part of its custodial activities, BCC registers and stores clients' assets and is a leader in custodial asset storage in both Kazakhstan and foreign 
markets.

Clients 2015, mln tenge 2016, mln tenge 2017, mln tenge

Investment funds 409 824 463 002 578 870

Legal entities 304 851 347 221 228 533

Total 728 375 810 223 807 403
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OPERATING PROCESSES
 

Bibinur Zhumashevna Tuleukhanova
 
Director of the Operations Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from April 
2018 to present.

  

She graduated from Al-Farabi Kazakh National University in 1998 with a 
degree in Economics and Management. From 2003 to 2009, she continued 
her studies at Turan University, receiving a JD in 2006 and MBA in 2009. 

       

After receiving an outstanding education, she took up the position of Director 
of the Corporate and Retail Business Management Department of Kaspi Bank 
JSC in 2010. In 2011, she moved to Kazinvestbank JSC as Director of the 
Banking Products Department, where she worked for a year.  

From 2013 to 2018, she worked at Eurasian Bank JSC as Executive Director 
and Head of the Operations Department.
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The following actions were taken in 2017 to optimize the bank's 
operational business processes.

1. The Bank approached cash logistics in accordance to 
international standards. 

The effectiveness of the Bank's cash management was analyzed over a 
period of 3 months as part of the pilot project. The pilot project allowed 
us to identify the challenges facing the Bank and set key objectives 
that are achievable with efficient cash management, namely, reducing 
"non-performing" cash balances on the network, the potential for cost 
reduction (256 mln tenge per year), a fully automated process taking 
integration with Colvir into account, consolidating all elements (ATMs, 
divisions and stores) into a single optimization system, increasing 
network availability for customers, long-term planning / 40-day 
forecast, and risk reduction, which will ultimately allow the Bank to 
respond promptly to customers' need for cash.

Following a successful pilot project, a contract was signed for 
implementing a cash management project using a solution from 
"Fiserv" (Fiserv, Inc.), a leading global provider. Implementation in 
2018.

2. An Electronic Channel has been implemented for interaction 
between the Bank and Private and Court Bailiffs of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan (PB/CB). 

At present, the Bank electronically processes inquiries about invoices, 
imposition/lifting of arrests and collection orders, and cash flows 
through the Automated Information System for Law Enforcement 
Agencies of the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
amounting to more than 90% of the total number of hard copy 
documents.  

The expected economic effect from implementing full-cycle automation 
is a reduction in operating costs, excluding the influence of subjects on 
handling and processing inquiries, and improved quality of managing 
Card File-2 for customer accounts. 

During implementation, the Bank put enormous effort into certifying 
the Bank's ABS. At the request of the Ministry of Information and 
Communications of the RK, second-tier banks were allowed to 
interact with the AIS SEP of the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, subject to an information security compliance certificate. 

"Bank CenterCredit" JSC is currently the only bank in Kazakhstan with 
this certificate for its ABS. 

The new channel has no counterparts in the market. It allowed 
integration between the Bank, E-government and the Ministry of 
Justice of the RK, and the Supreme Court of the RK, the Ministry of 
Justice of the RK and the Republican Chamber of Private Bailiffs of the 
RK were also integrated into this system.  

The Bank carried out all development and implementation of this 
functionality on its own without involving "Colvir". Our employees have 
also developed data exchange formats that allow online interaction, 
which are currently being replicated by the Ministry of Justice of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan and the Republican Chamber of Private Bailiffs 
(RCPB) for the country's other STBs.

3. Web service has been implemented. It is a joint project with 
the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan for sending 
requests to the bank for information on applications to import 
goods and payment of indirect taxes under foreign exchange 
contracts with an EAEU contract account number.

This project allows the Bank, which monitors performance of 
obligations under the contract, to send email queries to the NBRK. 
The National Bank then uses the Web service to send information to 
the Bank on the requested application to import goods received from 
the national revenue agencies on the day the information is received. 
Thus, information is exchanged by email by interaction between the 
Bank, the National Bank and the national revenue agency through the 
Web service IT solution.

The Web service allows automatic download of the register containing 
information on the movement of goods under export and import 
contracts, with registration of the information transferred from other 
Banks.

A reduction in time spent on acquiring information shows its 
effectiveness, but the most significant feature is the download of 
reliable data from the database of the national revenue agency.

 Today, the system controls 18 221 documents in automatic mode, 
which automates the process, minimizes the risk of errors and raises 
the quality of the foreign exchange control process to a new level.
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Nurlan Zhumabekovich Sarsebekov

Managing Director of Bank CenterCredit JSC from November 2017 to present.

Graduated in 1997 from Zhetisu State University named after I. Zhansugurova, 
Taldykorgan, with a major in Informatics and Management, and immediately 
found a position at Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC, where he worked until 
2012 in various positions — Engineer, Chief Engineer, Head of the WAN 
Department, Head of Telecommunications and Communications, and 
later became Deputy Director of the Department of System Support and 
Telecommunications. During this time, he was a member of the Strategic 
Business Development Committee of Kazteleport JSC from 2004 to 2012. 

While he was working, he studied Management at the International 
Academy of Business from 2007 to 2009. At this time, he also studied 
Information Management at the State Educational Institution of Higher 
Professional Education of the Russian Academy of National Economy under 
the Government of the Russian Federation.

In 2012, he accepted the position of Independent Consultant for the 
Development of Corporate IT Technologies and Telecommunications Systems. 
A year later, he joined the Management Board of Nurbank JSC as the 
Managing Director.

From 2014 to 2016, he held two positions at the same time: Technical Director 
of TNS Plus LLP and Technical Director of 2day Telecom LLP (VimpelCom-
Beeline Group).

Prior to joining Bank CenterCredit, he was also CEO of DAR ecosystem LLP 
(Green Apple Group) from 2015 to 2016. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
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The Bank has utilized the Colvir Banking System solution (ABS) as part 
of its IT strategy since 2016. Since implementation and throughout 
2017, there has been rapid development and optimization of ABS 
processes aimed at increasing revenue and the level of loyalty of the 
Bank's customers by expanding customer service:

•	 Subscription to a monthly card statement in StarBanking.

•	 Refinancing unsecured loans of borrowers from other STBs.

•	 Providing a legal entity with card information.

•	 Loyalty program. Cashback.

•	 Loyalty program. Cobranding.

•	 Commodity installment loans.

•	 Credit card renewal.

•	 SMS messaging system for legal entities.

•	 Online integration of the Internet banking system with the 1C 
Enterprise information system.

•	 Intra-bank payments for legal entities 24/7.

•	 Expanded list of providers of services requested by the bank's 
customers in the StarBanking system.

•	 Implementation of the Contact Center.

•	 Paying taxes and duties through the StarBanking system.

•	 Connecting a client to the StarBanking system through the 
Website (www.starbanking.kz).

•	 3D Secure (Verified by Visa Issuing / MasterCard SecureCode 
Issuing).

•	 PIN-Set project

•	 Commercial acquiring (MPOS Kcell).

The following projects have been implemented in compliance with 
current laws:

•	 Transition to IFRS 9.

•	 A pool of requirements in compliance with current laws for 
financial monitoring, execution of collection orders, etc.

•	 Fifteen regulatory accounting reports and statements have been 
automated.

The following technical projects for improving the level of physical and 
information security were implemented during 2017:

•	 Scheduled and unscheduled updates of the processing center 
and Colvir ABS.

•	 Implementing EDS NCC for StarBanking customers.

•	 Implementing protective measures for Swift payments.

•	 A certificate of compliance with the PCI DSS 3.0 payment card 
industry data security standard has been obtained.
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The Bank has implemented the following projects to optimize existing 
processes in order to reduce operating expenses:

•	 Online interaction with government agencies and business 
organizations.

•	 Launch of a channel with private bailiffs.

•	 Electronic exchange of payment orders with STBs.

•	 Mass Electronic Payment System with KISC NBRK for external 
outgoing and incoming payments in tenge.

•	 Creation of an online Data Warehouse for loans and customers.

Investments of 1.99 bn tenge were made in 2017 to upgrade and 
enhance IT infrastructure.

The IT group has planned a comprehensive review of the IT 
Development Strategy, which defines the following vectors for 2018-
2020:

1. Development of digital channels

2. Digitization of products and processes

3. Development of analytical systems.

Main objectives of the IT Strategy:

•	 integration with government agencies to obtain the maximum 
amount of information and data in electronic form (banking 
services without certificates); 

•	 integration with FinTech companies to create unique new 
services;

•	 implementing regulations on creating Open Platforms (Open 
APIs) in the financial industry;

•	 implementing a simplified mobile payment system

•	 implementing remote client identification 

•	 updating the StarBanking system, with an increase in the number 
of services provided remotely;

•	 developing omnichannel;

•	 creating a mobile version of the "Internet Banking" system;

•	 creating a MarketPlace for the Bank's customers;

•	 building chatbots, creating a new sales channel;

•	 combining the bank's digital channel systems in a single 
ecosystem;

•	 developing Big Data and machine learning;

•	 standardization and automation of the Bank's internal processes;

•	 improving the information security unit.

Under the new IT Strategy, the Bank will create its own digital 
ecosystem that will enter "LifeStyle" mode by transferring financial 
services to the daily life of the bank's customers.
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Roman Aleksander Maszczyk 

Director of the Risk Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from January 2018 
to present.

He graduated from Warsaw University in 1997 as a Doctor of Physical 
Sciences.

He gained his first major work experience at the leasing company Bankowy 
Fundusz Leasingowy SA; PKO-Inwestycje, where he worked from 2001 
to 2003. 

He also worked at PKO Bank Polski from 2001 to 2006.

In 2007, he assumed the position of Director of Risk Management at the 
Russian National Bank Trust, and also became Vice President of Bank Nedra 
(Ukraine). 

Two years later, in 2009, he became Advisor to the Chairman of the Central 
Office of Postal Bank in Warsaw, Advisor to the Chairman of the Management 
Board, and Managing Director of PKO Bank Polski.

In April 2010, he joined Bank Polski JSC in Warsaw as Deputy Chairman of the 
Management Board until October 2014. 

In 2010, he joined Eurasian Bank JSC as Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board and Director of the Risk Management Department until 2016. 

Starting in 2016, he was Commercial Director of Assecco Kz for two years.
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The Bank has implemented a comprehensive risk management 
system based on the "three lines of defense" principle, i.e., primary 
identification and risk management by the divisions that actually 
generate risks in the banking process (first line), risk monitoring 
and construction of an effective risk management system by the risk 
management division (second line), an independent evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the risk management system by the internal audit 
division (third line). 

The Bank's management reporting system ensures timely and full 
disclosure of information on the Bank's risk exposure to the Bank's 
Board of Directors, Management Board, authorized collegial bodies 
and related divisions required for making managerial decisions.  

The main inherent risks in the Bank's operations include:

•	 credit risk 

•	 liquidity risk 

•	 market risk

•	 operational risk (including information technology and 
information security risks)

•	 compliance risk.

Credit Risk Management:

The following actions were taken in 2017 to improve the credit risk 
management system:

•	 the probability of incorrect determination of the interest rate based 
on the calculated credit rating was reduced by improvements 
to IT on delineation of rights between RM and credit analysts 
(minimizing the probability of lost income). The principle of 
independence and "four eyes" was ensured;

•	 the automation level was increased by introducing a number of 
reports aimed at identifying alarms (deteriorating solvency) on 
existing loans at an early stage;

•	 the risk of overestimating credit rating was eliminated to ensure 
accurate determination of solvency level and the probability of 
default arising through increased use of information contained in 
the report from "First Credit Bureau" LLP (information on individual 
taxpayers with tax arrears of more than 150 MCIs; a list of payers 

with arrears in customs payments , taxes and fines not paid within 
6 months from their date of occurrence; a list of organizations and 
persons associated with financing of terrorism and extremism; lists 
of insolvent debtors; a list of taxpayers who have carried out shell 
activities; a register of unfair participants in public procurement);

•	 The Bank moved to the IFRS 9 standard in early 2018. The new 
standard contains revised guidelines on the classification and 
valuation of financial instruments, including impairment;

•	 a new provision on lending to medium and large business 
customers was developed and implemented to improve the analysis 
of loan applications for medium and large businesses, (approved 
by Resolution of the Board of Directors No. 92 of February 16, 
2017), and criteria for selecting borrowers at the initial stage were 
developed. The functions of the Bank's employees in the process of 
lending to medium and large business customers, from accepting 
an application to full repayment, were revised;

•	 new forms of expert reports were developed, including the opinion 
of the risk officer at the Head Office on above-limit applications for 
financing and approval of deep monitoring reports.

The following is planned in 2018:

•	 Continue to work on automating control functions and improving 
the functionality of the bank's automated systems in order to 
reduce credit and documentary risks.

•	 Increase the competence and level of skill and responsibilities of 
employees of regional divisions by conducting training workshops.

•	 Implement "Early Response Measures", a banking application 
designed to automatically identify alarms on a client, reduce the 
human factor and automate extended monitoring of loans to 
business customers.

•	 In 2018, there are plans to update scorecards for unsecured and 
card product lines during the development of automated decision-
making on retail lending. There are plans take measures to optimize 
credit rules for retail lending in order to improve the functionality 
of the Bank's automated systems. There are also plans to build a 
scoring model for the self-employed segment, which will enhance 
the analysis of loan applications of these clients. In order to 
optimize control functions, work is underway to create an anti-
fraud list and expand the range of external information sources to 
minimize credit risks.
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•	 Internal allocation of risk officers' responsibility for lending sectors 
is planned for qualitative project evaluation.

•	 Monitoring and regulating established limits for the industry.

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk of difficulties in obtaining funds to repay 
deposits and settle liabilities related to financial instruments at maturity.

The Treasury Department manages this risk by maturity analysis of 
assets and liabilities and conducting cash market transactions to 
maintain current liquidity and optimize cash flows.

The Planning and Finance Department calculates the optimal balance 
sheet structure and manages assets and liabilities to maintain long-
term liquidity. 

The Risk Department calculates limits on liquidity management and 
regularly monitors liquidity indicators. 

After preliminary approval by the Committee for Financial and Risk 
Management, limits on liquidity management and limits on gap 
positions are approved by the Bank's Management Board and the 
Board of Directors. 

 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Bank's income or capital will be adversely 
affected by changes in the level of stability of market rates or prices. 
Market risk means interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and other 
price risks that the Bank may be exposed to in its operations. 

The Committee for Financial and Risk Management, and the Risk 
Management Committee manage interest and market risks, ensuring 

a positive interest margin for the Bank. The Planning and Finance 
Department monitors the current financial condition of the Bank and 
assesses the Bank's sensitivity to changes in interest rates and their 
impact on the Bank's profitability. 

The Bank manages market risk by setting open position limits with 
respect to the size of the portfolio for individual financial instruments, 
the timing of changes in interest rates, foreign currency position, loss 
limits and regular compliance monitoring, and the results are reviewed 
and approved by the Management Board. These limits are calculated 
by the Risk Department and approved by the Bank's Management 
Board and Board of Directors.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to a failure in the operation of 
systems, an undefined organizational structure, employee errors or 
incorrect design of business processes, as well as the impact of external 
events. 

Basic principles used by the bank as a guide in the process of managing 
operational risk: 

•	 The specified order, rules and procedures for performing banking 
operations and other transactions providing a process model;

•	 managing internal processes, division of powers and functional 
responsibilities; 

•	 operating information systems using hot backup principles and 
fail-safe systems;

•	 taking information security measures;

•	 taking physical security measures, including requirements for the 
premises in which the bank, its branches, vaults, safes, documents 
and archives are located.
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Operational risk management helps reduce staff errors, even out 
the impact of IT system failures, ensure optimal distribution of the 
workload for personnel and reduce possible material losses. 

Compliance risk

Compliance risk is the probability of losses occurring due to non-
compliance by the bank and its employees with laws of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, regulations of the competent authority, the bank's internal 
documents regulating the procedure for rendering services and making 
transactions in the financial market, and laws of foreign countries 
influencing the bank's operations.

This risk management process helps protect the Bank's business 
reputation and allows it to take timely and adequate measures to 
reduce the risk of the Bank's involvement in its Clients' operations 
related to money laundering or financing terrorism.

Improving the risk management system

In 2017, the Bank continued to improve its risk management system 
pursuant to the requirements of the National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, the recommendations of the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision and best international practice.   

In 2017, the following measures were taken to develop a financial, 
operational, IT and IS risk management system:

•	 A project has been launched to improve the information security 
risk management system for PCI DSS and SWIFT.

•	 Monitoring of the Bank's Key Operational Risk Indicators has been 
automated.

•	 The requirements for automating the IT and information security 
risk management system have been determined.

•	 Regular ongoing tests of the operation of the backup data center 
and backup communication channels have been implemented 
according to NBRK Rules No. 34 dated January 28, 2016.

•	 Ongoing measures are being taken to automate control functions 
and improve the functionality of the bank's automated systems in 
order to reduce operational risks.

Plans for 2018:

•	 To improve the methodology and process of managing the Bank's 
interest rate and market risks, including continuous monitoring the 
Bank's level of sensitivity these risks;

•	 Continuing measures to improve the information security risk 
management system for PCI DSS and SWIFT; 

•	 Automation of the IT and information security risk management 
system. 

•	 Automation of the operational risk management system. 
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Mira Ibraimovna Musainova

Chief Internal Auditor of Bank CenterCredit JSC from October 2017 to present.

She graduated from Omsk State University in 2006 with a degree in 
Accounting, Analysis, and Audit.

From 2006 to 2007, she worked as a valuer at Astana Grand LLP. Then she 
moved to PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. to the position of an auditor. From 
2010 to 2015, she was Head of the Financial Control Department at HSBC 
Bank Kazakhstan JSC. In 2015, she was Chief Accountant at Altyn Bank 
JSC, where she worked until 2016. In 2017, she started working for Bank 
CenterCredit JSC as a Senior Auditor in the Department of Internal Audit 
Management. 
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The Internal Audit Service is an independent division of the Bank that 
is functionally subordinate and accountable to the Bank's Board of 
Directors.

The organizational structure, number and staffing of the Internal Audit 
Service, and the term of office of Internal Audit Service employees was 
approved by Resolution of the Board of Directors No. 109 of July 17, 
2017.

By Resolution of the Board of Directors No. 161 of October 18, 2017, 
Ms. R. Musina was released from the position of Chief Auditor (at 
her request due to her retirement) and Ms. M. I. Mussainova was 
appointed to the position of Chief Auditor of the Internal Audit Service 
as of October 9, 2018 The Audit Committee oversees the activities 
of the Internal Audit Service pursuant to the internal regulatory 
documents governing the activities of the Audit Committee.

In 2017, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings and considered 16 
items, including: 13 items on the activities of the Internal Audit Service 
(management reporting, internal audit plans, and organizational and 
other matters concerning employees of the Internal Audit Service); 3 
items on the activities of the external auditor ("Deloitte" LLP, "KPMG 
Audit" LLP). 

The mission of the Internal Audit Service is to provide the necessary 
assistance to the Bank's Board of Directors and Management Board in 
fulfilling their obligations to achieve the Bank's strategic goals and to 
increase the Bank's value by carrying out objective internal audits based 
on a risk-oriented approach and making recommendations.

The main objective of the Internal Audit Service is to provide 
independent, reasonable guarantees to the Bank's Board of Directors 
and Management Board regarding the quality and effectiveness of 
the internal control system, risk management system and corporate 
governance in general aimed at protecting the Bank and its reputation.

In keeping with the tasks assigned to it, the Internal Audit Service 
performs, but is not limited to, the following basic functions:

•	 Carrying out an internal audit of the risk management system to 
assess the effectiveness of the risk management system;

•	 An internal audit of accounting procedures, preparing and 
maintaining the integrity of financial and regulatory reporting to 
check the effectiveness of the accounting procedure and processes 
to ensure timely, complete and reliable reporting to management 
and the authorized body, including interactions between the 
Bank's divisions;

•	 Carrying out an internal audit of the compliance risk management 
system to assess the effectiveness of the compliance risk 
management system;

•	 Carrying out an internal audit of the internal control system to 
assess the effectiveness of the internal control system;

•	 Assessing the effectiveness of the Bank's policies and procedures;

•	 Performance assessment of the Bank's human resource 
management system;

•	 Providing advisory services for the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Body on setting up and improving internal control, risk 
management, corporate governance and internal audit as part of 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan;

•	 Carrying out unscheduled audits initiated by the Chairman or 
members of the Board of Directors and the Management Board

•	 Carrying out an internal audit with respect to other issues 
stipulated by current laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
regulatory acts of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
and the Bank's internal documents relating to the activities of the 
IAS.
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stRiving 
foR excellence

In 1973, the United States built a balloon 
called the Solar Firefly, which made 

flights using only solar energy.

The 18th and 19th centuries were the times of duelists and the 
fashion for hot air balloons. Not without a unique duel — in 1808 
in Paris, two men decided to fight it out with pistols for the favor 

of a certain Mademoiselle Tirevit, whom they both loved. 
 

in 1973
Solar Firefly

Competition at height
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Remuneration is paid to the members of the Bank's Board of Directors 
and Management Board pursuant to Resolution of the Management 
Board of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 74 
dated February 24, 2012 establishing the requirements for an internal 
payment policy for payment of cash remuneration, as well as other 
types of material incentives, to senior managers of Second-Tier banks 
and insurance (reinsurance) companies and reporting forms for 
income paid to all senior managers of second-tier banks and insurance 
(reinsurance) companies; and the Regulations on the incentive system 
for employees of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC  approved according to the 
Bank's internal procedures, depending on the executive's personal 
contribution.

1. The amount of remuneration paid to members of the Bank's Board 
of Directors for fiscal year 2017 is a maximum of 5% of the Bank's 
salary schedule for the reporting period approved by the Minutes of the 
Shareholders Meeting dated April 30, 2009 and is 1.2%.

2. The following types of remuneration are established for members of 
the Board of Directors and the Management Board: 

•	 Members of the Board of Directors receive monthly remuneration 
for individual performance indicators;

•	 Members of the Management Board receive a guaranteed salary 
and remuneration based on performance for the year.

3. Total remuneration for members of the Board of Directors and the 
Management Board in 2017 was 406 mln tenge.

The criteria for determining the quality of executives of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC are as follows:

•	 delivering annual financial indicators;

•	 the Bank's receipt of net income.
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Zhanna Saparalievna Bubeeva

Director of the Human Resources Department at Bank CenterCredit JSC from 
2017 to present.

She graduated from Middlesex University after studying in the Faculty of 
Politics and History from 1994 to 1997. She started working at ATF Bank JSC 
in 1998 as Specialist, then a Lead Specialist, Senior Specialist, and Head of 
Correspondent Relations. In 2001, she continued her education at Edinburgh 
University Management School, where she took an MBA in Strategic 
Management.

After completing her studies, she worked at ATF Bank JSC as Head of Financial 
Institutions. She then moved to UniCredit - ATF Finance, a subsidiary of ATF 
Bank JSC, where she held the position of Chair of the Management Board from 
2006 to 2008. After two years, she was invited to the position of Executive 
Director of Eurasian Bank JSC in 2010. 

From 2013 to 2017, she was Managing Director and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of Eurasian Bank JSC.
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In its operations, BCC complies with the requirements of the key 
principles of environmental protection and current regulations on 
environmental protection.

BCC's key environmental protection principles:

•	 priority is given to protecting human life and health, preserving 
and restoring an environment conducive to the life, work and 
recreation of the population;

•	 preventing potential harm to the environment through online 
banking transactions.

In financing projects, BCC focuses on environmental aspects and 
supports environmentally oriented projects.

According to BCC's Credit Policy, lending to projects that cause 
environmental damage is one of the prohibited areas for lending.

BCC takes appropriate measures to prevent legal and financial 
consequences and consequences for BCC's business reputation 
resulting from environmental problems. When a project is being 
considered, authorized BCC divisions carry out a comprehensive 
parallel examination of compliance with BCC's key environmental 
protection principles. The activities of borrowers are monitored during 
the lending process, and the targeted use of borrowed funds is 
monitored according to basic environmental principles. 

The Bank's labor management system

General information about personnel

As of December 31, 2017, the actual number of the Bank employees 
was 3 753, including 1 024 employees in the Bank's Head Office and 
2 729 in branches. The average employee age is 34.5 years. 

Staffing trends

  2016 2017

Headcount

   

Bank 3 679 3 753

HO 891 1 024

Branches 2 788 2 729

Increase, pers.

   

Bank -232 74

HO 0 133

Branches -232 -59

Growth, %

   

Bank -6% 2%

HO 0% 15%

Branches -8% -2%
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Staff Policy

The Bank's staff policy is based on the principles of mutual respect, trust 
and long-term cooperation. The Bank does not allow discrimination 
on any grounds. Each Bank employee has equal opportunities for 
development, regardless of gender, race, nationality, origin, or other 
circumstances not related to the employee's business qualities.

The compensation package at the Bank is aimed at motivating 
employees to perform better and focus on results and is based on a 
fixed component of salary depending on the employee's skills and a 
variable component based on the employee's personal achievements.

The Bank works continuously to build up a talent pool to retain, 
develop and promote highly productive employees. A succession 
planning program for division managers at the head office and 
branches is being implemented. 

The social benefits package for all Bank employees who have passed 
the probationary period includes medical insurance for outpatient, 
inpatient and dental care. The Bank also provides support to employees 
who find themselves in tough situations.

Training and development  

In 2017, 1 852 branch employees underwent training in various 
programs, including webinars, to upgrade their skills. Together with a 
strategic partner, a week of training in lending for 20 employees was 
held at Kookmin Bank Corporate Training Center (Seoul, Korea). Two 
comprehensive workshops for 43 branch staff were organized and 
conducted as part of the EBRD project. Thirty-seven in-house training 
courses on customer-oriented service, service quality standards, sales 
techniques, effective communication, conflict management, etc. were 
conducted for 472 regional employees. External training was provided 
for 468 employees, who were trained and certified in the Republic of 
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Kazakhstan and neighboring countries. A total of 7 139 different online 
courses were assigned to the Bank's employees in the respective areas 
of activity.

Translations  

In order to comply with the requirements of the Law of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan "On Languages in the Republic of Kazakhstan" and statutes 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan on onomastics, the Bank maintains 
internal and external document flows in the official language, with 
a focus on providing customers with the necessary information 
about banking products and services according to grammatical and 
stylistic norms of the Kazakh language and terminology. The Bank's 
internal regulations on customer service are translated into the official 
language, and remote banking services are provided for customers in 
Kazakh by translating the banking module interfaces. The Translation 
Department also provides written translations and interpretation into/

from English of various materials and working meetings in cooperation 
with the Bank's foreign partners and clients. 

In 2017, the Translation Department filled more than 20 000 requests 
for translation, including more than 15 000 in Kazakh language and 
5 000 in English. 

Human Resources Management Committee

The Human Resources Management Committee of "Bank CenterCredit" 
JSC held 38 meetings during the reporting period (22 in-person and 
16 by correspondence). The Committee considered issues of incentives 
and penalties, appointments of managers, and the results of personal 
evaluations of the Bank's employees.
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Nurtai Shaikhievich Irkekulov

Corporate Secretary of Bank CenterCredit JSC from 2003 to present.

He has three university degrees. In 1980, he graduated from S. M. Kirov 
Kazakh National University with a degree in Mathematics. Immediately 
after completing his studies, he worked for two years as an engineer at 
the Kazakh Research Institute of Power Engineering and then worked 
under the Young Communist League of Kazakhstan until 1986. He then 
became a Senior Researcher and headed a sector of SRI ASPU under 
the State Planning Committee of the Kazakh SSR for more than three 
years until 1989, simultaneously pursuing a second degree in Economic 
Forecasting and Long-term Planning Methodology at the Alma-Ata 
Institute of National Economy. 

Then, in 1989, he became the Director of the Informservice Self-
Supporting Computer Center. He left the computer center six years later 
to head Akmolastroy in 1995. A year later, in 1996, he was appointed 
as a Consultant, and later as a Senior Advisor to the Office of the 
Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

In 1997, he became First Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 
of Akmola Stroyinvest. During this time, he was Head of the Department 
and Director of the Department of the Agency of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan for Strategic Planning and Reforms (until 1998). In 1998, 
he was elected Deputy Chairman of the Construction Committee of the 
Ministry of Energy, Industry and Trade of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
where he worked until 1999. 

Prior to becoming Executive Secretary of the Board of Directors of the 
Secretariat and Corporate Secretary of Bank CenterCredit JSC in 2003 
(through 2008), he was an Advisor and Head of the Office of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors from 1999 to 2003. From 2005 to 
2007, he studied at International Academy of Business, graduating with 
a Master's in Management. 
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Corporate governance in "Bank CenterCredit" JSC is carried out in 
compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance approved by 
the shareholders' meeting (Minutes No. 5.1 of May 26, 2006) with 
subsequent amendments and additions approved by shareholders' 
meetings (Minutes of April 30, 2009, item No. 6.1., Minutes of April 
26, 2013, item No. 5.1., Minutes of April 24, 2015, item No. 4.1.).

Corporate governance in "Bank CenterCredit" JSC is based on the 
following principles: 

1. Corporate governance is based on respect for the rights and 
legitimate interests of the Bank's shareholders and staff, and 
contributes to its effective operation, including: increasing the value of 
assets, maintaining financial stability and profitability, creating jobs.

2. The Bank's effective performance and investment attractiveness is 
based on transparency in the conduct of its business by all corporate 
governance participants. The principles of corporate governance are 
aimed at creating trust in relations arising from management of the 
Bank.

3. Corporate governance practice must give shareholders a real 
opportunity to exercise their rights associated with participation in the 
company.

4. Corporate governance practice in the Bank ensures equal treatment 
of shareholders owning the same type of shares. All shareholders 
have the opportunity to receive effective protection if their rights are 
violated.

5. Corporate governance practice must ensure that the Board of 
Directors carries out strategic management of the Bank's activities and 
effective control of the Management Board and the accountability of 
members of the Board of Directors to the Bank's shareholders.

6. Corporate governance practice must ensure that the Bank's 
executive bodies (the Management Board) can reasonably, in good 
faith and exclusively in the Bank's interests, effectively manage the 
Bank's day-to-day operations and accountability of the executive 
bodies (board) to the Bank's Board of Directors and its shareholders.

7. Corporate governance practice ensures timely disclosure of complete 
and reliable information about the Bank, including its financial position, 
economic indicators, ownership structure and management to enable 
the Bank's shareholders and investors to make informed decisions.

8. Corporate governance practice must take into account the rights 
of stakeholders, including Bank employees, provided by law and 
encourage active cooperation between the Bank and stakeholder in 
order to increase the Bank's assets, the value of the Bank's shares and 
other securities, and create new jobs.

9. Corporate governance practice must ensure effective control of the 
Bank's financial and business activities in order to protect the rights and 
legitimate interests of shareholders.

10. Corporate governance practice must take into account the need for 
environmental protection when the Bank is carrying out its operations.

These principles are formulated according to the Law of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan "On Joint Stock Companies", the Principles of Corporate 
Governance of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and 
Development (OECD), the international practice of corporate 
governance.
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CORPORATE EVENTS
Meetings of shareholders

On February 21, 2017, the results of an extraordinary general meeting 
of shareholders of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC were summarized by 
absentee voting. The following decisions were made after the vote: 1. 
To terminate the authority of the Chairman of the Counting Committee, 
Olga Khan and member of the Counting Committee Sholpan Kalekeeva 
ahead of schedule, and as of February 21, 2017, elect Zhanat 
Mukhambekovich as Chairman of the Counting Committee and Gulmir 
Bakytzhanov, as a member of the Counting Committee; 2 To elect Mr. 
Kweon Hongju as an Independent Director and member of the Board 
of Directors for a term of office up to the date of the annual general 
meeting of shareholders in 2017, inclusive.

The Annual General meeting of Shareholders was held on May 19, 
2017, with the following agenda:

1. Report of the Management Board of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC on 
performance for 2016.

2. Approval of the consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC for 2016.

3. Approval of the procedure for distributing the 2016 net income of 
"Bank CenterCredit" JSC.

4. Approval of Deloitte LLP as the auditor for 2017.

5. Electing members of the Board of Directors.

It was also reported that during preparation for the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors supplemented the 
agenda with a sixth item (Resolution of the Board of Directors dated 
April 24, 2017): 

6. Approval of KPMG as the auditor for 2017. 

It was noted that the shareholders were duly informed of this 
supplement. 

The decisions proposed by the Board of Directors were made on items 
1, 2, 3 and 6. On item 4, it was decided not to approve Deloitte as the 
Bank's auditor for 2017. 

On item 5 of the agenda, it was decided to maintain the current 
number of members of the Board of Directors at 6 (six) persons 
with a term of office up to the date of the annual general meeting of 
shareholders in 2022; to elect the following persons to the Board of 
Directors of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC:

Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov – major participant of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC; 

Dauren Adilbekuly Zhaksybek – representative of the shareholder of 
"Tsesnabank" JSC;

Vladislav Sedinovich Li – shareholder of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC;
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Dzhumageldi Rakhishevich Amankulov – shareholder of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC;

Salavat Kalymgazinovich Cheryazdanov, Independent Director;

Frans Jozef Claes Werner, Independent Director

An Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders was held on 
September 28, 2017, with the following agenda: 

1. Approval of the agenda for the Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC;  

2. Participation of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC in the Program for 
Improving the Financial Stability of the Banking Sector of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan, approved by Resolution of the Management Board of 
the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 129 of June 30, 
2017;  

3. Increasing the number of announced shares of "Bank CenterCredit" 
JSC as per Clause 1 Article 41 of the Law "On Joint Stock Companies".   

4. Increasing the liability of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC to more than ten 
percent of equity by issuing registered subordinated coupon bonds 
convertible into common shares under the third bond program of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC in the amount of 60 000 000 000 (sixty billion) 
tenge. 

5. Approving the terms and procedure for converting registered 
subordinated coupon bonds without collateral convertible into 
common shares under the third bond program of "Bank CenterCredit" 
JSC, as well as the terms for issuing them.  

6. Approving instructions to the Board of Directors to make a decision 
on placing common shares of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC when registered 
subordinated coupon bonds are converted into common shares of 
"Bank CenterCredit" JSC.

The following decisions were made:

To approve the participation of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC in the 
Program for Improving the Financial Stability of the Banking Sector of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan approved by Resolution No. 129 of the 
Management Board of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
dated June 30, 2017 (The Program is attached).

To approve an increase in the number of announced shares of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC, as per Clause 1 Article 41 of the Law on Joint Stock 
Companies, to 1 035 126 008 (one billion thirty-five million one 
hundred twenty-six thousand eight) units by additional issue of 735 
126 008 (seven hundred and thirty-five million one hundred twenty-
six thousand and eight) common shares; 

To approve an increase in the liability of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC to 
more than ten percent of equity by issuing registered subordinated 
coupon bonds convertible into common shares under the third bond 
program of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC in the amount of 60 000 000 000 
(sixty billion) tenge;

To approve the terms and procedure for converting registered 
subordinated coupon bonds without collateral convertible into 
common shares under the third bond program of "Bank CenterCredit" 
JSC, as well as the terms for issuing them.
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To take due note of the information on the need for a decision on 
placing common shares of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC when registered 
subordinated coupon bonds are converted into common shares of 
"Bank CenterCredit" JSC made by the Board of Directors of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC or another body of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC, to whose 
exclusive competence this matter will be assigned under current laws of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan when the registered subordinated coupon 
bonds are converted into common shares of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC.

The Board of Directors held regular meetings. Ten meetings were 
held during the reporting period (including by teleconference) to 
consider the following items: preliminary approval of the consolidated 
and separate annual reports for 2016, the decision to convene an 
annual general meeting of shareholders, decision-making within the 
framework of "Bank CenterCredit's" participation in the Program for 
Improving the Financial Stability of the Banking Sector of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan, approved by Resolution No. 129 of the National Bank 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated June 30, 2018; the election 
of the Chairman of the Audit Committee; borrowing funds from 
"DAMU Entrepreneurship Development Fund" JSC, placement of 
bonds, redemption of preferred shares, proposals for changing the 
organizational structure, the Bank's draft budget for 2018, among 
others.

Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov was unanimously elected Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, and Nurtai Shaikhievich Irkekulov was 

approved as Corporate Secretary of the Bank by the minutes of the 
meeting of the Board of Directors dated May 19, 2017. 

The size and membership of the Management Board were also 
approved by the same minutes: the number of members of the 
Management Board of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC is 6 (six) persons with 
a term of office up to the annual general meeting of shareholders in 
2022.

MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD WERE 
INDIVIDUALLY APPROVED AS FOLLOWS:       

Vladislav Sedinovich Li as Chairman of the Management Board

Bulan Adilkhanovich Adilkhanov as Managing Director, member of 
the Management Board;

Maksat Kabykenovich Alzhanov as Managing Director, member of 
the Management Board;

Erzhan Alshimbekovich Toleubekov as Managing Director, member 
of the Management Board;

Galim Abilzhanovich Khusainov as Managing Director, member of 
the Management Board.

The Board of Directors decided to temporarily leave the position of sixth 
Managing Director and member of the Management Board vacant.
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A regular in-person meeting of the Board of Directors was held on 
September 22, 2017, at which a decision was made to dismiss                           
Vladislav Sedinovich Li, Chairman of the Management Board of "Bank 
CenterCredit" JSC, according to the submitted application (it was noted 
that Vladislav Sedinovich Li is an active member of the Board of Directors 
of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC, pursuant to the requirements of laws of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan), and to elect Galim Abilzhanovich Khusainov as 
Chairman of the Management Board as of September 23, 2017, with 
a term of office up to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 
2022, at his current salary according to the approved payroll.

On October 18, 2017, Timur Zhaksylykovich Ishmuratov was elected 
to the position of Managing Director and member of the Management 
Board by resolution of the Board of Directors, with a term of office up to 
the annual general meeting of shareholders in 2022. 

Yerzhan Asylbek uli Asylbek was elected by the same Resolution to the 
position of Managing Director and member of the Management Board 
with a term of office up to the annual general meeting of shareholders in 
2022.

At its in-person meeting on December 8, 2017, the Board of Directors 
approved the item on the Bank's budget for 2018 and reviewed the 
report on monitoring the implementation of "Bank CenterCredit's 
Development Strategy" for 2016-2020.

The Board of Directors adopted 232 resolutions by absentee voting.

Member of the Board of Directors Jeoung Sang-Kweon notified the 
Board of Directors of early termination of his appointment as a member 

of the Board of Directors of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC dated April 28, 
2017.

COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The following committees report to the Board of Directors: Audit 
Committee, Committee for Financial and Risk Management, Committee 
for Nominations and Social Affairs, Head Office Loan Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE (INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE)

Composition of the Audit Committee:  

Chairman of the Committee: Werner Claes (member of the 
Board of Directors, Independent Director); Committee members: 
D.R. Amankulov – Deputy Chairman of the Audit Committee (member 
of the Board of Directors); S.K. Cheryazdanov (member of the Board of 
Directors, Independent Director).

This composition of the Committee was approved by the Resolution 
No. 99 of the Board of Directors dated June 29, 2017. The powers, 
quorum and decision-making procedure for the Committee are stated 
in the Regulations on the Audit Committee of Bank CenterCredit JSC 
approved by Resolution of the Board of Directors No. 69 dated June 
12, 2013.

In 2017, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings and considered 
16 items, including: 13 items on the activities of the Internal 
Audit Service (management reporting, internal audit plans, and 
organizational and other matters concerning employees of the 
Internal Audit Service); 3 items on the activities of the external auditor 
("Deloitte" LLP, "KPMG Audit" LLP).
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The Audit Committee oversees the activities of the Internal Audit 
Service, which is an independent division of the Bank that is 
functionally subordinate and accountable to the Bank's Board of 
Directors Bank.

COMMITTEE FOR FINANCIAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

1. B.R. Baiseitov – Chairman of the Committee, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors; 

2. V.S. Li – Deputy Chairman of the Committee, member of the Board 
of Directors;

3. D.R. Amankulov – member of the Committee, member of the 
Board of Directors;

4. G.A. Khusainov – member of the Committee; Chairman of the 
Management Board;

5. E.A. Asylbek – member of the Committee; Managing Director, 
member of the Management Board;

6. T.Zh. Ishmuratov – member of the Committee; Managing Director, 
member of the Management Board;

7. E.A. Toleubekov – Member of the Committee; Managing Director, 
member of the Management Board;

8. B.A. Adilkhanov – member of the Committee; Managing Director, 
member of the Management Board;

Secretary of the Committee – I.M. Abubakirov.

The Committee for Financial and Risk Management held 12 regular and 
10 extraordinary meetings in 2017, and more than 260 decisions were 
made. 

During the year, the Committee considered and made relevant and 
timely decisions on the Bank's main activities, namely: 

- management of assets and liabilities and capital 

- liquidity management 

- financial risk management 

- monitoring execution of interest rate policy 

- compliance with internal and regulatory standards. 

As a result, measures were taken to improve the Bank's financial 
performance, profitability, asset diversification, business sustainability, 
capital adequacy, and attractiveness of banking products for customers.

HEAD OFFICE LOAN COMMITTEE   

By Resolutions of the Board of Directors No. 2 dated January 18, 
2017, and No. 5 dated January 4, 2013, amendments were made 
to the "Regulations on the Head Office Loan Committee" approved by 
Resolution of the Board of Directors No. 282 dated December 6, 2010.

The amendments primarily concerned the composition of the 
Committee:

1) The group names have been changed due to changes in the Bank's 
organizational structure aimed at optimizing the process of reviewing 
and making decisions on loan applications: The Lending Group was 
renamed the Credit and Risk Management Group, and the Business 
Group was reorganized into the Corporate Business Group and Retail 
Business Group.

2) A second member of the Board of Directors was removed after 
the exit of "Kookmin Bank" (Korea) from the shareholders of "Bank 
CenterCredit". 

3) To ensure the necessary quorum of the Committee and strengthen 
the responsibility of the sales divisions, the Managing Director 
overseeing the corporate business group, or the Director of the 
Corporate Finance Department was added to the list of mandatory 
Committee members. 

Due to changes in lending to legal entities and transfer of the function 
for analyzing the solvency and creditworthiness from employees of 
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regional Credit Analysis Centers to sales divisions, the list of mandatory 
documents for consideration of lending has been updated.  

In 2017, the Head Office Loan Committee considered 210 loan 
applications for total financing of 311 bn tenge, including:

1. 190 applications from legal entities for a total of 310.9 bn tenge.

2. 20 applications from individuals for a total of 365 mln tenge.

Of the applications for financing considered by the Head Office Loan 
Committee in 2017:

•	 193 applications were approved for a total of 254 bn tenge, which 
is 92% of the total number of applications considered;

•	 8% were rejected due to inconsistency with the Bank's internal 
procedures (17 applications for a total of 57 bn tenge);

•	  Most of the approved applications for financing were from the 
Almaty Branch (58% for a total of 148 bn tenge) and the Astana 
Branch (25% for a total of 63 bn tenge). 

Along with applications for financing, the Bank regularly reviews 
issues related to changing financing conditions for the Bank's current 
borrowers aimed to ensure consistent loan servicing.

In addition to the above, the Head Office Loan Committee considered 
the following general issues affecting the Bank's business processes: 

•	 new forms of guarantee commitments for issuing guarantees have 
been approved;

•	 the self-lending limits for one borrower for branches and "Credit 
Analysis Centers" have been revised;

•	 the reports of the Credit Risk Department on the results of 
inspecting the loan activity of branches and regional credit analysis 
centers were considered;

•	 a list of "First Class Companies" was determined, with the approval 
of a simplified expert report and opinion on risks, for the purpose 

of short-term financing to replenish working capital in US dollars 
of companies with minimal credit risk.

In the short term, there are plans to include the Director of the 
Legal Department and the Head of Credit Analysis of the Credit Risk 
Department as Committee members to maintain control and ensure a 
risk-oriented approach to lending. The Bank's Management Board is in 
favor of this plan and has sent it to the Board of Directors for approval.

COMMITTEE FOR NOMINATIONS AND SOCIAL AFFAIRS

Committee members:

1. Werner Claes – Chairman of the Committee, member of the Board 
of Directors, Independent Director; 

2. Jeoung Sang-Kweon – member of the Committee, member of the 
Board of Directors (authority as a member of the Board of Directors 
terminated on April 28, 2017);

3. V.S. Li – member of the Committee, member of the Board of 
Directors;

4. D.R. Amankulov – member of the Committee, member of the 
Board of Directors.

5. Secretary of the Committee – N.Sh. Irkegulov

The Committee held 4 meetings in the reporting year, at which 
candidates for positions of Managing Directors and members of the 
Management Board of the Bank were considered.

Management Board

The Management Board of the Bank held 95 in-person meetings of 
the Management Board, 16 of which were on management reporting. 
In 2017, the Management Board considered 118 items on the Bank's 
core business, including items related to management reporting, at 
its in-person meetings; and 957 Management Board resolution were 
passed by absentee voting. The Management Board made decisions 
on business development and banking procedures, and approved the 
decisions of committees and commissions, as well as others.
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Date Management Board members Events

as of January 
1, 2017

1. V.S. Li – Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board September 22, 2017 
(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors on September 22, 
2017.)

2. M.K. Alzhanov – Deputy chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board October 18, 2017 
(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 164 dated 
October 18, 2017.)

3. B.A. Adilkhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  
4. Won Sung Jе – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board April 28, 2017 

(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 67 dated April 28, 
2017.)

5. Han Jong Hwan – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board April 28, 2017 
(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 67 dated April 28, 
2017.)

6. Yang Jinhwan – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board April 28, 2017 
(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 67 dated April 28, 
2017.)

as of May 2, 
2017

1. V.S. Li – Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board September 22, 2017
2. M.K. Alzhanov – Deputy chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board October 18, 2017 

(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 164 dated 
October 18, 2017.)

3. B.A. Adilkhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  
4. G.A. Khusainov - Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Capacity as a member of the Management Board since May 2, 2017
5. E.A.Toleubekov - Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Capacity as a member of the Management Board since May 2, 2017

as of 
September 23, 

2017

1. G.A. Khusainov – Chairman of the Board Capacity as Chairman of the Management Board since September 23, 
2017 

2. B.A. Adilkhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  
3. M.K. Alzhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Date of resignation from the Management Board October 18, 2017 

(Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 164 dated 
October 18, 2017.)

4. E.A.Toleubekov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Capacity as a member of the Management Board since May 2, 2017

as of October 
18, 2017

1. G.A. Khusainov – Chairman of the Board Capacity as Chairman of the Management Board since September 23, 
2017 

2. B.A. Adilkhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  
3. E.A.Toleubekov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Capacity as a member of the Management Board since May 2, 2017
4. T.Zh. Ishmuratov – Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board

 

5. E.A. Asylbek – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  

as of January 
1, 2018

1. G.A. Khusainov – Chairman of the Board Capacity as Chairman of the Management Board since September 23, 
2017 

2. B.A. Adilkhanov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  
3. E.A.Toleubekov – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Capacity as a member of the Management Board since May 2, 2017
4. T.Zh. Ishmuratov – Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board

 

5. E.A. Asylbek – Deputy Chairman of the Management Board  

Composition of the Management Board from January 1, 2017 to January 1, 2018
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"BCC Invest" JSC

BCC Invest JSC is a professional participant of the securities market of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan, with all legislated licenses and permits. 
BCC Invest JSC is a subsidiary of "Bank CenterCredit" JSC.

The company provides the following services on the securities market: 

•	 Brokerage and nominee services; 

•	 Market maker services;

•	 Services of a representative of bondholders;

•	 Underwriting services;

•	 Corporate financing and financial consulting; 

•	 Investment banking;

•	 Tax planning;

•	 Investment portfolio management;

•	 Analytical support.

Over the past 3 years, total assets have increased from 9.4 bn tenge 
(2014) to 15.8 bn tenge (2017), or by 68%, and profit has increased 
by 5.12 times. The company has been a leader in the brokerage market 
(in the repo and bond market), for services as a representative of 
bondholders, market-maker services and trust management services 
(PIF) for the past 3 years. Fee income has increased by 75.4% over the 
past 3 years.

The company's key achievements in 2017 were:

1) The company led the KASE activity ranking (market share), was in 
second place among bond market brokers (market share – 16%), in 
second place in the repo market (market share – 7.1%) and in place in 
managed assets among Mutual Funds (market share – 25%).

2) The Company is in 2nd place in market maker services (market 
share – 14%), and in second place in RFO services (20% market share 
by number of issuers; 44% by number of issues).

3) The "CenterCredit Foreign Currency" mutual fund has a market share 
20% and the "Reasonable Balance" mutual fund has a 5% share.

4) The company received the Cbonds Awards Kazakhstan in the 

category of "Most effective management in the investment market of 
Kazakhstan". 

5) BCC Invest is recognized as a Market Leader in the KASE category: 
"Leader of the corporate bond market". 

Financial indicators:

Indicator 2017

Net profit, thous. tenge 1 478 594

Assets, thous. tenge 15 837 591

Equity, thous. tenge 6 905 370

 "BCC-OUSA" LLP 

"BCC-OUSA" LLP is a wholly owned subsidiary of "Bank CenterCredit" 
JSC. The company was established on August 21, 2013 for the 
purpose of acquiring receivables, commercial and investment real 
estate from the parent bank and subsequent management of these 
assets.

The company's key focus areas are:

•	 acquiring doubtful and non-recoverable receivables of the parent 
bank;

•	 acquiring immovable and movable property and (or) ownership 
of unfinished construction projects transferred to the ownership 
of the parent bank due to forced sale of collateral for acquired 
doubtful and non-recoverable receivables;

•	 activities related to construction, completion of construction and 
(or) commissioning of real estate for doubtful and bad assets in 
the form of land and (or) unfinished construction projects;
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•	 acquiring shares and (or) stakes in the authorized capital of legal 
entities if they are accepted as collateral (setoff or security) for 
acquired doubtful and non-recoverable receivables;

•	 leasing real estate transferred to its ownership as a result of 
foreclosure on property used as collateral or other security or 
received in the form of set-off for doubtful and non-recoverable 
receivables acquired from the parent bank or using another form 
of compensated temporary use of such property;

•	 issuing a loan;

•	 taking measures to improve the quality of doubtful and bad assets, 
including purchase of land from third parties and (or) construction 
in progress;

•	 production and sale of goods, works and services (including 
licensed activities) related to property and (or) a property 
portfolio;

•	 selling proprietary assets acquired (received) as a result of 
measures to improve the quality of doubtful and bad assets;

•	 selling doubtful and bad assets;

•	 securitization of doubtful and bad assets;

•	 placement of temporary spare cash received as debt repayment 
into government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan and 
deposits in second-tier banks of the Republic of Kazakhstan;

•	 selling pledged property for nonrecoverable and doubtful 
receivables pursuant to banking laws of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan;

•	 accepting property, shares and stakes in legal entities as a set-off 
in performance of obligations on doubtful and bad assets acquired 
from the parent bank.

Over the past 3 years, total assets have increased from 29 757 286 
thous. tenge (2015) to 63 575 308 thous. tenge (2017). Income 
from operations increased from 58 515 thous. tenge (2015) to 
36 5253 thous. tenge (2017).

Financial indicators (unaudited):

Indicator 2017

Net loss, thous. tenge (224 206)

Assets, thous. tenge 63 575 308

Equity, thous. tenge 492 434

Long-term loans, thous. tenge 47 509 162
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The Bank's mission according to the Strategy:  

"By ensuring reliability and stability for our clients and employees, 
we create opportunities for them to achieve their goals, moving 
together towards the prosperity of the country"

The Bank's vision according to the Strategy:

•	 Bank with the best service;

•	 A high-tech bank;

•	 A full-service bank with a focus on retail business and SMEs;

•	 Sustained growth with managed risk and target rate of return;

•	 The best workplace for employees.

The Bank's key priorities and objectives for 2018

1. Achieving the objectives of the Bank's Development Strategy 
before 2020: 

 a) diversifying the loan portfolio by increasing the share of 
retail business and SMEs and maintaining the share of the corporate 
portfolio at the current level;

 b) increasing profitability: increasing the profitability index 
of equity and assets, net interest margin, increasing fee income;

 c) actions to ensure a high level of customer satisfaction 
and low customer churn.

2. Developing a product line for target segments.

3. Improving remote service channels.

4. Involvement in implementing government development 
programs.

5. Implementation of the new IT Strategy.

 

Business Strategy

The Bank's development prospects over the next three years:

1. Increasing retail unsecured loans and car loans, increasing the 
SME loan portfolio.

2. Growth of transactional products due to increased fee income.

3. Differentiating the product line for target segments to increase 
competitiveness.

4. Making the transition from traditional banking to an innovative 
client-oriented model.

The Bank is in the process of reviewing the goals and objectives of 
further development, and the updated Strategy will consider the 
Bank's main prospects for development consistent with the current 
external economic situation and the banking sector.
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Joint Stock Company
"Bank CenterCredit"

Legal address: 38 Al-Farabi Ave.,

Medeusky District, Almaty, 050059, 

Republic of Kazakhstan

Telephone: +7 (727) 244 30 00

Fax: +7 (727) 259 86 22

Website: www.bcc.kz

BRANCHES OF THE BANK 

Almaty Branch 

156 Bogenbai Batyr St., Almaty 

(corner of Seifullin Avenue)

Telephone: +7 (727) 259 85 98

e-mail: almaty@centercredit.kz

Aktau Branch

12 District 12, Aktau

Telephone: + 7 (729) 270 19 00, ext. 70 001

e-mail: aktau@centercredit.kz

Aktobe Branch 

30 Aliya Moldagulova Ave., Aktobe

Telephone: +7 (713) 270 41 26

e-mail: aktobe@centercredit.kz

Astana Branch

7 Baraev St., Almaty District, Astana

Telephone: + 7 (717) 291 61 41 ext. 73 001

e-mail: astana@centercredit.kz  

Atyrau Branch 

2 Azattyk Ave., Atyrau 

Telephone: +7 (712) 255 81 11

e-mail: atyrau@centercredit.kz 

Zhezkazgan Branch 

26A Mira St., Zhezkazgan

Telephone: +7 (710) 299 50 32

e-mail: zhezkazgan@centercredit.kz

Karaganda Branch

5 Alikhanov St., Karaganda

Telephone: +7 (721) 255 89 99

e-mail: karaganda@centercredit.kz

Kokshetau Branch

142 Abai St., Kokshetau

Telephone: +7 (716) 255 13 13

e-mail: kokshetau@centercredit.kz
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Kostanay Branch

39 Taran St., Kostanay 

Telephone: +7 (714) 299 02 00

e-mail: kostanay@centercredit.kz

Kyzylorda Branch

46 Tokmagambetova St., Kyzylorda

Telephone: +7 (727) 244 30 30

e-mail: kzylorda@centercredit.kz

Pavlodar Branch

156/1 Akademika Satpaeva St., Pavlodar

Telephone: +7 (718) 270 38 80

e-mail: pavlodar@centercredit.kz

Petropavlovsk Branch 

166 Altynsarin St., Petropavlovsk

Telephone: +7 (715) 255 12 12 

e-mail: petropavl@centercredit.kz

Semey Branch 

22 Lenin St., Semey

Telephone: +7 (722) 260 01 15 

e-mail: semey@centercredit.kz

Taldykorgan Branch 

185/189 Abylai Khan St., Taldykorgan

Telephone: +7 (728) 255 91 53

e-mail: tkorgan@centercredit.kz

Taraz Branch 

182 Kazybek bi St.,Taraz

Telephone: +7 (726) 299 97 22

e-mail: taraz@centercredit.kz

Uralsk Branch 

27/2 Mukhita St., Uralsk

Telephone: +7 (711) 255 41 30

e-mail: uralsk@centercredit.kz

Ust-Kamenogorsk Branch 

19 Maxim Gorky St., Ust-Kamenogorsk

Telephone: +7 (723) 256 02 89 

e-mail: ustkaman@centercredit.kz

Shymkent Branch 

20a Baitursynov St., Shymkent

Telephone: +7 (725) 299 72 60 

e-mail: shymkent@centercredit.kz

SUBSIDIARIES

"BCC Invest" JSC

100 Shevchenko St., Almaty, 050022

 Telephone: +7 (727) 244 32 32

"BCC – OUSA" LLP

98 Panfilov St., Almaty     
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multifaceted
solutions

In the 19th century, hot air balloons became essential both 
for celebrations — they ascended on the coronation day 
of Napoleon I — the day before the battle of Rome, 
and for scientific purposes. In June 1802, Humboldt 
and Bonpland ascended in a hot air balloon to carry 
out a set of observations of temperature 
and atmospheric pressure. 

20 century
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017   
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, except for earnings per share which is expressed in tenge)

Note

Year ended
31 December

2017

Year ended
31 December

2016 

Continuing operations

Interest income 109,938 94,543

Interest expense (62,438) (68,224)

Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on interest-
bearing assets 4 47,500 26,319

Provision for impairment losses on interest-bearing assets 5 (43,743) (10,603)

Net interest income 3,757 15,716

Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 (2,447) (2,212)

Net realised gain on available-for-sale investments 1,226 1,046

Net gain on foreign exchange operations 7 7,754 6,400

Fee and commission income 8 21,698 20,649

Fee and commission expense (2,797) (2,329)

(Charge)/recovery of impairment losses on other transactions (227) 476

Income from recognition of discount on subordinated bonds 22 34,993 -

Other income/(expense) 412 (3,721)

Net non-interest income 60,612 20,309

Explanatory notes as set out on pages 16 to 96 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, except for earnings per share which is expressed in tenge)

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 8 to 96 were approved by Management Board on 15 March 2018 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Note 

Year ended
31 December

2017

Year ended
31 December

2016

Operating income 64,369 36,025

Operating expenses 9 (28,299) (30,732)

Operating profit before income tax 36,070 5,293

Income tax expense 10 (7,199) (1,900)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 28,871 3,393

Discontinued operations

Profit for the year from discontinued operations - 1,968

Profit for the year 28,871 5,361

Attributable to

Owners of the Parent Bank 28,800 5,311

Non-controlling interest 71 50

28,871 5,361

Earnings per share

From continuing operations

Basic (KZT) 11 143.03             16.63

Diluted (KZT)       143.19             16.62

From all operations 

Basic (KZT) 143.19 26.41

Explanatory notes as set out on pages 16 to 96 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

G.A. Khussainov
Chairman of the Management Board 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Ye.А. Assylbek
Managing Director 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

A.T. Nurgaliyeva
Chief Accountant

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, except for earnings per share which is expressed in tenge)

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 8 to 96 were approved by Management Board on 15 March 2018 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Explanatory notes as set out on pages 16 to 96 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Year ended
31 December

2017

Year ended
31 December

2016

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 28,871 5,361

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (net of tax – KZT nil) - 250

Net gain resulting on revaluation of available-for-sale investments during the period (net of 
tax – KZT nil) 2,064 1,849 

Reclassification adjustment relating to available-for-sale investments disposed of in the 
period (net of tax – KZT nil) (1,226) (1,046)

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 838 1,053

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Revaluation of buildings 181 4,625

Transfer of revaluation reserve for property and equipment to retained earnings (181) -

Total items that will not reclassified to profit or loss - 4,625

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER INCOME TAX 838 5,678

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 29,709 11,039

Attributable to:

Owners of the Parent Bank 29,638 10,989

Non-controlling interest 71 50

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 29,709 11,039

G.A. Khussainov
Chairman of the Management Board 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Ye.А. Assylbek
Managing Director 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

A.T. Nurgaliyeva
Chief Accountant

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, unless otherwise stated)

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 8 to 96 were approved by Management Board on 15 March 2018 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Explanatory notes as set out on pages 16 to 96 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note
31 December

2017
31 December

2016

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 12 188,056 258,787
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 13 33,592 54,492
Available-for-sale investments 14 150,135 106,139
Investments held-to-maturity - 34,191
Due from banks 15 13,140 6,834
Loans to customers and banks 16 831,251 818,742
Current income tax assets 712 71
Property, equipment and intangible assets 17 40,820 38,950
Other assets 18 72,792 44,045

TOTAL ASSETS 1,330,498 1,362,251

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 13 9,199 9,227
Due to banks and financial institutions 19 98,791 109,649
Customer and banks accounts 20 976,952 1,053,902
Debt securities issued 21 17,328 24,809
Deferred income tax liabilities 10 9,580 2,381
Subordinated bonds 22 75,454 53,333
Other liabilities 23 14,311 9,685

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,201,615 1,262,986

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:

Share capital 24 69,569 69,789
Available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve  (1,101) (1,939)
Property revaluation reserve 4,444 4,625
Retained earnings 55,575 26,387

Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent Bank 128,487 98,862

Non-controlling interest 396 403

Total equity 128,883 99,265
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,330,498 1,362,251

Book value per ordinary share (KZT) 11 700 522
Book value per preference share (KZT) 11 300 300

G.A. Khussainov
Chairman of the Management Board 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Ye.А. Assylbek
Managing Director 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

A.T. Nurgaliyeva
Chief Accountant

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017   
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, unless otherwise stated
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017   
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, unless otherwise stated

Year ended
31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December 2016 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received 92,235 85,366
Interest paid (63,573) (68,838)
Fee and commission received 21,698 20,496
Fee and commission paid (1,916) (1,881)
Net foreign exchange gain 4,565 10,029
Other income (expenses) receipts (payments) 412 (4,123)
Operating expenses paid (26,990) (30,232)

Cash inflow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities  26,431 10,817

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 18,819 47,042
Due from banks (6,388) 3,451
Loans to customers and banks (58,202) 97,393
Other assets (4,502) (10,683)

Changes in operating liabilities:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (356) (208)
Due to banks and financial institutions (10,307) (70,987)
Customer and banks accounts (73,694) (16,488)
Other liabilities (1,075) (779)

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities before tax (109,274) 59,558

Income tax paid (641) (1,366)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (109,915) 58,192

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds on disposal and redemption of available-for-sale investments 730,083 395,946
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (747,223) (405,295)
Proceeds on disposal and redemption of investments held-to-maturity 11,773 6,490
Purchase of investments held to maturity (1,590) (34,830)
Net cash outflow from disposal of LLC Bank BCC-Moscow - (4,676)
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets (4,405) (1,470)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 275 66

Net cash used in investing activities (11,087) (43,769)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017   
(in millions of Kazakhstani tenge, unless otherwise stated

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 8 to 96 were approved by Management Board on 15 March 2018 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Explanatory notes as set out on pages 16 to 96 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Year ended
31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December 2016 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

(Repurchase)/sale of treasury shares, net (220) 48

Receipts from debt securities issued 2,569 -

Repurchase and repayment of debt securities issued (10,000) (2,062)

Receipts from subordinated bonds 60,000 -

Repayment of subordinated bonds (3,000) (9,000)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 49,349 (11,014)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash 
equivalents 922 (2,696)

NET DECREASE/(INCREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (70,731) 713

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the period 258,787 258,074

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the period (Note 12) 188,056 258,787

G.A. Khussainov
Chairman of the Management Board 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Ye.А. Assylbek
Managing Director 

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan

A.T. Nurgaliyeva
Chief Accountant

15 March 2018
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

1. REPORTING ENTITY

(a) Principal activity 

JSC Bank CenterCredit (the “Bank”) is a Joint Stock Company, which has been incorporated and carrying out its operations in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan since 1988. The Bank is regulated by the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
(the “NBRK”) is a regulatory authority of the Bank. The Bank conducts its business under the license number 1.2.25/195/34, renewed on 28 
January 2015. 

The Bank's principal activity consists of commercial banking activities, trading with securities, foreign currencies and derivative instruments, loan 
origination activities and guarantees.

The Bank is a member of the Kazakhstan Deposit Insurance Fund (the “KDIF”). 

The registered address is 38, Al Farabi Ave., Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had 19 branches in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

The Bank is a parent company of a banking group (the “Group”), which consists of the following subsidiaries consolidated in its consolidated 
financial statements:

Ownership percentage

Name Country of operation 31 December 
2017

31 December
2016 Activity

LLP BCC-SAOO Republic of Kazakhstan 100% 100%
Management of distressed 

assets
JSC BCC Invest Republic of Kazakhstan 95.19% 95.19% Brokerage and dealer activity
LLP Center Leasing Republic of Kazakhstan - 90.75% Finance lease

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the number of ordinary shares was allocated as follows:

31 December
2017

%

31 December
2016 

%
B.R. Baiseitov 43.89 31.46
Tsesnabank JSC 29.56 -
Kookmin Bank - 29.56
IFC - 12.42
Other (individually hold less than 5%) 26.55 26.56

100.00 100.00

On 27 August 2008, Kookmin Bank (South Korea) purchased 23% of the Bank’s issued ordinary share capital. As at 

31 December 2016, Kookmin Bank’s share was 41.93% and the International Financial Corporation’s (“IFC”) share was 10% of the issued capital 
of the Bank.

In March 2017, the Bank’s shareholder Mr. Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov bought the Bank’s ordinary shares owed by the IFC in the amount of 
10% of the total amount of shares placed by the Bank. The date when changes were registered in the shareholder register is 15 March 2017. 

On 17 April 2017, the membership of the Bank’s shareholders has changed as follows: the shareholder of the Bank - Kookmin Bank, which 
owned 41.93% of the total amount of shares placed by the Bank sold its ordinary and preference shares to JSC Tsesna Bank, JSC Financial Holding 
“Tsesna” and Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Management Board of JSC Bank CenterCredit on 15 March 2018. 
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1. REPORTING ENTITY, CONTINUED

(b) Kazakhstan business environment

The Group’s operations are primarily located in Kazakhstan. Consequently, the Group is exposed to the economic and financial markets of 
Kazakhstan which display characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue development, but are subject 
to varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by 
entities operating in Kazakhstan. In addition, the depreciation of the Kazakhstan tenge which took place during 2015, and a reduction in the 
global price of oil, have increased the level of uncertainty in the business environment. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Kazakhstan business environment on the operations 
and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, 
available-for-sale financial assets are stated at fair value, buildings and constructions are measured at fair value, which increase is stated in the 
revaluation property reserve.   

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Bank and its subsidiaries is the Kazakhstan tenge (KZT) as, being the national currency of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, it reflects the economic substance of the majority of underlying events and circumstances relevant to them.

The KZT is also the presentation currency for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements.

Financial information presented in KZT is rounded to the nearest million.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies is described in the following 
notes:

•	 estimates of impairment of loans and customers and banks – Note 16;

•	 estimates of fair values of financial assets and liabilities – Note 32;

•	 estimated of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – Note 13;

•	 estimates of fair value of subordinated bonds issued – Note 22.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, CONTINUED  

(e) Changes in accounting policies and presentation

The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards with a date of initial application of 1 January 2017 Disclosure Initiative 
(Amendments to IAS 7). 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows has been amended as part of the IASB’s broader disclosure initiative to improve presentation and disclosure in 
financial statements. The amendment requires disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash changes. One way to meet this new disclosure requirement is to 
provide a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities. However, the objective could also 
be achieved in other ways.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESЫ

The accounting policies set out below are applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, except as 
explained in note 2(e), which addresses changes in accounting policies.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as the fair value of the consideration transferred (including the fair value of any previously-
held equity interest in the acquiree if the business combination is achieved in stages) and the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. When the excess is 
negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The Group elects on transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interests at fair value, or at their proportionate share of 
the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree, at the acquisition date.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination are expensed as incurred.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In particular, the Group consolidates 
investees that it controls on the basis of de facto circumstances, including cases when protective rights arising from collateral agreements on 
lending transactions become significant. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

(iii) Funds management

The Group manages and administers assets held in unit trusts and other investment vehicles on behalf of investors. The financial statements of 
these entities are not included in these consolidated financial statements except when the Group controls the entity. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED  

(а) Basis of consolidation, continued 

(iv) Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests

The Group accounts for the acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity 
holders. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

(v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except that they are only eliminated to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b) Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Bank.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from the equity attributable to 
equity holders of the Bank. Non-controlling interests in profit or loss and total comprehensive income are separately disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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(c) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at 
the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value is determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-
for-sale equity instruments unless the difference is due to impairment in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

(ii) Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the 
presentation currency at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to tenge at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 

(c) Foreign currency, continued 

(ii) Foreign operations, continued 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 
However, if the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to 
non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative 
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the 
Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint 
venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such item form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity.

The exchange rates used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at year-end are as follows:

31 December
2017  

31 December
20176 

KZT/EUR 398.23 352.42
KZT/USD 332.33 333.29
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(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances (nostro accounts) held with the NBRK and other banks, and 
highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair 
value, and are used by the Group in the management of short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

(e) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are:

- acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term;

- part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 
short-term profit-taking;

- derivative financial instruments (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instruments) 
or,

- upon initial recognition, designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group may designate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where either: 

- the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis;

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or

- the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the 
contract.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(e) Financial instruments, continued 

(i) Classification, continued

All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (positive fair value), as well as options purchased, are reported as assets. All trading derivatives in 
a net payable position (negative fair value), as well as options written, are reported as liabilities.

Management determines the appropriate classification of financial instruments in this category at the time of the initial recognition. Derivative 
financial instruments and financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition are not reclassified out of at 
fair value through profit or loss category. 

Financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss or 
available-for-sale category if the Group has an intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity. Other financial 
instruments may be reclassified out of at fair value through profit or loss category only in rare circumstances. Rare circumstances arise from a single 
event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than 
those that the Group:

- intends to sell immediately or in the near term;

- upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;

- upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale or;

- may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than those that:

- the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss

- the Group designates as available-for-sale or, meet the definition of loans and receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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(ii) Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the settlement date.

(iii) Measurement

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED    

(e) Financial instruments, continued 

(iii) Measurement, continued

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair values, without any deduction for 
transaction costs that may be incurred on their sale or other disposal, except for: 

- loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method;

- held-to-maturity investments that are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method;

- investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured 
which are measured at cost.

All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial 
asset carried at fair value does not qualify for derecognition, are measured at amortised cost.

(iv) Amortised cost

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction costs, are included 
in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of the instrument. 

(v) Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value 
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is 
regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on 
an ongoing basis. When there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the factors that market 
participants would take into account in these circumstances.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price, i.e., the fair value of the 
consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair 
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only 
data from observable markets, the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at 
initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the 
instrument, but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(e) Financial instruments, continued 

(v) Fair value measurement principles, continued 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long positions at the bid price and 
liabilities and short positions at the ask price.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change has 
occurred.
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(vi) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or liability is recognised as follows: 

- a gain or loss on a financial instrument classified as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss;

- a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised as other comprehensive income in equity (except for impairment losses and 
foreign exchange gains and losses on debt financial instruments available-for-sale) until the asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Interest in relation to an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method.

For financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when the financial asset or liability is 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset 
or liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position, but retains either all 
risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets 
are not derecognised. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(e) Financial instruments, continued 

(vii) Derecognition, continued 

In transactions where the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, it derecognises 
the asset if control over the asset is lost. 

In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, 
determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the consolidated statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying 
amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in gains or losses arising from early retirement of debt.

The Group writes off assets deemed to be uncollectible.

(viii) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under sale and repurchase (repo) agreements are accounted for as secured financing transactions, with the securities retained in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and the counterparty liability included in amounts payable under repo transactions within deposits 
and balances from banks or current accounts and deposits from customers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices 
represents interest expense and is recognised in profit or loss over the term of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repo) are recorded as amounts receivable under reverse repo transactions within loans to 
banks or loans to customers, as appropriate. The difference between the purchase and resale prices represents interest income and is recognised in 
profit or loss over the term of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.

If assets purchased under an agreement to resell are sold to third parties, the obligation to return securities is recorded as a trading liability and 
measured at fair value.

(ix) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments include swaps, forwards, futures, spot transactions and options in interest rates, foreign exchanges, precious 
metals and stock markets, and any combinations of these instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Although the Group trades in derivative instruments for risk hedging purposes, these instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
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  3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(e) Financial instruments, continued 

(x) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off if that right is not contingent on a future event and 
enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all counterparties.

(f) Property and equipment and intangible assets

(i) Owned assets

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, except for buildings and constructions, 
which are stated at revalued amounts as described below. 

Where an item of property and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property and equipment. 

Buildings and constructions are subject to revaluation on a regular basis. The frequency of revaluation depends on the movements in the fair values 
of the buildings being revalued. Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of buildings and constructions is credited to the property and 
equipment revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an expense, 
in which case the increase is credited to the consolidated income statement to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying 
amount arising on the revaluation of such buildings and constructions is charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, 
held in the property and equipment revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

(ii) Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets. Depreciation commences on 
the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and ready for use. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings and other constructions  1.25-2.50%

Furniture and computers    6.50-20.00%

Intangible assets     12.00-60.00%

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(g) Investment property 

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in normal course of 
business, or for the use in production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is initially recognised at 
the cost of acquisition, including acquisition costs. Subsequently the investment property is recognised at cost net of accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives 
range from 10 to 40 years.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its 
cost for subsequent accounting.

(h) Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than 
through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal 
group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally, the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. 
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(i) Impairment 

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. If any such evidence exists, the Group determines the amount of any impairment loss.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset (a loss event) and that event (or 
events) has had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, breach of loan covenants or conditions, 
restructuring of financial asset or group of financial assets that the Group would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will 
enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, deterioration in the value of collateral, or other observable data related to 
a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in 
the group.

In addition, for an investment in an equity security available-for-sale a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 
evidence of impairment.

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Financial assets carried at amortised cost consist principally of loans and other receivables (loans and receivables). The Group reviews its loans and 
receivables to assess impairment on a regular basis. 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans and receivables that are individually significant, 
and individually or collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed loan or receivable, whether significant or not, it includes the loan or receivable in a group of loans 
and receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans and receivables that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(i) Impairment, continued

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost, continued  

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or receivable has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the loan or receivable and the present value of estimated future cash flows including amounts recoverable from 
guarantees and collateral discounted at the loan or receivable’s original effective interest rate. Contractual cash flows and historical loss experience 
adjusted on the basis of relevant observable data that reflect current economic conditions provide the basis for estimating expected cash flows.

In some cases the observable data required to estimate the amount of an impairment loss on a loan or receivable may be limited or no longer fully 
relevant to current circumstances. This may be the case when a borrower is in financial difficulties and there is little available historical data related 
to similar borrowers. In such cases, the Group uses its experience and judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss. 

All impairment losses in respect of loans and receivables are recognised in profit or loss and are only reversed if a subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. The Group writes off a loan balance (and any 
related allowances for loan losses) when management determines that the loans are uncollectible and when all necessary steps to collect the loan 
are completed. 

(ii) Financial assets carried at cost 

Financial assets carried at cost include unquoted equity instruments included in available-for-sale financial assets that are not carried at fair value 
because their fair value cannot be reliably measured. If there is objective evidence that such investments are impaired, the impairment loss is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

All impairment losses in respect of these investments are recognised in profit or loss and cannot be reversed.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets  

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that is recognised in other 
comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
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The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of 
any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in 
impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an 
impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent 
recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(iv) Non financial assets

Other non financial assets, other than deferred taxes, are assessed at each reporting date for any indications of impairment. The recoverable 
amount of goodwill is estimated at each reporting date. The recoverable amount of non financial assets is the greater of their fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(i) Impairment, continued 

(iv) Non financial assets, continued

All impairment losses in respect of non financial assets are recognised in profit or loss and reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. Any impairment loss reversed is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. An 
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(j) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(k) Credit related commitments

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into credit related commitments, comprising undrawn loan commitments, letters of credit and 
guarantees, and provides other forms of credit insurance. 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee liability is recognised initially at fair value net of associated transaction costs, and is measured subsequently at the higher of 
the amount initially recognised, less cumulative amortisation or the amount of provision for losses under the guarantee. Provisions for losses under 
financial guarantees and other credit related commitments are recognised when losses are considered probable and can be measured reliably. 

Financial guarantee liabilities and provisions for other credit related commitment are included in other liabilities.

Loan commitments are not recognised, except in the following cases:

- loan commitments that the Group designates as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;

- if the Group has a past practice of selling the assets resulting from its loan commitments shortly after origination, then the loan commitments in 
the same class are treated as derivative instruments;

- loan commitments that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument;

- commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate.

(l) Share capital 

(i) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(ii) Preference share capital 

Preference share capital that is non-redeemable and carries no mandatory dividends is classified as equity. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(l) Share capital, continued 

(iii) Repurchase of share capital

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognised as 
a decrease in equity. 

(iv) Dividends

The ability of the Group to declare and pay dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the period when they are declared.

(m) Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items of other 
comprehensive income or transactions with shareholders recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised within other comprehensive 
income or directly within equity.

Current tax

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from 
dividends.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: 

— goodwill not deductible for tax purposes;

— the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss; and

— temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that where the parent is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant 
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future 
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in 
the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(m) Taxation, continued

Deferred tax, continued

In accordance with the tax legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, tax losses and current tax assets of a company in the Group may not be set 
off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other Group companies. In addition, the tax base is determined separately for each of the 
Group’s main activities and, therefore, tax losses and taxable profits related to different activities cannot be offset.

(n) Income and expense recognition

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Financial instruments at fair value through fair value at profit are recognised at fair value with revaluation being stated in profit or loss.  Accrued 
discounts and premiums are recognised in profit net of losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loan origination fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the overall profitability of a loan, together with the 
related transaction costs, are deferred and amortised to interest income over the estimated life of the financial instrument using the effective 
interest method.

Other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are recognised in profit or loss when the corresponding service is provided.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the dividend is declared.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received 
are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

(o) Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of a Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses 
(including revenues and expenses related to transactions with other components of the same Group); whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, 
and for which discrete financial information is available.

(p) Presentation of the comparatives 

Comparative information is reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

Reclassifications in the consolidated financial statements for the previous year

During the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, management made certain 
reclassifications affecting the corresponding figures to conform to the presentation of consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2017.
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As previously reported
Effect of 

reclassifications As reclassified 

Consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2016  

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 246,044 12,743 258,787

Obligatory reserves 12,743 (12,743) -

LIABILITIES 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  - 9,227 9,227

Other liabilities 18,912 (9,227) 9,685

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
31 December 2016  

Cash flows from operating activities

Net receipts from foreign exchange - 10,029 10,029

Net cash provided from operating activities before changes in operating 
assets and liabilities  788 10,029 10,817

Change in operating assets:

Obligatory reserves 3,208 (3,208) -

Change in operating liabilities:

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - (208) (208)

Customer and bank accounts (6,459) (10,029) (16,488)

Other liabilities (987) 208 (779)

Cash flows from operating activities before income taxes 62,766 (3,208) 59,558

Net cash flows from operating activities 61,400 (3,208) 58,192

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,921 (3,208) 713

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period 242,123 15,951 258,074

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period 246,044 12,743 258,787

The above reclassifications do not impact the Group’s performance or equity.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(p) Presentation of the comparatives, continued 

The effects from reclassifications on the corresponding figures may be as follows:
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(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018, with early adoption permitted. It replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

In October 2017, the IASB issued Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9). The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted. 

The Group has not applied early IFRS 9 in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

The Group will apply IFRS 9 as issued in July 2014 initially on 1 January 2018 and will early adopt the amendments to IFRS 9 on the same date. 
Based on assessments completed up to date, the total effect (net of tax) from the adoption of IFRS  9 to be stated in the opening balance of the 
Group’s equity at 1 January 2018 is estimated as equal to KZT 16 billion, including. 

— decrease by approximately KZT 17 billion related to application of the impairment-related requirements; 

— decrease by approximately KZT 3 billion related to application requirements related to modified assets other than requirements related to 
impairment; 

— increase by approximately KZT 600 million related to recognition of the effect of deferred assets and increase in the current income tax by 
approximately KZT 3,4 billion.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments, continued

The above assessment is preliminary as transition to the new standard has not been finalised yet. The actual impact of adopting IFRS 9 on 1 
January 2018 may change because: 

— IFRS 9 will require the Group to revise its accounting processes and internal controls and these changes are not yet complete; 

— the Group has not finalised the testing and assessment of controls over its new IT systems and changes to its governance framework; 

— the Group is refining and finalising its models for ECL calculations; and 

— the new accounting policies, assumptions, judgements and estimation techniques employed are subject to change until the Group finalises its 
first financial statements that include the date of initial application.

Classification – Financial assets

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model in which assets are managed 
and their cash flow characteristics. 

IFRS 9 includes three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). It eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables 
and available for sale. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

— it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

— its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

— it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

— its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair 
value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial 
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recognition the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. 

Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. Instead, the hybrid 
financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Business model assessment

The Group will make an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best 
reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information that will be considered includes: 

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice, including whether management’s strategy 
focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of assets; 

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks are 
managed; 

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. However, 
information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for 
managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

Financial assets that are held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis will be measured at 
FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as 
consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group will consider the contractual terms of 
the instrument. This will include assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group will consider: 

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 

- leverage features; 

- prepayment and extension terms; 

- terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets – e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements; and 

- features that modify consideration for the time value of money – e.g. periodic reset of interest rates. 

All of the Group’s retail loans and certain fixed-rate corporate loans contain prepayment features. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, continued 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract. 

In addition, a prepayment feature is treated as consistent with this criterion if a financial asset is acquired or originated at a premium or discount 
to its contractual par amount, the prepayment amount substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual 
interest (which may also include reasonable compensation for early termination), and the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant on 
initial recognition.
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Impact assessment

The standard will affect the classification and measurement of financial assets held as at 1 January 2018 as follows. 

— Trading assets and derivatives held for risk management, which are classified as held for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss 
in accordance with IAS 39 shall be also measured at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.

— Loans and advances to banks and to customers that are classified as loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost under IAS 39 will in 
general also be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. 

— Debt investment securities that are classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 may, under IFRS 9, be measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or 
FVTPL, depending on the particular circumstances.

— Most of equity securities classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 will be measured at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.  

  

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Impairment – Financial assets, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ (ELC) model. This will require considerable 
judgement over how changes in economic factors affect ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis. 

The new impairment model applies to the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

— financial assets that are debt instruments; 

— lease receivables; and 

— loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts issued (previously, impairment was measured under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets). 

Under IFRS 9, no impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 

IFRS 9 requires a loss allowance to be recognised at an amount equal to either 12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result 
from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

The Group will recognise loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except in the following cases, for which the amount recognised will 
be 12-month ECLs: 

— debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a debt security to have low 
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment-grade’; and 

— other financial instruments (except for lease receivables) for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are complex and require management judgements, estimates and assumptions, particularly in the 
following areas, which are discussed in detail below: 

— assessing whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition; and 

— incorporating forward-looking information into the measurement of ECLs.

Impact assessment 

New requirements related to impairment will have, as expected, the most significant impact on the Group’s financial statements due to entry into 
effect of IFRS 9.  Application of a new impairment model in accordance with IFRS 9 will result in the increase of impairment losses and their higher 
volatility. 

According to Group’s assessments, if IFRS 9 is applied as at 1 January 2018, the estimated loss allowances (before taxes) will increased by 
approximately KZT 17 billion. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

Measurement of ECLs
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ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and will be measured as follows: 

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired and have no significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date: expected credit risks will be 
measured by weighting probability of occurrence of 12-month ECL;

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired but for which a significant increase in credit risk is identified at the reporting date: expected credit 
risks will be measured by weighting probability of occurrence of lifetime ECL;

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: these assets will be recognised as default assets and expected credit losses will 
be measured for the remaining lending period as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows;

— undrawn loan commitments: the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of 
commitment on loan issue will use its rights to get a loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive of the loan is extended; and 

— financial guarantee contracts: the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group expects to 
recover. 

Definition of default

Under IFRS 9, the Group will consider a financial asset to be in default when: 

— the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any 
is held); or 

— the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Group assessed on a collective basis and more than 60 days 
past due on credit obligations assessed on the individual basis. Overdrafts are considered past due once the customer has breached an advised limit 
or been advised of a limit that is smaller than the current amount outstanding. 

— the contingent liabilities and letters of credit – non-fulfilment of liabilities of a counteragent (principal) on the contractual terms, as a result of 
which an obligation arises for the Bank to make payment under a financial guarantee (to beneficiary).

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group will consider indicators that are: 

— qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant; 

— quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same issuer to the Group; and 

— based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in 
circumstances. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Credit risk grades 

The Group will allocate each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and 
applying experienced credit judgement. The Group will use these grades in identifying significant increases in credit risk under IFRS 9. Credit risk 
grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default. These factors may vary depending on the 
nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates – e.g. 
the difference in the risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3. 

Each exposure will be allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower. Exposures will be 
subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade.

Generating the term structure of PD

Credit risk grades will be a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Group will collect performance and 
default information about its credit risk exposures analysed by jurisdiction, by type of product and borrower and by credit risk grading. For some 
portfolios, information purchased from external credit reference agencies may also be used. 

The Group will employ statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how 
these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. 

This analysis will include the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic 
factors, as well as in-depth analysis of the impact of certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) on the risk of default.
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Significant increase in credit risk

Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group will consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the Group’s historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking 
information. 

The Group will primarily identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing: 

- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; and

- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated on initial recognition of the exposure. 

Assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition of a financial instrument requires identifying the date of initial 
recognition of the instrument. Modifying the contractual terms of a financial instrument may also affect this assessment, which is discussed below.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Group has established a framework that incorporates both quantitative and qualitative information to determine whether the credit risk on 
a particular financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. The framework aligns with the Group’s internal credit risk 
management process. The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly will vary by portfolio and will include a backstop 
based on delinquency.  

 

 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Significant increase in credit risk, continued

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly, continued

In certain instances, using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Group may determine that an exposure 
has undergone a significant increase in credit risk if particular qualitative factors indicate so and those indicators may not be fully captured by its 
quantitative analysis on a timely basis. As a backstop, and as required by IFRS 9, the Group will presumptively consider that a significant increase in 
credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. 

The Group will monitor the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that: 

— the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default; 

— the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due; 

— the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable; 

— exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and 

— there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL measurements.

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, customer retention and other 
factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be 
derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value. 

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and 
minimise the risk of default. Under the Group’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a customer-by-customer basis if the debtor is 
currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. 

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. 
Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance policy. 

For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD will reflect whether the modification has improved or 
restored the Group’s ability to collect interest and principal and the Group’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, 
the Group will evaluate the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and consider various behavioural indicators. 

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of default and credit impairment and expectations of forbearance are relevant to assessing whether 
there is a significant increase in credit risk, except for the cases when forbearance has been due to the change in the Bank’s policy as related to the 
terms and conditions of the credit products, retention of customers, change in market conditions and other cases not related to deterioration of the 
borrower’s financial position.  Following forbearance, a customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time 
before the exposure is no longer considered to be in default/credit-impaired or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance 
reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Inputs into measurement of ECLs

The key inputs into the measurement of ECLs are likely to be the term structures of the following variables: 

— probability of default (PD); 

— loss given default (LGD); and 

— exposure at default (EAD). 

These parameters will be derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data that leverage regulatory models. They will be 
adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described below. 

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which will be calculated based on statistical rating models and assessed using rating tools tailored to 
the various categories of counterparties and exposures. 

These statistical models will be based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. Where it is available, market 
data may also be used to derive the PD for large corporate counterparties. If a counterparty or exposure migrates between rating classes, then this 
will lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD. PDs will be estimated considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated 
prepayment rates. 

Probability default (PD) for debt securities will be estimated according to the issuer’s rating. The international rating agencies will assign PD for 
each rating for the entire lifetime cycle.

Loss Given Default (LGD) is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The LGD models will consider the structure, collateral, seniority of 
the claim, counterparty industry and transaction costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates will be calibrated for 
different economic scenarios. They will be calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor.

Loss Given Default (LGD) for debt securities of an issuer that is a financial institution is generally equal to 70%.  LGD may be changed if there are 
special terms for issue of securities (e.g. security if available, etc.). To determine the LGD value for debt securities issued by other companies the 
Moody’s rating agency data concerning the repayment rate dependent on the rating is used as a basis. 

Exposure at Default (EAD) represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group will derive the EAD from the current exposure 
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract, including amortisation, and prepayments. The EAD 
of a financial asset will be the gross carrying amount at default. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD will consider the 
amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn or repaid under the contract, which will be estimated based on historical 
observations and forward-looking forecasts. For some financial assets, the Group will determine EAD by modelling the range of possible exposure 
outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical techniques. 

The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan 
commitment or guarantee. 

For retail overdrafts and credit card facilities and certain corporate revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment 
component, the Group will measure ECLs over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability to demand 
repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. These 
facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Group can cancel them with immediate effect 
but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit 
risk at the facility level. This longer period will be estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take 
and that serve to mitigate ECLs. These include a reduction in limits and cancellation of the facility. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, continued 

Inputs into measurement of ECLs, continued 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments will be grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics that include: 

— instrument type; 

— credit risk gradings; 

— industry, credit products and the borrower’s corporate form and other indicators of similar characteristics, on the basis of which the financial 
instruments may be grouped.

The groupings will be subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately homogeneous.

Forward-looking information 

Under IFRS 9, the Group will incorporate forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement of ECLs. The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk 
and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-
economic variable and credit risk and credit losses. This key driver is GDP forecasts. Predicted relationships between the key indicator and default 
and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on analysis of historical data for last 5 years.

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be applied retrospectively, except as described below. 

- The Group will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative information for prior periods with respect to classification 
and measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from 
the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. 

- The following assessments have to be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial application. 

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held. 

- The designation at the Group’s discretion and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and financial liabilities as measured 
at FVTPL.

If a debt investment security has low credit risk at 1 January 2018, then the Group will determine that the credit risk on the asset has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.

(r) Other standards 

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements:

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

(r) Other standards, continued

- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

- IFRS 16 Leases;

- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle – Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28;

- Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2);

- Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40);

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28);

- IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration;

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.
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Year ended
31 December 2017 

Year ended
31 December 2016 

Interest income:

Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortised cost:

- interest income on unimpaired assets 77,179 72,161

- interest income on impaired assets 22,846 13,944

Interest income on financial assets recorded at fair value 9,913 8,438

Total interest income 109,938 94,543

Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortised cost comprises:

Interest on loans to customers and banks 97,574 83,203

Interest on investments held to maturity 1,137 1,029

Penalties on loans to customers and banks 625 760

Interest on due from banks 689 1,113

100,025 86,105

Interest income on financial assets recorded at fair value:

Interest income on available-for-sale investments 8,656 7,377

Interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,257 1,061

9,913 8,438

Total interest income 109,938 94,543

Interest expense:

Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost (62,438) (68,224)

Total interest income (62,438) (68,224)

Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost:

Interest on customer and bank accounts (46,640) (49,424)

Interest on debt securities issued (2,666) (3,093)

Interest on due to banks and financial institutions (7,286) (9,918) 

Interest on subordinated bonds (5,846) (5,789)

Total interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost (62,438) (68,224)

47,500 26,319

Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the method of unwinding of discount. The present value of future cash flows increases due to the passage of 
time thus reducing the allowance for impairment losses. This is referred to as the unwinding effect that is disclosed in Note 5.

4. NET INTEREST INCOME
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6. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended
31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December 2016

Realised gain/(loss) on trading operations 119 (34)

Unrealised loss on operations with derivative financial instruments (694) (2,164)

Unrealised loss on movement in fair value adjustment (835) (1,429)

Realised (loss)/gain on operations with derivative financial instruments (1,037) 1,415

(2,447) (2,212)

7. NET GAIN ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPERATIONS

Year ended  
31 December 2017

Year ended  
31 December 2016

Dealing, net 5,487 7,333

Translation differences, net 2,267 (933)

7,754 6,400

8. FEE AND COMISSION INCOME

Year ended  
31 December 2017

Year ended  
31 December 2016

Settlements 6,166 5,952 

Payment cards 5,352 4,481

Cash operations 4,702 5,184

Guarantees issued 3,088 2,649

Foreign exchange operations 708 1,152

Custodian activities 234 220

Documentary operations 129 102

Internet-banking services 123 262

Trust operations 26 29

Other 1,170 618

21,698 20,649
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9. OPERATING EXPENSES

Year ended
31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December 2016

Wages and salaries 12,662 14,072
Taxes other than income tax 3,141 2,567
Depreciation and amortisation  2,554 2,330
Administrative expenses 2,346 2,361
Contributions inDeposit Insurance Fund 2,229 2,765
Operating leases 1,685 1,881
Security and alarm expenses 730 746
Equipment repair and maintenance  622 335
Collection expenses 614 758
Telecommunications 556 542
Professional services 368 387
Advertising costs 293 180
Business trip expenses 286 231
Representation costs 48 -
Other expenses 165 1,577

28,299 30,732

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended
31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December 2016

Current income tax expense - 1,443
Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities due to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences and movement in valuation allowance 7,199 457
Total income tax expense 7,199 1,900

In 2017, the applicable tax rate for current and deferred tax is 20% (2016: 20%).

Reconciliation of effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December:

31 December 
2017 %

31 December 
2016 % 

Profit before tax 36,070 5,293

Income tax at the applicable tax rate 7,214 20.00 1,059 20.00
Non-taxable interest and other income on transactions with 
state and other qualified securities (2,085) (5.78) (952) (17.99)
Movements in unrecognised deferred tax assets 4 0.01 - -
Non-deductible provisions for doubtful debt - - 918 17.34
Non-deductible operating and other expenses 2,066 5.73 875 16.53

7,199 19.96 1,900 35.88
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE, CONTINUED 

(а) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes give rise to net deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. These deferred tax assets are recognised in these consolidated 
financial statements.

Movements in temporary differences during the 2017 and 2016 are presented as follows.

2017
Balance 

1 January
2017 

Recognised
 in profit 

 or loss 

Recognised
 directly 

in equity

Balance
31 December

2017 
Accrued interest payable 133 (32) - 101
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 219 (106) - 113
Tax losses carried forward 125 46 - 171
Other 312 8 - 320
Discount on subordinated bonds - (6,987) - (6,987)
Property and equipment and intangible assets (3,170) (128) - (3,298)

(2,381) (7,199) - (9,580)

2016 
Balance 

1 January
2016 

Recognised
 in profit 

 or loss 

Recognised 
directly 

in equity

Balance
31 December

2016 
Accrued interest payable 192 (59) - 133
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 613 (394) - 219
Tax losses carried forward 127 (2) - 125
Other 181 131 - 312
Property and equipment and intangible assets (1,881) (133) (1,156) (3,170)

(768) (457) (1,156) (2,381)

As at the year ended 31 December 2017 the Group recognised a deferred tax liability of KZT 6,987 million resulted from recognition of discount on subordinated 
loans issued (Note 22). Income in the form of recognised discount is not included in taxable income in accordance with Article 84, point 2, sub-point 7 of the Tax 
Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income for the period attributable to equity holders of the Parent Bank by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the period.

Year ended
31 December

2017 

Year ended
31 December

20176

Basic earnings per share
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank 28,800 5,311

Less: profit from discontinued operations used in calculation of basic earnings per share 
from discontinued operations - (1,968)

Less: additional dividends payable upon full distributions of profit to the preferred share 
holders (5,645) (652)
Net earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 23,155 2,691

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of basic earnings per share 161,885,749 161,847,623

Basic earnings per share (KZT), continuing operations 143.03 16.63
Basic earnings per share (KZT), discontinued operations - 12.16
Diluted earnings per share 
Net earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 23,155 2,691

Add: additional dividends payable upon full distributions of profit to the preferred share 
holders 5,645 652

Earnings used in calculation of diluted earnings per share 28,800 3,343

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 161,885,749 161,847,623

Shares deemed to be issued:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued for the convertible 
preferred shares 39,249,255 39,249,255

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of calculation of diluted 
earnings per share 201,135,004 201,096,878

Diluted earnings per share (KZT), continuing operations 143.19 16.62

Basic earnings per share (KZT), all operations 143.19 26.41

The Group has calculated the book value of one share per each class of shares in accordance with the methodology for computation of the book 
value of one share provided by KASE.
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The book value of one share per each class of shares as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Class of shares

Outstanding 
shares  

(number of 
shares)

Amount for 
calculation of 

book value
KZT million 

Book value  of 
one share,

KZT

Outstanding 
shares

(number of 
shares)

Amount for 
calculation of 

book value
KZT million

Book value  of 
one share,

KZT
       
Ordinary shares 161,003,835 112,642 700 162,056,950 84,669 522
Preference shares 39,249,255 11,775 300 39,249,255 11,775 300
 124,417 96,444

The book value of one preference share is calculated as the ratio of the amount of equity attributable to preference shares to the outstanding 
number of preference shares as at the reporting date. The book value of one ordinary share is calculated as the ratio of the amount of net asset 
value of the Group for ordinary shares to the outstanding number of ordinary shares as at the reporting date.  The net asset value of the Group for 
ordinary shares is calculated as the total equity net of intangible assets and the amount of equity attributable to preference shares as at reporting 
date.  Outstanding number of ordinary and preference shares is calculated as outstanding shares authorized and issued net of repurchased shares 
by the Group as at the reporting date. 

The management of the Group believes that the Group fully complies with the requirement of KASE as at the reporting date. 

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
31 December

 2017
31 December

 2016
Cash on hand 33,159 51,195
Nostro accounts with NBRK 127,720 170,097
Nostro accounts with other banks
- rated AА- to АA+ 6,314 5,248
- rated A- to А+ 8,426 16,560
- rated BBB- to BBB+ 3,506 10,897
- rated BB- to BB+ 1,077 621
- rated B- to B+ 188 125
- not rated 650 222
Total Nostro accounts with other banks 20,161 33,673
Term deposits with other banks
- rated BBB- to BBB+ - 2,735
- rated BB- to BB+ 3,323 -
- rated B- to B+ 3,693 1,061
- not rated - 26
Total current accounts and term deposits with other banks 7,016 3,822
Total cash and cash equivalents 188,056 258,787

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard & Poor’s ratings agency or analogues of similar international rating agencies. 
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No cash and cash equivalents are impaired or past due as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group has 1 bank (31 December 2016: 2 banks), whose balances exceed 10% of equity. The gross value of these 
balances as at 31 December 2017 is KZT 127,720 million (31 December 2016: KZT 186,293 million).

Minimum reserve requirements

As at 31 December 2017 minimum reserve requirements are calculated in accordance with regulations issued by the NBRK. To meet the 
requirements the Bank places cash in reserve assets, which should be maintained at the level not less than average of cash on hand in the national 
currency and balances on current account with the NBRK in the national currency for a 4-week period, calculated as certain minimum level of 
residents' and non-residents' customer deposits and current accounts balances as well as other Bank’s liabilities. As at 31 December 2017 the 
minimum reserve requirements amounted to KZT 11,599 million (31 December 2016: KZT 12,743 million) and reserve asset amounted to KZT 
23,932 million (31 December 2016: KZT 28,274 million).

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

Nominal interest 
rate, %

30 December 
2017 

Nominal interest 
rate, %

30 December 
2016 

ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments
   Foreign currency contracts - 19,495 - 41,953

19,495 - 41,953

Trading securities
Debt securities
   Government bonds of the Republic of Kazakhstan 3.87-9.60 3,086 5.50-6.00 3,237
   Corporate bonds 4.63-15.00 9,278 0.00-15.00 8,428
Equity securities*
   Shares of Kazakhstan corporations - 637 - 538
   Shares of International corporations - 22 - -

13,023 12,203
Pledged under sale and repurchase agreements
 - Treasury bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan 9.50-9.70 472 11.50-11.80 336
 - Corporate bonds 11.20-11.50 602 - -

33,592 54,492

LIABILITIES
Derivative financial instruments
   Foreign currency contracts - (9,199) - (9,227)

(9,199) (9,227)

* Ownership interest in equity securities is below 1%
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The credit quality of debt securities at fair value through profit or loss balances may be summarised based on Standard and Poor’s ratings or other 
international rating agencies as follows at 31 December 2017:

Corporate bonds
Government bonds of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan Total

- rated from BBB- to BBB+ 479 3,558 4,037

- rated from BB- to BB+ 1,332 - 1,332

- rated from B- to B+ 8,069 - 8,069

9,880 3,558 13,438

The credit quality of debt securities at fair value through profit or loss balances may be summarised based on Standard and Poor’s ratings or other 
international rating agencies as follows at 31 December 2016:

Corporate bonds
Government bonds of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan Total

- rated from BBB- to BBB+ 1,720 3,573 5,293

- rated from BB- to BB+ 3,556 - 3,556

- rated from B- to B+ 3,152 - 3,152

8,428 3,573 12,001

None of the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are past due. 

Foreign currency contracts 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group has the following derivative financial instruments:

Type of 
financial 
instrument

Notional 
amount

Maturity 
date

Weighted 
average 

contractual 
exchange rates

Amounts 
payable by 
the Group

Amounts 
receivable 

by the Group
Fair value 

of asset
Fair value 
of liability

31 December 2017

Currency swaps 
with NBRK 
(up to 1 year)

USD 
131,000,000 

September-
October 2018 181.80 KZT 23,816 million

USD 
131,000,000 19,495 -

Currency swaps 
with other 
parties

KZT 11,111 
million

September 
2018 182.15 USD 61,000,000

KZT 11,111 
million - (8,471)

Option
KZT 1,622 

million
September 

2019 182.05 -
KZT 1,622 

million - (728)

 19,495 (9,199)
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, CONTINUED 

Type of financial 
instrument

Notional 
amount

Maturity 
date

Weighted 
average 

contractual 
exchange 

rates

Amounts 
payable 

by the Group

Amounts 
receivable by 

the Group
Fair value

 of asset
Fair value 
of liability

31 December 2016

Currency swaps with 
NBRK (up to 1 year)

USD 
215,000,000 

March – 
October 2017 181.98

KZT 39,126 
million

USD 
215,000,000 32,665 -

Currency swaps with 
NBRK (up to 5 years)

USD 
61,000,000

September 
2019 182.02

KZT 11,111 
million

USD 
61,000,000 9,288 -

Currency swaps with 
other parties (up to 5 
years)

USD 
61,000,000

September 
2019 182.15

USD 
61,000,000

KZT 11,111 
million - (8,424)

Option
KZT 1,622 

million
September 

2019 182.05 -
KZT 1,622 

million - (803)

41,953 (9,227)

As at 31 December 2017, included into derivative financial instruments was a currency swap contracts concluded in 2014 with the NBRK, 
according to which the Group has to provide the sum of KZT 23,816 million in exchange for USD 131,000,000 in 2018. Under the contracts, 
the Group has recognised interest expense of KZT 1,616 million (31 December 2016: KZT 1,946 million), which equates to 3% p.a. in KZT at 
inception. The NBRK has a right to terminate the contract at any time prior to the maturity.  As at 31 December 2017 the fair value of the swaps 
amounted to KZT 19,495 million (31 December 2016: KZT 41,953 million).

Approach to derivative transactions

The Group enters into swap agreements and other types of over-the-counter transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions.  
A swap involves the exchange by the Group with another party of their respective commitments to pay or receive cash flows, e.g. an exchange of 
floating rate payments for fixed-rate payments. 

Swap agreements and similar transactions can be individually negotiated and structured to include exposure to a variety of different types of 
investments or market factors.  Depending on their structures, swap agreements may increase or decrease the Group’s exposure to long or short-
term interest rates, foreign currency values, corporate borrowing rates, or other factors such as security prices or inflation rates. The value of the 
swap positions increases or decreases depending on the changes in value of the underlying rates or currency values. Depending on how they are 
used, swap agreements may increase or decrease the overall volatility of the Group’s investments. 

The Group’s ability to meet its objectives in entering into such transactions will depend on the ability of the financial institution with which it enters 
into the transaction to meet their obligations to the Group. If a counterparty’s creditworthiness declines, the value of the agreement would be 
likely to decline, potentially resulting in losses.  If a default occurs by the other party to such transaction, the Group will have contractual remedies 
pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction, which may be limited by applicable law in the case of the counterparty’s insolvency.
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14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Nominal interest 
rate, %

31 December
2017

Nominal interest 
rate, %

31 December
2016

Debt securities

   Government bonds of the Republic of Kazakhstan 3.87-11.00 31,840 3.87-7.13 25,162
   Corporate bonds 3.88-11.00 48,958 0.00-9.13 34,814

Discounted notes - 65,393 - 43,862
Equity securities
   Shares of Kazakhstan corporations - 131 - 130
   Shares of International corporations - 20 - 18
Pledged under sale and repurchase agreements
 - Treasury bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan 4.00-8.99 3,793 11.50-12.00 20
 - NBRK discounted notes - - - 2,133

150,135 106,139

During the period ended 31 December 2017, the Group reclassified debt financial instruments from held-to-maturity investments to available-for-
sale investments in the amount of KZT 21,740 million due to the sale of debt financial instruments from the held-to-maturity investments portfolio 
prior maturity. The Group may not classify any debt financial instruments as held-to-maturity during the two subsequent financial years.

The credit quality of debt securities available for sale may be summarised based on Standard and Poor’s ratings or other international rating 
agencies’ ratings as follows at 31 December 2017:

Corporate bonds 
NBRK discounted 

notes

Government bonds 
of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan Total
Not overdue
- NBRK - 65,393 - 65,393
- rated from BBB- to BBB+ 7,313 - 35,633 42,946
- rated from BB- to BB+ 38,303 - - 38,303
- rated from B- to B+ 3,342 - - 3,342

48,958 65,393 35,633 149,984

The credit quality of debt securities available for sale may be summarised based on Standard and Poor’s ratings or other international rating agen-
cies’ ratings as follows at 31 December 2016:

Corporate bonds 
NBRK discounted 

notes

Government bonds 
of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan Total
Not overdue
- NBRK - 45,995 - 45,995
- rated from BBB- to BBB+ 8,574 - 25,182 33,756
- rated from BB- to BB+ 26,240 - - 26,240

34,814 45,995 25,182 105,991

No available-for-sale investments are overdue or impaired. 

122



123

15. DUE FROM BANKS

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Term deposit 
- conditional deposit with NBRK 1,275 1,057
- rated from A- to A+ 1,656 1,064
- rated from BBB- to BBB+ - 306
- с rated from BB- to BB+ 1,526 1,495
- rated from B- to B+ 8,638 2,900
- not rated 45 12
Total term deposits  13,140 6,834

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard&Poor’s credit ratings agency or analogues of similar international 
agencies.

No loans and advances to banks are overdue or impaired as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2017 a conditional deposit with the NBRK consists of funds of KZT 717 million (31 December 2016: KZT 327 million) 
received from the Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC (“DBK JSC”) and KZT 558 million (31 December 2016: KZT 730 million) received from 
DAMU Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC (“EDF DAMU JSC”) in accordance with the loan agreements with DBK JSC and EDF DAMU JSC. 
Funds will be distributed to small and medium businesses on preferential terms. These funds may be withdrawn from the conditional deposit only 
after approval of DBK JSC and EDF DAMU JSC, respectively.

Concentration of accounts and deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2017 the Group has no banks (2016: none) whose balances exceed 10% of equity.

16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS 

Movement in impairment allowance for loans to customers and banks for the twelve month periods ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is disclosed 
in Note 5.

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Loans to customers 890,230 847,945

Net investment in finance lease 4,156 4,186

Accrued interest 36,270 37,078

930,656 889,209

Less: impairment allowance (113,851) (93,454)

Total loans to consumers 816,805 795,755

Loans to banks 3 644

Accrued interest - 21

Less: impairment allowance - (13)

Total loans to banks 3 652

Loans under reverse repurchase agreements 14,443 22,335

Total loans to consumers and banks 831,251 818,742
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

Gross
 amount

Impairment 
allowance

Carrying 
amount 

Loans to corporate customers
Corporate loans 511,156 (95,177) 415,979
Small and medium-sized enterprises 65,368 (2,757) 62,611
Net investment in finance lease 4,156 - 4,156

Loans to retail customers
Mortgage loans 146,468 (4,450) 142,018
Consumer loans 113,905 (6,892) 107,013
Business development 84,533   (4,515) 80,018
Car loans 5,070   (60) 5,010

930,656 (113,851) 816,805

The following table provides information by types of loan products as at 31 December 2017:

Gross 
amount

Impairment
 allowance

Carrying 
amount 

Loans to corporate customers
Corporate loans 483,286 (77,932) 405,354 
Small and medium-sized enterprises 62,708  (2,191) 60,517
Net investment in finance lease 4,186  (23) 4,163

Loans to retail customers
Mortgage loans 146,212  (2,585) 143,627
Consumer loans 110,026  (4,140) 105,886
Business development 76,612  (6,551) 70,061
Car loans 6,179  (32) 6,147

889,209 (93,454) 795,755

The following table provides information by types of loan products as at 31 December 2016:
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(a) Credit quality of corporate loans and loans to small and medium-sized enterprises

Analysis by credit quality of corporate loans and loans to small and medium-sized enterprises outstanding as at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016 was as follows:

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Loans to corporate customers
Corporate loans
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Standard loans, not overdue 268,917 252,067
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 4,181 1,414
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 273,098 253,481
Impaired loans measured on a collective basis 
Not overdue loans 8,835 38,538
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis   8,835 38,538
Individually impaired loans:
Not overdue 139,074 95,245 
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 42,180 48,088 
- overdue 31-60 days 9,113 21,823 
- overdue 61-90 days 516 1,386 
- overdue 91-180 days 14,247 4,800 
- overdue more than 180 days 24,093 19,925 
Total individually impaired loans 229,223 191,267 
Total corporate loans 511,156  483,286 
Impairment allowance for corporate loans (95,177)  (77,932)
Net corporate loans   415,979  405,354
Small and medium-sized enterprises
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Not overdue 49,360 47,090
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 1,775 703
- overdue 31-60 days 491 688
- overdue 61-90 days 1,017 287
- overdue 91-180 days 728 532
- overdue more than 180 days 462 4,205
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 53,833 53,505
Impaired loans assessed on a collective basis
Not overdue 3,626 2,227
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 1,851 409
- overdue 31-60 days 128 -
- overdue 61-90 days 522 -
- overdue 91-180 days 1,336 447
- overdue more than 180 days 4,072 6,120
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 11,535 9,203
Total small and medium-sized enterprises 65,368 62,708
Impairment allowance for loans to small and medium-sized enterprises (2,757)  (2,191)
Net loans to small and medium-sized  enterprises 62,611 60,517
Total corporate loans and loans to small and medium-sized enterprises 576,524 545,994
Total impairment allowance for corporate loans and loans to small and medium-sized 
enterprises (97,934) (80,123)
Total net corporate loans and loans to small and medium-sized enterprises 478,590 465,871
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(b) Credit quality of loans to retail customers

Analysis by credit quality of loans to retail customers outstanding as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 was as follows:

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Loans to retail customers
Mortgage loans
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Not overdue: 106,549  97,507
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 6,014 7,190 
- overdue 31-60 days 2,243  3,426 
- overdue 61-90 days 894 2,466 
- overdue 91-180 days 821 2,328 
- overdue more than 180 days - 8,149 
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 116,521 121,066 
Impaired loans assessed on a collective basis
Not overdue: 6,825 6,534
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 4,481 3,578
- overdue 31-60 days 859 3,310
- overdue 61-90 days 1,592 3,403
- overdue 91-180 days 1,129 1,102
- overdue more than 180 days 11,673 7,219
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 26,559 25,146
Individually impaired loans 
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 2,011 -
- overdue 31-60 days 749 -
- overdue more than 180 days 628 -
Total individually impaired loans 3,388 -
Total mortgage loans 146,468 146,212 
Impairment allowance for mortgage loans (4,450)  (2,585)
Mortgage loans, net 142,018 143,627 
Consumer loans
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Not overdue: 74,545 61,994 
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 4,806 5,664 
- overdue 31-60 days 868 3,794 
- overdue 61-90 days 861 1,988 
- overdue 91-180 days 1,621 3,888 
- overdue more than 180 days - 13,349 
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 82,701 90,677 
Impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 
Not overdue 3,898 3,192 
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 2,705 2,189 
- overdue 31-60 days 304 1,439 
- overdue 61-90 days 1,181 1,792 
- overdue 91-180 days 2,145 1,606 
- overdue more than 180 days 15,681 6,753 
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 25,914 16,971 
Individually impaired loans
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 576  -
- overdue 61-90 days 2,085 -
- overdue more than 180 days 2,629 2,378
Total individually impaired loans 5,290 2,378 
Total consumer loans 113,905 110,026 
Impairment allowance for consumer loans   (6,892)  (4,140)
Consumer loans, net 107,013 105,886 
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(b) Credit quality of loans to retail customers, continued

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Loans to individuals, continued
Business development
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Not overdue loans 59,952 48,278  
Overdue loans 
- overdue less than 30 days 1,420 1,953
- overdue 31-60 days 814 959  
- overdue 61-90 days 1,162   375
- overdue 91-180 days 1,406 1,486  
- overdue more than 180 days 29 6,502  
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 64,783 59,553  
Impaired loans assessed on a collective basis
Not overdue 2,413 1,553
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 850 1,041
- overdue 31-60 days 88 80
- overdue 61-90 days 621 961
- overdue 91-180 days 2,077 242
- overdue more than 180 days 11,474 12,242
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 17,523 16,119
Individually impaired loans
Not overdue - 940 
Overdue:
- overdue 31-60 days 338 -
- overdue 61-90 days 1,075 -
- overdue 91-180 days 814 -
Total individually impaired loans 2,227 940 
Total for business development 84,533 76,612 
Impairment allowance on loans for business development   (4,515)  (6,551)
Net business development 80,018 70,061 
Auto loans 
Individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis:
Not overdue 4,624 5,439 
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 48 207 
- overdue 31-60 days 29 44 
- overdue 61-90 days - 12 
- overdue 91-180 days 23 46 
- overdue more than 180 days - 293 
Total individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis 4,724 6,041
Impaired loans assessed on a collective basis
Not overdue 5 8
Overdue:
- overdue less than 30 days 1 -
- overdue 31-60 days 9 4
- overdue 61-90 days 4 1
- overdue 91-180 days 5 -
- overdue more than 180 days 322 125
Total impaired loans assessed on a collective basis 346 138
Total auto loans 5,070 6,179 
Impairment allowance on auto loans (60)  (32)
Net auto loans 5,010 6,147 
Total loans to individuals 349,976 339,029 
Total impairment allowance on loans to individuals (15,917)  (13,308)
Total loans to individuals, net 334,059 325,721 
Total loans to corporate customers, loans to small and medium-sized companies, 
loans to individuals 926,500 885,023
Total impairment allowance on loans to corporate customers, loans to small and medium-
sized companies, loans to individuals   (113,851)  (93,431)
Total loans to corporate customers, loans to small- and medium-sized companies, 
loans to individuals,  net of impairment allowance 812,649 791,592
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(c) Key assumptions and judgments for estimating loan impairment 

(i) Individual assessment of impairment of loans to customers

Individual assessment of impairment losses is calculated based on analysis of the expected future cash flows of a loan at its original effective 
interest rate and comparing the resultant present value with the loan’s current carrying amount.  This process normally encompasses 
management’s best estimate, such as operating cash flow of the borrower and net realisable value of any collateral held and the timing of 
anticipated receipts: a delay of 12 to 36 months in obtaining proceeds from the foreclosure of collateral.

The impairment allowances on individually significant loans are reviewed quarterly and more regularly if circumstances required.

Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment provision. For example, to the extent that the net present value of the estimated cash 
flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the impairment allowance on loans to corporate customers and retail customer as at 31 December 2016 
would be KZT 1,419 million lower/higher (31 December 2016: KZT 1,211 million lower/higher).

(ii) Collective assessment of impairment of loans to customers

The methodology based on historical loss experience is used to estimate inherent incurred loss on groups of assets for collective evaluation of 
impairment.  Such methodology incorporates factors such as type of product and borrowers, credit rating, portfolio size, loss emergence period, 
recovery period and applies probability of default on each assets (or pool of assets) and loss given default by type of collateral. Also, consistent 
assumptions are applied to form a formula-based model in estimating inherent loss and to determine factors on the basis of historical loss 
experience and current condition. 

In determining the impairment allowance for loans to corporate customers and retail customers, management makes the following key 
assumptions:

•	 loss rates are constant and can be estimated based on the historic loss pattern for the past 12 months;

•	 cumulative average coefficients of cash recovery are calculated based on historic data for the past 24 months; 

•	 a delay of 12 to 36 months plus 24 months in obtaining proceeds from the foreclosure of collateral

Loss rate for individually unimpaired loans assessed on a collective basis and impaired loans assessed on a collective basis issued to corporate 
customers varies from 1.17% to 10.56% (31 December 2016: 0.55%-9.39%).

Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment provision. For example, to the extent that the net present value of the estimated cash 
flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the impairment allowance on loans to corporate customers and retail customers as at 31 December 2017 
would be KZT 6,708 million lower/higher (31 December 2016: KZT 6,705 million lower/higher).
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(d) Analysis of collateral and other credit enhancements

(i) Loans to corporate customers

Loans to corporate customers are subject to individual and collective credit appraisal and impairment testing. The general creditworthiness of a 
corporate customer and small and medium-sized customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of the loan extended to it. 
However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests corporate borrowers and small and medium-sized customers to 
provide it. 

The following tables provides information on collateral and other credit enhancements securing loans to corporate customers, net of impairment, 
by types of collateral:

31 December 2017
Loans to customers, 

carrying amount

Fair value of collateral:  
for collateral assessed 

as of reporting date

Fair value of collateral: 
for collateral

assessed as of loan 
inception date

Fair value of 
collateral not 

determined
Unimpared and collectively 
impaired loans
Cash and deposits 3,424 3,424 - -
Traded securities 6,875 6,875 - -
Real estate 257,228 257,228 - -
Motor vehicles 1,113 1,113 - -
Equipment 3,706 3,706 - -
Corporate guarantees 32,441 - - 32,441
Income from future contracts 23,288 - - 23,288
Goods in turnover 6,921 - 6,921 -
Other collateral 1,566 - - 1,566
No collateral or other credit 
enhancement 7,982 - - 7,982
Total unimpaired loans 344,544 272,346 6,921 65,277

Individually impaired loans 
Cash and deposits 74 74 - -
Traded securities 215 215 - -
Real estate 95,444 95,444 - -
Motor vehicles 415 415 - -
Equipment 2,508 2,508 - -
Corporate guarantees 11,598 - - 11,598
Goods in turnover 741 - 741 -
Mineral rights 7,284 7,284 - -
Other collateral 1,140 - 1,140 -
No collateral or other credit 
enhancement 14,627 - - 14,627
Total impaired loans 134,046 105,940 1,881 26,225
Total impaired loans 478,590 378,286 8,802 91,502
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(d) Analysis of collateral and other credit enhancements, continued 

(i) Loans to corporate customers, continued 

31 December 2016
Loans to customers, 

carrying amount

Fair value of collateral:  
for collateral assessed as 

of reporting date

Fair value of collateral: 
for collateral

assessed as of loan 
inception date

Fair value of 
collateral not 

determined

Unimpared and collectively impaired loans
Cash and deposits 4,389 4,389 - -
Traded securities 6,631 6,631 - -
Real estate 251,667 251,667 - -
Motor vehicles 764 764 - -
Equipment 19,190 19,190 - -
Corporate guarantees 37,073 - - 37,073
Income from future contracts 8,132 - - 8,132
Goods in turnover 13 - 13 -
Other collateral 141 - - 141
No collateral or other credit enhancement 18,598 - - 18,598
Total unimpaired loans 346,598 282,641 13 63,944

Individually impaired loans 
Cash and deposits 4 4 - -
Traded securities 200 200 - -
Real estate 84,308 84,308 - -
Motor vehicles 228 228 - -
Equipment 494 494 - -
Corporate guarantees 3,789 - - 3,789
Income from future contracts 281 - - 281
Goods in turnover 3,943 - 3,943 -
Mineral rights 8,557 8,557 - -
Other collateral 820 - 820 -
No collateral or other credit enhancement 16,649 - - 16,649
Total impaired loans 119,273 93,791 4,763 20,719
Total loans to corporate customers 465,871                  376,432 4,776 84,663

The tables above excludes overcollateralisation. In accordance with the recommendations of NBRK future contract revenues are not considered 
as sufficient collateral for loan impairment allowance calculation. As at 31 December 2017 the loans to corporate customers with net carrying 
amount of KZT 23,288 million (31 December 2016: KZT 8,413 million) are secured by income from future contracts. 

Amount recorded in the item “No collateral or other credit enhancement” comprises unsecured loans and parts of loans, which are not fully 
secured. 

For majority of loans the fair value of collateral was assessed at the reportinf day.  The Group also has loans, for which the fair value of collateral 
was assessed at the loan inception date and it was not updated for further changes, and loans for which the fair value of collateral is not 
determined and can not be determined. Information on the valuation of collateral is based on when this estimate was made, if any.

For loans secured by multiple types of collateral, collateral that is most relevant for impairment assessment is disclosed. Sureties received from 
individuals, such as shareholders of the company’s borrowers, are not considered for impairment assessment purposes. 
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(d) Analysis of collateral and other credit enhancements, continued 

(ii) Loans to retail customers 

Mortgage loans are secured by the underlying housing real estate. Business development loans are secured by real estate. Auto loans are secured 
by the underlying cars. Cash loans are collateralised by cash. Consumer loans are usually secured by underlying property and in some cases by 
assets, including real estate, cash and motor vehicle. 

Mortgage loans

Included in mortgage loans are loans with a net carrying amount of KZT 20,428 million (31 December 2016: KZT 25,733 million), which 
are secured by collateral with a fair value of less than the net carrying amount of the individual loans. The fair value of collateral for these loans 
amounts to KZT 10,089 million (31 December 2016: KZT 14,891 million). 

For mortgage loans with a net carrying amount of KZT 121,590 million (31 December 2016: KZT 117,894 million) management believes that 
the fair value of collateral is at least equal to the carrying amount of individual loans at the reporting date.

Business development 

Included in the business developmet portfolio are loans with a net carrying amount of KZT 8,957 million (31 December 2016: KZT 5,013 million), 
which are secured by collateral with a fair value of less than the net carrying amount of the individual loans. The fair value of collateral for these 
loans amounts to KZT 3,712 million (31 December 2016: KZT 2,378 million). 

Management believes that the fair value of collateral of buisness development loans with a net carrying amount of KZT 71,061 million 
(31 December 2016: KZT 65,048 million) is at least equal to the carrying amount of individual loans at the reporting date.

Repossessed collateral 

During 2017, the Group obtained certain assets by taking possession of collateral for loans to customers with a net carrying amount of KZT 
30,059 million. As at 31 December 2017, the repossessed collateral was KZT 49,442 million (31 December 2017: KZT 23,209 million of 
repossessed collateral) (Note 18).

(e) Loan portfolio analysis

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has 6 borrowers or groups of connected borrowers (2016: 14), whose loan balances exceed 10% of equity. 
The gross value of these loans as at 31 December 2017 is KZT 114,175 million (31 December 2016: KZT 197,436 million).

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 included in the loans to customers are renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or 
impaired of KZT 99,468 million and KZT 84,216 million. 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group signed a finance lease agreement as a lessor. Interest rate on finance lease is fixed as 
of the agreement date for all lease terms.  
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16. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS, CONTINUED 

(e) Loan portfolio analysis, continued 

Industry and geographical analysis of the loan portfolio

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the components of net investment in finance lease are as follows 

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Not more than one year 990 804
From one to five years 1,454 1,453
More than five years 9,447 9,836
Minimum finance lease payments 11,891 12,093
Less deferred income (7,735) (7,907)
Net investments in finance lease 4,156 4,186
Current portion 32 29
Non-current portion 4,124 4,157
Net investments in finance lease before loss allowance 4,156 4,186
Less: loss allowance - (23)
Net investments in finance net of loss allowance 4,156 4,163

Loans to customers were issued primarily to customers located within the Republic of Kazakhstan who operate in the following economic sectors:

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Individuals 349,976 339,029
Trade 141,129 148,827
Rent of real estate 81,539 57,922
Energy 60,252 50,370
Financial services 49,946 30,460
Transportation and equipment maintenance services 35,095 31,408
Production 32,730 40,116
Housing construction 32,571 22,264
Industrial construction 29,397 33,342
Food industry 24,702 33,648
Transport and telecommunications 21,159 10,535
Agriculture 17,932 41,421
Oil and gas industry 5,526 18,827
Other 48,702 31,040
Total 930,656 889,209
Impairment loss (113,851) (93,454)

816,805 795,755 

Fair value of assets received as collateral and carrying amount of reverse repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 
is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Loan carrying 

amount 
Collateral 
fair value 

Loan carrying 
amount 

Collateral 
fair value 

Government securities of the Republic of Kazakhstan 11,006 11,169 21,367 22,249
Other 3,437 4,352 968 1,386

14,443 15,521 22,335 23,635

(f) Loan maturities

The maturity of the loan portfolio is presented in note 26, which shows the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity of 
the loans. Due to the short-term nature of the loans issued by the Group, it is likely that part of the loans will be extended at maturity. Accordingly, 
the effective maturity of the loan portfolio may be significantly longer than the contractually agreed term.
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17. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Buildings and 
constructions

Furniture and 
equipment

Construction in 
progress

Intangible
assets Total

Cost/revalued amount
Balance at 1 January 2016 26,009 12,970 644 5,702 45,325

Additions - 685 - 785 1,470
Transfers - 591 (591) - -
Revaluation 6,367 - - - 6,367
Impairment (134) - - - (134)
Write-off at revaluation (1,134) - - - (1,134)
Disposals (22) (644) - (46) (712)

31 December 2016 31,086 13,602 53 6,441 51,182

Additions 175 1,337 68 2,988 4,568
Transfers - 16 (16) - -
Disposals (251) (963) - (90) (1,304)

31 December 2017 31,010 13,992 105 9,339 54,446

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment 
31 December 2015 (910) (7,943) - (3,102) (11,955)

Charge for the year (285) (1,208) - (564) (2,057)
Write-off at revaluation 1,134 - - - 1,134
Disposals 1 599 - 46 646

31 December 2016 (60) (8,552) - (3,620) (12,232)

Charge for the year (343) (1,264) - (816) (2,423)
Disposals 10 929 - 90 1,029

31 December 2017 (393) (8,887) - (4,346) (13,626)

Net carrying amount 
31 December 2017 30,617 5,105 105 4,993 40,820

31 December 2016 31,026 5,050 53 2,821 38,950

Intangible assets comprise software, patents and licenses.

The Group revalued its buildings and constructions during 2017 and 2016. Evaluation was performed by independent appraisers. Independent 
appraisers used two approaches to measure the fair value of property and equipment – comparative approach using the market information to 
measure fair value of buildings and constructions under active market conditions, and cost approach, when no active market existed for items 
subject to revaluation. 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the total amount of fair value of buildings and constructions was KZT  30,617 million and 
KZT 31,026 million, respectively. If buildings and construction of the Group had been valued at cost, their carrying amount would have been KZT 
24,398 million and KZT 24,793 million as at 31 December 2017 and 31  December 2016, respectively. 

During 2016 the Group recognised reversal of impairment loss on buildings and other real estate in the amount of KZT 586 million.

The fair values of buildings and constructions are categorised into Levels 2 and 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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18. OTHER ASSETS

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Other financial assets
  Receivables 5,118 4,002
  Accrued commission 7,698 1,761
  Western Union and other wireless transfers 175 99

12,991 5,862
Less allowance for impairment (520) (893)

12,471 4,969

Other non-financial assets
Repossessed collateral 49,442 23,209
Payment receivable on repossessed collateral 4,253 8,029
Investment property 5,003 3,316

  Advances paid 149 1,081
  Taxes receivable other than income tax 1,974 2,926

Inventory 78 22
Other assets 649 550

61,548 39,133
Less allowance for impairment (1,227) (57)

60,321 39,076
72,792 44,045

Repossessed collateral. Repossessed collateral represents real estate accepted by the Group in exchange for from its non-performing borrowers. 
These assets have been initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at the lower of fair value less cost to dispose or the carrying 
value.  The Group’s policy implies sale of said assets as soon as possible.

Payment receivable on repossessed collateral. Payment on repossessed collateral comprises prepayments for repossessed collateral which is 
acquired under auction.  

Fair value of investment property was measured using the market comparison approach, which reflects the prices of latest transactions on similar 
real estate items, and as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 amounted to KZT 8,374 million and KZT 4,055 million, respectively. 

Included into operating lease income is investment property rental income for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31  December 2016 
amounted to KZT 234 million and KZT 141 million, respectively. 

Operating expenses related to investment property from which the Group earned rental income for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016 amounted to KZT 105 million and KZT 167 million, respectively. 

19. DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Nominal interest 
rate, % 

31 December
2017

Nominal interest 
rate, % 

31 December
2016

Long-term loans due to banks and 
financial institutions

1.00-9.08 48,776 0.85-8.50 44,668
Perpetual financial instruments 7.34 26,064 6.96 26,222

Loans due to international credit organisations 8.50-10.70 16,151 6.20-10.70 27,023
Correspondent accounts of banks - 1,440 - 1,557
Loans due to NBRK 5.50 105 5.50 118
Short-term loans due to banks
and financial institutions - - 3.25-10.33 6,272
Accrued interest - 862 - 1,165

93,398 107,025

Loans under repurchase agreements 9.30-11.50 5,393 11.50-12.00 2,624
98,791 109,649
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19. DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, CONTINUED 

Long-term loans due to banks and financial institutions. Long-term loans from banks and financial institutions comprise long-term loans from 
JSC Entrepreneurship Development Fund DAMU (“DAMU”) and JSC Development Bank of Kazakhstan (“JSC DBK”) in the amount of KZT 
34,604 million at 1%-9.08% p.a. maturing in 2018-2035, and of 

KZT 14,172 million at 1%-7.9 % p.a. maturing in 2019-2035 as at 31 December 2017, respectively (31 December 2016: KZT 28,434 million 
and KZT 16,234 million, respectively). During the 2017 and 2016, the Group has been repaying principal and interest according to the 
repayments schedules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received additional tranche of long-term loans from JSC DBK in the amount of KZT 
377 million at 2% p.a. maturing in 2035. Loan is intended for further financing of large-sized enterprises (“LSE”) operating in processing industry.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received additional tranche of long-term loans from DAMU in the amount of 6,511 million 
at 9.08% p.a. maturing in 2020, and KZT 321 at 1% p.a. maturing in 2024. 

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has received long-term loans from DAMU in the amount of KZT 837 million at 4.50% p.a. 
maturing in 2023, KZT 200 million at 4.30% p.a. maturing in 2021, KZT 300 million at 3.80% p.a. and KZT 280 million at 4.50% p.a. both 
maturing in 2021.

During 2017 and 2016, the Group has received loans from DAMU JSC under the Government program (“the Program”) to finance small and 
medium enterprises (“SME”) of certain industries.  According to the loan agreement between DAMU and the Group, the Group extends loans to 
SME borrowers, eligible to participate in the Program, at 4% margin with the maturity not exceeding 10 years. The Group’s obligation to repay 
the loan to DAMU is not contingent on collectability of the loans extended to SME borrowers.  The Group is obligated to pay 15% penalty on the 
amounts not extended to SME borrowers within 3-9 months after receiving the money from DAMU. Management of the Group believes that 
there are no other financial instruments similar financial instruments and due to specific nature of SME clients, this product represents a separate 
market.  As a result, the loans from DAMU and JSC DBK were received in an orderly transaction and as such have been recorded at fair value at the 
recognition date.

Perpetual debt. The perpetual non-cumulative financial instruments were issued by the Bank in March 2006 with an option to repay in whole, but 
not in part, on any interest payment date from and including 3 March 2016 at the face value of 

USD 100 million. Interest payment dates are 3 March, 3 June, 3 September and 3 December in each year.  

Loans from international credit organisations. Loans from international credit organisations comprise loans from the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) at 8.5% - 10.7% p.a. maturing in 2019-2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has partially repaid a long-term loan from EBRD ahead of schedule in the amount of 
KZT 6,750 million at 10.7% p.a. maturing in 2020. 

The Group is obligated to comply with financial covenants in relation to funds and loans from banks and financial institutions. These covenants 
include stipulated ratios, debt to equity ratios and various other financial performance ratios. As at

31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group has not breached any of these covenants.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, funds and loans from banks and financial institutions included loans received under repurchase 
agreements of KZT 5,393 million and KZT 2,624 million that were repaid in January 2018 and 2017, respectively. The fair value of assets pledged 
under repurchase agreements  amounted to  KZT 4,867 million and KZT 2,489 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016. 
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20. CUSTOMER AND BANK ACCOUNTS

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Due to customers 
- Retail 504,610 542,586
- Corporate 470,679 509,155

Due to banks 1,663 2,161
976,952 1,053,902

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Term deposits 696,445 737,896
Demand deposits 274,321 308,212

970,766 1,046,108
Accrued interest 4,523 5,633

975,289 1,051,741

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has 5 customers (31 December 2016: 5 customers), whose balances exceed 10% of equity. The gross 
balances of the above mentioned customers as at 31 December 2017 are KZT 221,119 million (31 December 2016: KZT 105,814 million).
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20. CUSTOMER AND BANK ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Analysis by sectors:
Individuals 504,610 542,586
Social services 133,800 178,838
Construction 84,357 66,376
Trade 48,636 55,278
Education and health care 34,260 33,595
Transportation and communication 30,164 39,765
Energy 19,670 11,351
Manufacturing 14,728 17,086
Agriculture 7,430 6,433
Insurance and pension fund activities 7,256 13,274
Fuel 5,743 2,902
Metallurgy 4,577 21,145
Entertainment services 3,841 3,999
Machinery 3,806 2,293
Chemical production 3,801 3,997
Research and engineering 2,981 9,038
Oil and gas sector 2,950 5,597
Public administration 1,024 373
Other 61,655 37,815
Total due to customers 975,289 1,051,741

21. DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

Currency
Issue
 date

Maturity 
date

Interest 
rate, %

31 December  
2017

 Interest
 rate, %

31 December  
2016

Kazakhstani bonds KZT
26/04/2014-
22/09/2015

26/04/2019-
22/09/2025 8.00-9.00 17,048 7.50-9.00 24,463

17,048 24,463
Accrued interest 280 346

17,328 24,809

On 26 April 2017, the Group repaid debt securities issued with a nominal value of KZT 10,000 million. 

Coupons on debt securities issued are repayable semi-annually; principal is repayable at maturity.
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22. SUBORDINATED BONDS

Currency
Issue 
date

Maturity 
date

Interest 
rate, %

31 December 
2017

Interest 
rate, %

31 December 
2016

Fixed rate KZT
27/06/2008 - 

03/11/2017
27/06/2018 - 

03/11/2032 4.00-11.00 54,439 10.00-11.00 29,395

Floating rate KZT
05/12/2007 - 

27/11/2009
27/11/2019 - 

11/11/2023 8.70-8.80 20,193 10.00-15.00 23,156
74,632 52,551

Accrued interest 822 782
75,454 53,333

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group repaid subordinated bonds with floating rate and a nominal value of KZT 3,000 million 
(during the year ended 31 December 2016: KZT 9,000 million).

Coupons on subordinated bonds are repayable semi-annually; principal is repayable at maturity. 

Participation in the Program of Strengthening of the Banking Sector Financial Stability 

Resolution of the NBRK No.191 dated 10 October 2017 approved the Bank’s participation in the Program of Strengthening Financial Stability of 
Banking Sector of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “Program”).

In accordance with the terms of the Program, the Bank received cash from the NBRK subsidiary – Kazakhstan Sustainability Fund JSC by means of 
issue of registered coupon subordinated bonds of the Bank (the “Bonds”) convertible into the Bank’s ordinary shares on the terms provided for in 
the Issue Prospectus. 

The Bank accepts the following covenants in its operations, which are valid during 5 years from the Bonds placement date; breach of any covenant 
results in enforcement of the Bonds holders’ rights to convert the Bonds into ordinary shares of the Bank:

– The Bank commits itself to comply with the capital adequacy ratios set by the authorised body for the second tier banks of the RK;

– The Bank commits itself not to take actions aimed at withdrawal of the Bank’s assets; in this regard a list of cases that would be treated as the 
asset withdrawal are specified in the Prospectus for Bond Issue.

Within the framework of the Bank’s participation in the Program, on 3 November 2017, the Bank placed the Bonds at Kazakhstan Stock Exchange 
in the amount of KZT 60,000 million with 15-year maturity and coupon rate of 4.00% per year. The unwinding of discount of the Bonds using 
the market interest rate of 13%, which was recognised as income in the statement of profit or loss at initial recognition of the Bonds, is KZT 
34,993 million. 
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Reconciliation of changes in liabilities and cash flows from financing activities 

 Liabilities 

 Total
Debt securities 

issued
Subordinated

 bonds

Balance at 1 January 2017 24,809 53,333 78,142
Changes due to cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from debt securities issued 2,569 - 2,569
Repayment of debt securities issued (10,000) - (10,000)
Proceeds from subordinated bonds - 60,000 60,000
Repayment of subordinated bonds - (3,000) (3,000)
Total changes due to cash flows from financing activities 17,378 110,333 127,711
Changes in fair value - (34,993) (34,993)
Other changes 118 327 445
Interest expense (2,666) (5,846) (8,512)
Interest paid 2,498 5,633 8,131
Balance at 31 December 2017 17,328 75,454 92,782

23. OTHER LIABILITIES
31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Other financial liabilities:
Settlements on other liabilities 3,717 4,146
Liabilities in guarantees issued 7,413 1,148
Accrued commission income 769 881
Provisions for guarantees and letters of credit 115 269

12,014 6,444
Other non-financial liabilities :
Taxes payable other than income tax 1,093 2,195
Other non-financial liabilities 1,204 1,046
Total other liabilities 14,311 9,685

24. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2017 the Bank’s share capital is presented as follows:

Authorised 
share capital

Share capital 
authorised 

and not issued

Repurchased 
share capital from 

shareholders
Total 

share capital

Ordinary shares 995,876,753 (833,419,953) (1,452,965) 161,003,835
Preference shares 39,249,255 - - 39,249,255

As at 31 December 2017 the Bank’s share capital comprised the following number of shares:

Authorized 
and issued share 

capital
Repurchased 

shares Total

Ordinary shares 58,014 (220) 57,794
Preference shares 11,775 - 11,775

69,789 (220) 69,569
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2016, the Bank’s share capital is presented as follows:

Authorised 
share capital

Share capital
 authorised 

and not issued

Repurchased 
share capital from 

shareholders
Total

 share capital

Ordinary shares 260,750,745 (98,293,945) (399,850) 162,056,950
Preference shares 39,249,255 - - 39,249,255

As at 31 December 2016, the Bank’s share capital comprised the following number of shares:

Authorized 
and issued share capital

Repurchased 
shares Total

Ordinary shares 57,966 48 58,014
Preference shares 11,775 - 11,775

69,741 48 69,789

All ordinary shares are ranked equally, carry one vote, and have no par value. 

Preference shares are cumulative and convertible into ordinary shares according to the decision of the Board of Directors, one preferred share can 
be exchanged for one ordinary share. According to the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Bank’s incorporation documents, dividends 
are payable on ordinary shares in the form of cash or securities of the Bank, on condition that the decision was made at the annual meeting 
of shareholders of the Bank.  In accordance with the Bank’s Charter, dividend payments are made on the basis of financial results for the year. 
Distributable reserves are subject to rules and regulations of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Terms and conditions of preferred shares provide for the Group to pay nominal value of dividends of KZT 0.01 per share to comply with 
Kazakhstani legislation. This legislation envisages that joint stock companies pay the fixed guaranteed amount of the dividend on the preference 
shares. According to Kazakhstan law on joint stock companies, the amount of the dividend paid on the ordinary shares may not exceed the 
amount of the dividends paid on preference shares. In addition, dividends on ordinary shares may not be paid until dividends on preference shares 
have been paid in full.   

For the year ended 
31 December 2017

For the year ended 
31 December 2016

Quantity 
(in thousands)

Quantity 
(in thousands)

Preference shares, beginning of the period 39,249 39,249
Preference shares issued - -
Preference shares, end of the period 39,249 39,249

Ordinary shares, beginning of the period 162,057 161,584
Treasury shares purchased (2,355) (1,173)
Treasury shares sold 1,302 1,646

Ordinary shares, end of the period 161,004 162,057

Reserves for general banking risks

As at 31 December 2017 the amount of the Bank’s provision for general banking risks included in retained earnings in the consolidated statement 
of financial position of the Group is KZT 16,895 million (31 December 2016: KZT 16,895 million).
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24. SHARE CAPITAL, CONTINUED

Until 2013, in accordance with amendments to the Resolution No. 196 “On Establishment of Minimum Limit on Reserve Capital of Second-Tier 
Banks” issued by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan on the Regulation and Supervision of Financial Markets and Financial Organisations 
(the “FMSA”) introduced on 31 January 2011 (that became invalid in 2013), the Bank had to establish reserve capital by transferring an amount 
from retained earnings to a non-distributable reserve.

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, no transfers to general reserve were made by the Bank to cover general 
banking risks. 

In accordance with the amendments to the Resolution No. 358 “On approval of the Instruction of normative coefficients and methods of 
calculation of prudential norms for the second tier banks” issued on 25 December 2013 the statutory reserve capital is non-distributable.

Dynamic reserve

During 2014, the dynamic reserve is temporarily frozen by the NBRK at the level of 31 December 2013. As at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016 the Group’s dynamic reserve is KZT 3,723 million.

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets includes the accumulated net change in fair value until the assets are derecognised or 
impaired.

25. SEGMENT REPORTING  

The segment information below is presented on the basis used by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to evaluate performance in 
accordance with IFRS 8 and in accordance with the segment reporting presented in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016. The Group’s reporting segments under IFRS 8 are as follows: 

•	Corporate	banking	–	maintenance	of	settlement	accounts,	deposit	taking,	provisions	of	overdrafts,	loan	and	other	credit	facilities.

•	Retail	banking	–	provisions	of	private	banking	services,	private	customer	current	accounts,	taking	of	savings,	deposits,	investment	savings	
products, custody, credit and debit cards, consumer loans and mortgages.

•	Investment	banking	–	financial	instruments	trading,	money	market	operations,	repo	agreements,	foreign	currency	and	derivative	products,	
structured financing, corporate lease and asset management services, merger and acquisitions advice, provision of Group’s funding through issue 
of debt securities and attracting loans. This segment is responsible for redistribution of funds attracted by other segments. 
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING, CONTINUED

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies, of these 
consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors reviews discrete financial information for each of its segments, including measures of 
operating income, assets and liabilities. The segments are managed primarily on the basis of their results, which do not include the effects of 
intercompany eliminations. 
Segment assets and liabilities comprise all assets and liabilities, which account for the major portion of the statement of financial position but 
excluding income tax assets and liabilities. Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments have been reflected in the performance of each 
business. All revenues and expenses are attributable only to external customers, and there are no transactions between business segments. 
The Group presents its business on the basis of three main segments. Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

Retail 
banking

Corporate 
banking

Investment 
banking 

For the year ended 31 
December 2017

Interest income* 43,625 54,134 12,329 110,088
Interest expense* (27,481) (33,273) (1,834) (62,588)
Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing assets (13,129) (30,614) - (43,743)
Net non-interest income 6,073 55,663 (1,124) 60,612
Operating expenses (13,757) (14,064) (478) (28,299)
(Loss)/profit before income tax (4,669) 31,846 8,893 36,070

Segment assets** 335,193 833,280 161,313 1,329,786

Segment liabilities** 525,712 514,988 151,335 1,192,035
Other segment items 
Depreciation charge on property, equipment and intangible 
assets (1,240) (1,271) (43) (2,554)
Loans to customers and banks 334,059 497,192 - 831,251
Customer and banks accounts 504,610 472,342 - 976,952
Financial guarantees and loan commitments - 146,913 - 146,913

* - interest income and interest expense include non-eliminated intercompany transactions in the amount of KZT 150 million, KZT (150) million 
**- net of current income tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Income tax expense is not allocated. 

Retail 
banking

Corporate 
banking

Investment 
banking 

For the year ended 31 
December 2016

Interest income* 38,077 46,551 9,971 94,599
Interest expense* (24,045) (40,090) (4,145) (68,280)
(Provision for)/ recovery of impairment losses on interest 
bearing assets  (13,724) 3,121 - (10,603)
Net non-interest income 5,337 15,752 (780) 20,309
Operating expenses (15,227) (15,070) (435) (30,732)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (9,582) 10,264 4,611 5,293

Segment assets** 326,349 852,817 183,014 1,362,180

Segment liabilities** 557,884 549,483 153,238 1,260,605

Other segment items 
Depreciation charge on property, equipment and 
intangible assets (1,154) (1,143) (33) (2,330)
Loans to customers and banks 325,720 493,022 - 818,742
Customer and banks accounts 542,586 511,316 - 1,053,902
Financial guarantees and loan commitments - 88,821 - 88,821

* - interest income and interest expense include non-eliminated intercompany transactions in the amount of KZT 56 million, KZT (56) million 
**- net of current income tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Income tax expense is not allocated.
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING, CONTINUED

The majority of the Group’s assets are located in the Republic of Kazakhstan and the Group generates income from operations conducted within 
the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Information on large customers

For the year ended 31 December 2017 the reporting segments have five customers (for the year ended 31 December 2016: five customers), 
whose income from transactions individually exceed 10% of the total income of the Group. 

26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

(a) Corporate governance structure

The Bank was established as an open joint-stock company in accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
The Bank’s highest body is the general meeting of the shareholders, which is convened to hold the annual and extraordinary meetings. The general 
meeting of shareholders makes strategic decisions related to the Bank’s operations. 

The general meeting of shareholders determines the structure of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the 
general management of the Bank’s activity.

The legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Bank’s Charter determine the lists of decisions, which are exclusively approved by the general 
shareholders’ meeting and that are approved by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors meeting elects the Chairman of Management Board, determines the structure of the Management Board. The Bank’s 
executive bodies are responsible for implementation of the decision made by the general meeting of shareholders and Board of Directors. 
The Bank’s executive bodies are subordinated to the Board of Directors and general meeting of shareholders.  

(b) Risk management policies and procedures 

Management of risk is fundamental to the business of banking and forms an essential element of the Group’s operations. The major (significant) 
risks faced by the Group are those related to market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operating risk, legal risk and reputational risk. 

The risk management policies aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and 
to continuously monitor risk levels and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions, products and services offered and emerging best practice. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s internal documentation establishing the methodologies for identification, managing and stress-testing the 
Group’s significant risks, was approved by the authorized management bodies of the Bank in accordance with regulations and recommendations 
issued by the NBRK.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management framework, overseeing the management of key risks and 
reviewing its risk management policies and procedures as well as approving significantly large exposures.

The Management Board is responsible for monitoring and implementing risk mitigation measures, and ensuring that the Group operates within 
established risk parameters. Risk Management function (Risk Department and Department of Credit risks) is responsible for the overall risk 
management and compliance functions, ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for identifying, measuring, managing 
and reporting both financial and non-financial risks. Risk Management function reports directly to the Chairman of the Management Board and 
indirectly to the Board of Directors.

Credit, market and liquidity risks, both at the portfolio and transactional levels, are managed and controlled through a system of Credit 
Committees, Finance and Risk Management Committee (FRMC) and Risk Management Committee (FMC). In order to facilitate efficient and 
effective decision-making, the Group established a hierarchy of credit committees, depending on the type and amount of the exposure.

Both external and internal risk factors are identified and managed throughout the organisation. Particular attention is given to identifying the full 
range of risk factors and determining the level of assurance over current risk mitigation procedures. 
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rate and equity financial 
instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market prices and foreign 
currency rates. 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return on risk.

FRMC, FMC manages interest rate risk and market risk thus ensuring a positive interest margin for the Group. The Department of Planning and 
Finance exercises monitoring of the current financial position of the Group, assesses the Group’s sensitivity to changes in the interest rates and 
their impact on the Group’s profitability. 

The Group manages its market risk by setting open position limits in relation to financial instruments, interest rate maturity and currency positions 
and stop-loss limits. These are monitored on a regular basis and reviewed and approved by the Management Board. 

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest 
margins may increase as a result of such changes, but may also reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements occur. 

(c) Market risk, continued 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The management of interest rate risk, based on an interest rate gap analysis, is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of financial assets 
and liabilities. An analysis of the sensitivity of net profit or loss and equity (net of taxes) to changes in interest rates (repricing risk), based on a 
simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves and positions of interest-bearing assets and liabilities existing 
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016, is as follows:

2017 2016

Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity
100 bp parallel fall 795 795 3,070 3,070
100 bp parallel rise (795) (795) (3,070) (3,070)

2017 2016

Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity
150 bp parallel rise (434)  (3,744) (5)  (2,134)
150 bp parallel fall  505 4,073 8  2,328

An analysis of the sensitivity of net profit or loss and equity as a result of changes in the fair value of financial assets available-for-sale due to 
changes in the interest rates, based on positions existing as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 and a simplified scenario of a 150 bp symmetrical fall 
or rise in all yield curves, is as follows:
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(ii) Currency risk

The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. 

The Treasury Department performs currency risk management through management of open currency position, which enables the Group to 
minimize losses from significant fluctuations of exchange rates of national and foreign currencies. The Risk Department determines limits on open 
currency positions and stop-loss. All limits and restrictions are approved by the Management and the Board of Directors. The Treasury Department 
performs monitoring of the Group’s currency position with the aim to match the requirements of the NBRK.  

(c) Market risk, continued 

(ii) Currency risk, continued 

The following table shows the foreign currency exposure structure of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017:

KZT

USD
USD 1 = KZT 

332.33 

EUR 
EUR 1 =  KZT 

398.23
Other

 currency

31 December 
2017
Total

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 24,373 147,087 9,859 6,737 188,056
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss 10,949 3,148 - - 14,097
Available-for-sale investments 98,961 51,154 20 - 150,135
Due from banks 1,278 11,862 - - 13,140
Loans to customers and banks 644,016 177,128 10,107 - 831,251
Other financial assets 7,852 4,525 35 59 12,471

Total financial assets 787,429 394,904 20,021 6,796 1,209,150

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and financial institutions 71,162 27,629 - - 98,791
Customer and banks accounts 570,600 381,058 19,763 5,531 976,952
Debt securities issued 17,328 - - - 17,328
Subordinated bonds 75,454 - - - 75,454
Other financial liabilities 6,849 5,053 49 63 12,014

Total financial liabilities 741,393 413,740 19,812 5,594 1,180,539

Open position 46,036 (18,836) 209 1,202
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

Derivative financial instruments and spot contracts

The currency risk analysis by types of derivative financial instruments and spot contracts as at 31 December 2017 is presented in the following 
table:

KZT

USD
1 USD = 332.33 

KZT

EUR
1 EUR =

398.23 KZT
Other 

currency

31 December 
2017 
Total

Accounts receivable on spot and derivative 
contracts 11,111 43,535 - - 54,646
Accounts payable on spot and derivative contracts (24,078) (20,272) - - (44,350)
Net spot and derivative financial instruments 
position (12,967) 23,263 - - 10,296

Open position 33,069 4,427 209 1,202

(c) Market risk, continued 

(ii) Currency risk, continued 

Derivative financial instruments and spot contracts, continued

The Group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December 2016 is presented in the table below:

KZT

USD
1 USD = 333.29 

KZT

EUR
1 EUR =

352.42 KZT
Other 

currency

31 December 
2016 
Total

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 28,361 210,660 13,028 6,738 258,787
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 11,459 1,080 - - 12,539
Available-for-sale investments 78,828 23,695 3,616 - 106,139
Investments held-to-maturity 4,224 29,444 523 - 34,191
Due from banks 4,095 2,739 - - 6,834
Loans to customers and banks 652,718 165,368 656 - 818,742
Other financial assets 4,776 118 65 10 4,969

Total financial assets 784,461 433,104 17,888 6,748 1,242,201

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and financial
institutions 80,990 28,077 579 3 109,649
Customer and banks accounts 553,094 476,972 17,123 6,713 1,053,902
Debt securities issued 24,809 - - - 24,809
Subordinated bonds 53,333 - - - 53,333
Other financial liabilities 4,643 1,178 252 371 6,444

Total financial liabilities 716,869 506,227 17,954 7,087 1,248,137

Open position 67,592 (73,123) (66) (339)
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Derivative financial instruments and spot contracts

The currency risk analysis by types of derivative financial instruments and spot contracts as at 31 December 2016 is presented in the following 
table:

KZT

USD
1 USD = 333.29 

KZT

EUR
1 EUR =

352.42 KZT
Other 

currency

31 December 
2016 
Total

Accounts receivable on spot and
derivative contracts 11,111 92,836 - - 103,947
Accounts payable on spot and
derivative contracts (50,890) (20,331) - - (71,221)
Net spot and derivative financial
instruments position (39,779) 72,505 - - 32,726
Open position 27,813 (618) (66) (339)

A weakening of the KZT, as indicated below, against the following currencies at 31 December 2017 and 2016, would have increased (decreased) 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is on a net-of-tax basis, and is based on foreign currency exchange rate 
variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant. 

2017 2016

10% appreciation of USD against KZT 354 (49)
10% appreciation of EUR against KZT 17 (5)
10% appreciation of other currencies against KZT 96 (27)

(c) Market risk, continued 

(iii) Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. Other price risk arises when the Group takes a 
long or short position in a financial instrument. 

VAR is a technique that estimates the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates and prices over 
a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. The VAR model used by the Group is based on a 95 percent confidence level and 
assumes a 60-day holding period depending on the type of positions. The VAR model used is mainly based on historical simulation. The model 
derives plausible future scenarios based on historical market rate time series, taking into account inter-relationships between different markets and 
rates. Potential market price movements are determined with reference to market data from at least the most recent 12 months.

Although VAR is a valuable tool in measuring market risk exposures, it has a number of limitations, especially in less liquid markets, as follows:

•	 the use of historical data as a basis for determining future events may not encompass all potential scenarios, particularly those of an extreme 
nature;

•	 a 60-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated or hedged within that period. This is considered to be a realistic 
assumption in almost all cases, but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for an extended period; 

•	 The use of a 95 percent confidence level does not take into account losses that may occur beyond this level. There is a five percent probability 
that the loss could exceed the VAR estimate;

•	 VAR is only calculated on the end-of-day balances and does not necessarily reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading 
day;

•	 The VAR measure is dependent on the position and the volatility of market prices. The VAR of an unchanged position reduces if market 
volatility declines and vice versa.
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

The Group does not solely rely on its VAR calculations in its market risk measurement due to inherent risk of usage of VAR as described above. 
The limitations of the VAR methodology are recognised by supplementing VAR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including 
limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio, and gap analysis. 

A summary of the VAR estimates of losses that could occur in respect of the portfolio of financial instruments at fair value as at 31 December is as 
follows:

31 December
2017 

31 December
2016

Interest rate risk 4,754 2,946 
4,754 2,946 

(d) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 
The Group has policies and procedures in place to manage credit exposures (both for recognised financial assets and unrecognised contractual 
commitments), including guidelines to limit portfolio concentration and the establishment of a Credit Committee to actively monitor credit risk. 
The credit policy is reviewed and approved by the Management Board and the Board of Directors. 

The credit policy establishes:

•	 procedures for reviewing and approving loan credit applications;

•	 methodology for the credit assessment of borrowers (corporate and retail);

•	 methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties, issuers and insurance companies;

•	 methodology for the evaluation of collateral;

•	 credit documentation requirements;

•	 procedures for the ongoing monitoring of loans and other credit exposures.

Credit applications from the corporate customers are originated by the relevant credit managers. On-site visit and financial analysis can be made 
either with or without participation of the credit risk department employees, depending on the authority level and borrower’s rating. To comply 
with the statutory procedures of the regulator for generating a credit file and ensuring internal risk control, the related departments (legal 
department, security department and credit analysis department) provide their opinions on the project. A credit decision is made by the authorised 
Credit committees represented by the Credit committees at the levels of branches, regions and the Head Office. In case of review of the credit 
applications, which are outside of the authority and limits of the branches at the Head Office Credit committees, the Credit Risk Department 
prepares additionally its opinion.
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The Group enters into numerous transactions where the counterparties are not rated by international rating agencies. The Group has developed 
internal models, which allow it to determine the rating of counterparties, which are comparable to ratings of international rating agencies. 
These models include rating models for corporate customers and scoring models for individuals and small business.

Rating model

The Group has developed an internal rating model, based on the principles and methods used by international rating agencies for the assessment 
of credit risk of corporate borrowers. The rating of a corporate borrower is based on an analysis of the financial ratios of the borrower, and an 
analysis of the market and industry sector, in which the borrower operates. The model also takes into consideration various qualitative factors, such 
as management efficiency and the borrower’s market share. 

The application of the internal rating model results in a standardised approach in the analysis of corporate borrowers and provides a quantitative 
assessment of the creditworthiness of a borrower that does not have a rating from an international rating agency. The model takes into account 
specific local market conditions.

The quality of the internal rating model is examined on a regular basis through an assessment of both its effectiveness and validity. The Group 
revises the model when deficiencies are identified. 

Scoring models

The Group uses scoring models as a statistical tool in relation to newly issued loans to assess the future creditworthiness of new and existing 
borrowers of the Group. Scoring models are applied for assessment of the credit risk of individuals. 

The scoring models interpret socio-demographic and financial indicators, behavioural variables, the credit history of borrowers and historic data 
from external sources, such as Credit Bureau reports. Each of the parameters inserted into scoring model has a numeric value, the sum of which 
represents the borrower’s internal credit score (rating). The assigned score reflects the probability of default of the borrower.  

The scoring models standardise and automate the process of decision making and decrease the operating expenses and operational risks of the 
Group. The scoring model is also used in the internal management decision making process as it permits the forecasting of profits and losses of the 
credit departments. The scoring model is assessed on a continual basis for its effectiveness and validity.  

The Group applies internal rating and scoring methodologies to specific corporate loans and groups of retail and small business loans, which 
incorporate various underlying master scales that are different from that used by international rating agencies. The scoring methodologies are 
tailor-made for specific products and are applied during the stage of making decision on loan issuance. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and unrecognised contractual commitment amounts. The impact of the possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce potential credit 
exposure is not significant. 
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets at the reporting date is as follows:

2017 2016 
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 154,897 207,592 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 32,933 53,954
Available-for-sale investments 149,984 105,991
Due from banks 13,140 6,834 
Loans to customers and banks 831,251 818,742 
Other financial assets 12,471 4,969 
Total maximum exposure 1,194,676 1,198,082

For the analysis of collateral held against loans to customers and concentration of credit risk in respect of loans to customers, see note 16.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from unrecognised contractual commitments at the reporting date is presented in note 28.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group has 6 debtors or groups of connected debtors (31 December 2016: 14 debtors or groups of related debtors), 
credit risk exposure to whom exceeds 10 percent maximum credit risk exposure. The credit risk exposure for these customers as at 31 December 
2017 is KZT 114,175 million (31 December 2016: KZT 197,436 million). 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that:

•	 are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position; or

•	 are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of 
whether they are offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Similar financial instruments include derivatives, sales and repurchase agreements, reverse sale and repurchase agreements, and securities 
borrowing and lending agreements.

The Group conducts derivative transactions that are not transacted on the exchange through a central counterparty. Management believes 
that such settlements are, in effect, equivalent to net settlement, and that the Group meets the net settlement criterion as this gross settlement 
mechanism has features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk, and that the Group will process receivables and payables in 
a single settlement process or cycle.
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(d) Credit risk, continued 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, continued 

The Group receives and accepts collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities in respect of the following transactions:

•	 derivatives

•	 sale and repurchase, and reverse sale and repurchase agreements and

•	 securities lending and borrowing

Such collateral is subject to the standard industry terms of the ISDA Credit Support Annex. This means that securities received/given as collateral 
can be pledged or sold during the term of the transaction, but must be returned on maturity of the transaction. The terms also give each 
counterparty the right to terminate the related transactions upon the counterparty’s failure to post collateral.

The table below shows financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
arrangements as at 31 December 2017:

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets/
liabilities

Gross amount 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities/assets 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Net amount 
of financial 

assets/liabilities 
presented in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amounts not offset in the 
consolidated statement of financial 

position

Types of financial 
assets/liabilities

Financial 
instruments 

Cash collateral 
received Net amount

Loans to customers 
and banks  19,467 - 19,467 - (8,437) 11,023
Loans under 
reverse repurchase 
agreements 14,443 - 14,443 (14,443) - -
Total financial 
assets 33,910 - 33,910  (14,443) (8,437) 11,023

Customer and bank 
accounts 8,437 - 8,437 (8,437) - -
Due to banks and 
financial institutions 
(loans under REPO 
agreements) 5,393 - 5,393 (4,867) - 526
Total financial 
liabilities 13,830 - 13,830 (13,304) - 526
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(d) Credit risk, continued 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, continued 

The table below shows financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
arrangements as at 31 December 2016:

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets/
liabilities

Gross amount 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities/assets 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Net amount 
of financial 

assets/liabilities 
presented in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amounts not offset in the 
consolidated statement of financial 

position

Types of financial 
assets/liabilities

Financial 
instruments 

Cash collateral 
received

Net 
amount

Loans to customers and 
banks  65,917 - 65,917 -  (8,043) 57,874
Loans under reverse 
repurchase agreements 22,335 - 22,335 (22,335) - -

Total financial assets 88,252 - 88,252 (22,335) (8,043) 57,874

Customer and bank 
accounts 8,043 - 8,043  (8,043) - -
Due to banks and financial 
institutions (loans under 
REPO agreements) 2,624 - 2,624 (2,489) - 135

Total financial liabilities 10,667 10,667 (10,532) - 135

The gross amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and their net amounts as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
that are disclosed in the above tables are measured in the consolidated statement of financial position on the following basis:

Assets and liabilities resulting from sale and repurchase agreements, reverse sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing 
– amortised cost.

The securities lent under agreements to repurchase (Notes 13 and 14) represent the transferred financial assets, which are not completely 
derecognised. The securities lent or sold under agreements to repurchase are transferred to a third party and the Group receives cash in exchange. 
These financial assets may be repledged or resold by counterparties in the absence of any default by the Group, but the counterparty has an 
obligation to return the securities when the contract matures. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
related to these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. Because the Group sells the contractual rights to the cash flows of the 
securities, it cannot use the transferred assets during the term of the agreement.
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(d) Credit risk, continued 

Geographical concentration 

The Finance and Risk Management Committee (“FRMC”) exercises control over the risk in the legislation and regulatory arena and assesses its 
influence on the Group’s activity. This approach allows the Group to minimise potential losses from the investment climate fluctuations in the 
Republic of Kazakhstan.

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below:

Kazakhstan
Non-OECD

 countries 
OECD

 countries 
31 December 2017

Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 164,963 5,474 17,619 188,056
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 33,570 - 22 33,592
Investments available-for-sale 131,749 14,715 3,671 150,135
Due from banks 11,481 19 1,640 13,140
Loans to customers and banks 831,222 15 14 831,251
Other financial assets 12,471 - - 12,471

Total financial assets 1,185,456 20,223 22,966 1,228,645

Financial liabilities 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 9,199 - - 9,199
Due to banks and financial institutions 55,280 235 43,276 98,791
Customer and bank accounts 976,952 - - 976,952
Debt securities issued 17,328 - - 17,328
Subordinated bonds 75,454 - - 75,454
Other financial liabilities 12,014 - - 12,014

Total financial liabilities 1,146,227 235 43,276 1,189,738

Open position 39,229 19,988 (20,310)
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(d) Credit risk, continued 

Geographical concentration, continued  

Kazakhstan
Other 

non-OECD countries
OECD 

countries

31 December
2016
Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 222,634 3,659 32,494 258,787
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 54,466 - 26 54,492
Investments available-for-sale 106,121 - 18 106,139
Investment held-to-maturity 30,363 3,828 - 34,191
Due from banks 5,465 17 1,352 6,834
Loans to customers and banks 804,078 14,649 15 818,742
Other financial assets 4,969 - - 4,969

Total financial assets 1,228,096 22,153 33,905 1,284,154

Financial liabilities 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 9,227 - - 9,227
Due to banks and financial institutions 53,843 542 55,264 109,649
Customer and bank accounts 1,053,902 - - 1,053,902
Debt securities issued 24,809 - - 24,809
Subordinated bonds 53,333 - - 53,333
Other financial liabilities 6,444 - - 6,444

Total financial liabilities 1,201,558 542 55,264 1,257,364

Open position 26,538 21,611 (21,359)

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by 
delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and/-
or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to liquidity management. It is unusual for 
financial institutions ever to be completely matched, since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched 
position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.

The Group maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be available at all times to honour all cash flow 
obligations as they become due. The liquidity policy is reviewed and approved by the Management Board. 
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The Group seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising debt securities in issue, long- and short-term loans from 
other banks, core corporate and retail customer deposits, accompanied by diversified portfolios of highly liquid assets, in order to be able to 
respond quickly and efficiently to unforeseen liquidity requirements. 

The Treasury Department performs management of these risks through analysis of asset and liability maturity and performance of money market 
transactions for current liquidity support and cash flow optimisation. The Department of Planning and Finance determines the optimum structure 
of balance and limits on liquidity ratios. Gap-positions are approved by the FRMC. The Risk Department performs monitoring of liquidity ratios.

The liquidity management policy requires:

•	 liquidity risk identification and measurement; 

•	 monitoring of liquidity risk and liquidity positions, establishment of reporting system, including prudential and management reporting; 

•	 liquidity risk limitation, formation of the system of limits (restrictions) and early warning indicators;

•	 stress-testing; 

•	 development of alternative options of liquidity planning, maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans and their regular review; 

•	 organisation of internal controls over liquidity risk and liquidity risk management, exercise of internal audit;

•	 disclosure of respective information on liquidity risk and liquidity position.

The following tables show analysis of financial assets and liabilities grouped according to the principle of period remaining from the balance sheet 
date till maturity date, except for the financial assets through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments, which are based on the expected 
maturities as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. 
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(e) Liquidity risk, continued 

31 December 2017 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On demand 
and up 

to 1 month
1 month 

to 3 months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 year 
to 5 years

Over 
5 years

31 December 
2017 
Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 6.43% - - 342 - - 342
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 8.52% 32,933 - - - - 32,933
Available-for-sale investments 6.34% 149,984 - - - - 149,984
Due from banks 2.88% 1,328 5,650 2,991 - - 9,969
Loans to customers and banks 11.60% 78,711 52,423 179,325 318,921 201,871 831,251
Total interest bearing financial assets 262,956 58,073 182,658 318,921 201,871 1,024,479
Cash and cash equivalents 187,714 - - - - 187,714
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 659 - - - - 659
Available-for-sale investments 151 - - - - 151
Due from banks 3,171 - - - - 3,171
Other financial assets 12,471 - - - - 12,471
Total financial assets 467,122 58,073 182,658 318,921 201,871 1,228,645
Financial liabilities
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 3.00% 9,199 - - - - 9,199
Due to banks and financial institutions 6.25% 36,023 127 9,041 33,643 18,497 97,331
Customer and bank accounts 6.09% 77,820 50,662 274,428 285,654 18,769 707,333
Debt securities issued 8.07% 67 213 - 17,048 - 17,328
Subordinated bonds 10.93% - 409 6,407 16,870 51,768 75,454
Total interest bearing liabilities 123,109 51,411 289,876 353,215 89,034 906,645
Due to banks and financial institutions 1,441 - - - 19 1,460
Customer and bank accounts 261,345 - 8,274 - - 269,619
Other financial liabilities 12,014 - - - - 12,014
Total financial liabilities 397,909 51,411 298,150 353,215 89,053 1,189,738
Liquidity gap 69,213 6,662 (115,492) (34,294) 112,818
Interest sensitivity gap 139,847 6,662 (107,218) (34,294) 112,837
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap 139,847 146,509 39,291 4,997 117,834
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap as a 
percentage of total financial assets 11.38% 11.98% 3.20% 0.41% 9.59%
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(e) Liquidity risk, continued 

31 December 2016

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On demand 
and up 

to 1 month
1 month

to 3 months
3 months
 to 1 year

1 year
 to 5 years

Over 
5 years

31 December 
2016 
Total

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 6.36% 3,777 - - - - 3,777
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 7.58% 53,954 - - - - 53,954
Available-for-sale investments 6.21% 105,991 - - - - 105,991
Investments held-to-maturity 5.66% 1,331 472 8,499 6,603 17,286 34,191
Due from banks 11.45% 1,047 - 3,021 - - 4,068
Loans to customers and banks 9.25% 161,442 45,433 135,867 304,619 171,381 818,742
Total interest bearing financial assets 327,542 45,905 147,387 311,222 188,667 1,020,723
Cash and cash equivalents 255,010 - - - - 255,010
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 538 - - - - 538
Available-for-sale investments 148 - - - - 148
Due from banks 2,766 - - - - 2,766
Other financial assets 4,969 - - - - 4,969
Total financial assets 590,973 45,905 147,387 311,222 188,667 1,284,154
Financial liabilities
Financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 3.00% 9,227 - - - - 9,227
Due to banks and financial Institutions 6.50% 4,986 736 11,785 39,142 51,423 108,072
Customer and bank accounts 6.08% 49,728 70,169 276,213 308,790 36,877 741,777
Debt securities issued 7.80% - - 10,306 14,502 1 24,809
Subordinated bonds 11.30% - 411 3,358 17,866 31,698 53,333
Total interest bearing liabilities 63,941 71,316 301,662 380,300 119,999 937,218
Due to banks and financial Institutions 1,577 - - - - 1,577
Customer and bank accounts 312,125 - - - - 312,125
Other financial liabilities 6,444 - - - - 6,444
Total financial liabilities 384,087 71,316 301,662 380,300 119,999 1,257,364
Liquidity gap 206,886 (25,411) (154,275) (69,078) 68,668
Interest sensitivity gap 263,601 (25,411) (154,275) (69,078) 68,668
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap 263,601 238,190 83,915 14,837 83,505

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap as a 
percentage of total financial assets 20.53% 18.55% 6.53% 1.16% 6.50%
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(e) Liquidity risk, continued 

In accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, depositors can withdraw their term deposits at any time, losing in most of the cases the accrued 
interest. These deposits are classified in accordance with their stated maturity dates. 

However management believes that in spite of this early withdrawal option and the fact that a substantial portion of customers accounts are 
on demand, diversification of these customer accounts and deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the Group 
indicates that these customers accounts provide a long-term and stable source of funding.

Management expects that the cash flows from certain financial assets and liabilities will be different from their contractual terms, either because 
management has the discretionary ability to manage the cash flows, or because past experience indicates that cash flows will differ from 
contractual terms. 

A further analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following tables in accordance with IFRS 7.  The amounts disclosed 
in these tables do not correspond to the amounts recorded on the statement of financial position as the presentation below includes a maturity 
analysis for financial liabilities that indicates the total remaining contractual payments (including interest payments), which are not recognised in 
the statement of financial position under the effective interest rate method. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted 
amount is derived from interest rate yield curves at the end of the reporting period.

On demand and 
up to 1 month

1 month 
to 3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year 
to 5 years

Over 
5 years

31 December 
2017
 Total

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and financial 
institutions 34,522 1,886 9,692 33,773 30,455 110,328
Customer and bank accounts 81,000 56,734 286,867 288,222 19,941 732,764 
Debt securities issued 280 358 1,094 18,181 6 19,919
Subordinated bonds 1,417 1,188 11,438 45,773 82,083 141,899

Total interest-bearing 
liabilities 117,219 60,166 309,091 385,949 132,485 1,004,910

Due to banks and financial 
institutions 1,441 - - - 19 1,460
Customer and bank accounts 261,345 - 8,274 - - 269,619
Other financial liabilities 12,014 12,014

Total financial liabilities 392,019 60,166 317,365 385,949 132,504 1,288,003
Financial guarantees and 
commitments 146,913 - - - - 146,913
Financial derivative liabilities
Gross settled derivatives
-Inflow - 24,973 - - - 24,973
-Outflow - (11,569) - - - (11,569)
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(e) Liquidity risk, continued 

On demand and 
up to 

1 month
1 month 

to 3 months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 year 
to 5 years

Over 
5 years

31 December 
2016
Total

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and financial 
institutions 15,634 1,168 7,772 44,681 65,135 134,390
Customer and bank accounts 81,581 71,794 293,462 337,019 41,441    825,297

Debt securities issued - - 11,575 16,804 13 28,392
Subordinated bonds - 812 8,025 35,466 42,592 86,895

Total interest-bearing 
liabilities 97,215 73,774 320,834 433,970 149,181 1,074,974

Due to banks and financial 
institutions 1,577 - - - - 1,577
Customer and bank accounts 312,125 - - - - 312,125

Other financial liabilities 15,671 - - - - 15,671

Total financial liabilities 426,588 73,774 320,834 433,970 149,181 1,404,347
Financial guarantees and 
commitments 88,821 - - - - 88,821

Financial derivative liabilities

Gross settled derivatives
-Inflow - 11,757 15,975 24,973 - 52,705
-Outflow - - (610) (11,569) - (12,179)

The timing of cash outflows has been prepared on the following basis:

Derivative financial instruments

Contractual payments for derivative financial instruments are determined based on gross settlements due to initial and final exchange of notional 
amounts and applicable interest rates in accordance with the terms of these financial instruments. 

Prepaid liabilities

Where a financial liability can be prepaid by the counterparty, the cash outflow has been included at the earliest date on which the counterparty 
can require repayment regardless whether or not such early repayment results in a penalty. If the repayment of financial liability is triggered by, or 
is subject to, specific criteria such as market price hurdles being reached, it is included  at the earliest possible date that the conditions could be 
fulfilled without considering probability of the conditions being met.

The financial guarantees and commitments are included in the “On demand” category because payments can be required upon request. 
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, CONTINUED 

(f) Operational risk

Definition of operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s processes, personnel, 
technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks, such as those arising from legal and 
regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations. 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with 
overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, the Group policy requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

The Group manages operational risk by establishing internal controls that management determines to be necessary in each area of its operations. 

27. RISK MANAGEMENT

NBRK sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole.

Bank defines as capital those items defined by statutory regulation as capital for credit institutions.

- Tier 1 capital is a total of basic and additional capital. Basic capital comprises paid-in ordinary share capital, share premium, current and 
prior periods’ retained earnings and reserves created thereof, less treasury share capital, intangible assets including goodwill, and current and 
prior periods losses, deferred tax asset net of deferred tax liability, excluding deferred tax assets recognised in relation to deductible temporary 
differences, other revaluation reserves, gains from sales related to asset securitisation transactions, gains or losses from revaluation of financial 
liabilities at fair value related to change in own credit risk, regulatory adjustments to be deducted from the additional capital, but due to insufficient 
levels of it deducted from basic capital, and investments in financial instruments of investees not consolidated in the Group with certain limitations. 
Additional capital comprises of perpetual contracts and paid-in preference share capital less adjustments for the Bank’s investment in its own 
perpetual financial instruments, treasury preference shares, investments in financial instruments of investees not consolidated in the Group with 
certain limitations and regulatory adjustments to be deducted from the tier 2 capital, but due to insufficient levels of it deducted from additional 
capital.

- Tier 2 capital comprises subordinated debt in KZT less investments in subordinated debt of financial institutions the Bank holds 10% and more 
shares in.  

Total capital is the sum of tier 1 and tier 2 capital less positive difference between retail deposits and statutory capital multiplied by 5.5, and less 
16.67% of the positive difference between regulatory impairment provisions and IFRS impairment provision as at 31 December 2017 (total capital 
is the sum of tier 1 and tier 2 capital less positive difference between retail deposits and statutory capital multiplied by 5.5 as at 31 December 
2016). 

There are a set of different limitations and classification criteria applied to the above listed total capital elements. 

In accordance with the regulations set by the NBRK the Bank has to maintain total capital adequacy within the following coefficients:

- a ratio of basic capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market risk-weighted assets and contingent assets and 
liabilities, and quantified operational risk (k1)

- a ratio of tier 1 capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market risk-weighted assets and contingent assets and 
liabilities, and quantified operational risk (k1-2)

- a ratio of total capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market risk-weighted assets and contingent assets and 
liabilities, and quantified operational risk (k2).

As at 31 December 2017 the minimum level of ratios as applicable to the Bank are as follows:

- k1 – not less than 0.055 (31 December 2016: 0.050)

- k1-2 – not less than 0.065 (31 December 2016: 0.060)

- k2 – not less than 0.080 (31 December 2016: 0.075). 

The Bank complied with all externally imposed capital requirements as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. As at 31 December 2017 
Bank’s coefficients are as follows: k1 – 0.104, k1-2 – 0.133 and k2 – 0.214 (31 December 2016: k1 – 0.091, k1-2 – 0.132 и k2 – 0.183).
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT, CONTINUED

The following table shows the composition of the capital position as at 31 December 2017 calculated in accordance with the requirements 
established by the resolution of Board of National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan of the resolution of Board of National Bank of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan of September 13, 2017 No. 170 “On establishment of normative values and techniques of calculations of prudential standard rates 
and other regulations, obligatory to observance, and limits of the size of the capital of bank for the certain date and Rules of calculation and limits 
of the open foreign exchange position of bank” with amendments and additions (31 December 2016: the Resolution of Board of National Bank of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan of May 30, 2016 No. 147). 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016

Tier 1 capital
Basic capital: 111,582 84,077
Share capital 57,977 57,977
Additional paid-in capital - -
Statutory retained earnings of prior years 8,181 5,079
Retained earnings of current period 30,174 3,102
Reserves formed from statutory retained earnings of prior years 16,896 16,896
Revaluation surplus for buildings 4,444 5,781
Revaluation reserve of available-for-sale financial assets (1,100) (1,938)
Statutory adjustments:
Intangible assets including goodwill (4,990) (2,820)
Total basic capital 111,582 84,077
Additional capital:
Paid-in preference share capital not satisfying basic capital requirements 9,420 11,775
Bank investments in perpetual financial instruments of financial institutions in which it has ten 
(10) percent or more issued shares (stake in the share capital) to be deducted from additional 
capital 21,494 26,945
Tier 1 capital 142,496 122,797
Tier 2 capital
Subordinated debt 76,246 16,246

Subordinated debt placed before 1 January 2015 denominated in KZT 22,676 30,619

Statutory adjustments:
Less investments in subordinated debt of financial institutions the Bank holds 10% and more 
shares in - -

Total tier 2 capital 98,922 46,865

Statutory adjustments:
Positive difference between retail deposits and statutory capital multiplied by 5.5 - (9,087)
16.67% of the positive difference between regulatory impairment provisions and IFRS 
impairment provision (11,999) н/п

Total capital 229,419 160,575

Risk-weighted assets, contingent assets and liabilities and operational risk
Credit risk-weighted assets 913,521 847,161

Credit risk-weighted contingent liabilities 113,138 74,010

Market risk-weighted assets, contingent assets and liabilities 11,208 8,192

Operational risk 32,689 40,770

Risk-weighted assets, contingent assets and liabilities, and operational risk 1,070,556 970,133

k1 0.104 0.087
k1-2 0.133 0.127
k2 0.214 0.166
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28. CREDIT RELATED COMMITMENTS

The Group has outstanding credit related commitments to extend loans. These credit related commitments take the form of approved loans and 
credit card limits and overdraft facilities.

The Group provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of customers to third parties. These agreements have 
fixed limits and generally extend for a period of up to five years. 

The Group applies the same credit risk management policies and procedures when granting credit commitments, financial guarantees and letters 
of credit as it does for granting loans to customers.

The contractual amounts of credit related commitments are set out in the following table by category. The amounts reflected in the table for credit 
related commitments assume that amounts are fully advanced. The amounts reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit represent the 
maximum accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if the counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the nominal values or contractual values and risk-weighted amounts are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Nominal 
value

Risk-weighted 
value

Nominal 
value

Risk-weighted 
value

Guarantees issued and other similar liabilities 138,445 132,700 79,168 73,450
Letters of credit and other contingent liabilities 
related to other transaction 8,468 1,694 9,653 1,931

146,913 134,394 88,821 75,381

Management expects that loans and liabilities under credit facilities will be financed as required at the expense of the amounts received from 
repayment of the current loan portfolio according to the payment schedules. 

The following tables shows the guarantees issued and other similar liabilities secured by different types of collaterals and not the fair value of the 
collateral itself. 

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Unsecured 64,189 28,749
Movable property 21,334 9,324
Real estate 16,039 21,567
Receivables 11,682 3,401
Cash 5,746     5,718
Corporate guarantees 2,921     7,127
Goods in turnover 660 272
Land 231 10
Other 15,643 3,000
Total 138,445 79,168
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28. CREDIT RELATED COMMITMENTS

The following tables shows the letters of credit issued and other similar liabilities secured by different types of collaterals and not the fair value of 
the collateral itself. 

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Cash 8,370 8,754
Receivables - 155
Unsecured letters of credit 98 744
Total 8,468 9,653

These commitments do not necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these credit related commitments may expire or terminate without 
being funded. 

29. OPERATING LEASE

Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are payable as follows:

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Less than one year 1,674 1,843

The Group leases a number of premises and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to three years, 
with an option to then renew the lease. Lease payments are usually increased annually to reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes 
contingent rentals.

During the reporting period KZT 1,685 million were recognised as expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under the operating 
leases (31 December 2016: KZT 1,881 million).
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30. FUNDS MANAGEMENT AND TRUST ACTIVITIES 

The Group provides trust services to individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions, whereby it holds and manages assets or 
invests funds received in various financial instruments at the direction of the customer. The Group receives fee income for providing these services. 
Trust assets are not assets of the Group and are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group is not exposed to any 
credit risk related to such placements, as it does not guarantee these investments.

Fiduciary assets are categorised as follows based on their nominal value:

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Securities 572,366 585,618
Unit investment funds 185,747 188,998
Bank deposits 71,580 58,600
Investments in buildings, machinery, equipment, transport and other property 765 782
Other assets 170 170
Total fiduciary assets 830,628 834,168

The Bank keeps accounting and prepares reporting for assets and investment funds, asset management and other legal entities and transactions 
with assets and makes reconciliation with the management company with regard to the assets being served, in accordance with the requirements 
of the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan and NBRK rules.  

31. CONTINGENCIES

(а) Insurance 

The insurance industry in the Republic of Kazakhstan is in a developing state and many forms of insurance protection common in other parts of the 
world are not yet generally available. The Group does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business interruption, or third-party 
liability in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on its property or related to operations. Until the Group obtains 
adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on operations and 
financial position.

(b) Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the ultimate liability, if any, 
arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future operations.  

(c)  Taxation contingencies in Kazakhstan

The taxation system in Kazakhstan is relatively new and is characterised by frequent changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court 
decisions, which are often unclear, contradictory and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities, including opinions with respect 
to IFRS treatment of revenues, expenses and other items in the financial statements. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by various 
levels of authorities, which have the authority to impose severe fines and interest charges. A tax year generally remains open for review by the tax 
authorities for five subsequent calendar years; however, under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. 

These circumstances may create tax risks in Kazakhstan that are more significant than in other countries. Management believes that it has provided 
adequately for tax liabilities based on its interpretations of applicable tax legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions. However, the 
interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on these consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in 
enforcing their interpretations, could be significant.
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32. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: FAIR VALUES AND ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017: 

Trading 
Held-to-
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Available-
for-sale

Other 
amortised cost

Total carrying 
amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents - - 188,056 - - 188,056 188,056
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss 33,592 - - - - 33,592 33,592
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 150,135 - 150,135 150,135
Due from banks - - 13,140 - - 13,140 13,140
Loans to customers and banks - - 831,251 - - 831,251 822,665
Other financial assets - - 12,471 - - 12,471 12,471

33,592 - 1,044,918 150,135 - 1,228,645 1,220,059
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss 9,199 - - - - 9,199 9,199
Due to banks and financial 
institutions - - - - 98,791 98,791 98,791
Customer and bank accounts - - - - 976,952 976,952 975,414
Debt securities issued - - - - 17,328 17,328 15,902
Subordinated bonds - - - - 75,454 75,454 69,131
Other financial liabilities - - - - 12,014 12,014 12,014

9,199 - - - 1,180,539 1,189,738 1,180,451

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values, continued 

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016:

Trading 
Held-to-
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Available-
for-sale

Other 
amortised cost

Total carrying 
amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents  -  - 258,787 -  - 258,787 258,787
Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss 54,492 - - - - 54,492 54,492
Available-for-sale financial 
assets - - - 106,139 - 106,139 106,139
Due from banks - - 6,834 - - 6,834 6,834
Held-to-maturity investments - 34,191 - - - 34,191 32,481
Loans to customers and banks - - 818,742 - - 818,742 815,420
Other financial assets - - 4,969 - - 4,969 4,969

54,492 34,191 1,089,332 106,139 - 1,284,154 1,279,122
Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss 9,227 - - - - 9,227 9,227
Due to banks and financial 
institutions - - - - 109,649 109,649 109,649
Customer and bank accounts - - - - 1,053,902 1,053,902 1,033,486
Debt securities issued - - - - 24,809 24,809 24,300
Subordinated bonds - - - - 53,333 53,333 53,198
Other financial liabilities - - - - 6,444 6,444 6,444

9,227 - - - 1,248,137 1,257,364 1,236,304
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32. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: FAIR VALUES AND ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS, CONTINUED

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values, continued 

The estimates of fair value are intended to approximate the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

However, given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgment, the fair value should not be interpreted as being realisable in an immediate 
sale of the assets or transfer of liabilities.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair values using other valuation techniques.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset, or paid 
to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market-observable 
prices exist. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia 
used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price 
volatilities and correlations. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial 
instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined by market participants acting at arm’s length.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest 
rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. Observable prices and 
model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives, and simple over-the-counter 
derivatives such us interest rate swaps.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation models. Some or all of the significant inputs into these models may not be 
observable in the market, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions. Example of instruments involving 
significant unobservable inputs include certain loans and securities for which there is no active market. 

The following assumptions are used by management to estimate the fair values of financial instruments:

•	 discount rates of 5.4 – 14.0% and 6.6 – 17.4% are used for discounting future cash flows from loans to corporate customers and loans to 
retail customers, respectively;

•	 discount rates of 1.6 – 8.6% and 2.2 – 12.1% are used to calculate expected future cash flows from current accounts and deposits of 
corporate and retail customers;

•	 quoted market value is used to measure the fair value of debt securities issued.

The estimates of fair value are intended to approximate the amount for which a financial instrument can be exchanged between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. However, given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgment, the fair value should not be 
interpreted as being realisable in an immediate sale of the assets or transfer of liabilities.

(b) Fair value hierarchy

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements:

•	 Level 1: quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices 
for similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly observable from market data.

•	 Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on 
observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that 
are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.
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The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2017 by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the 
fair value measurement is categorised.

Level 1 Level 3 Total

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  
- Derivative assets  - 19,495 19,495
- Derivative liabilities   -  (9,199)  (9,199)
Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
– debt securities 13,438 - 13,438
No-derivative available-for-sale investments – debt securities 150,135 - 150,135

163,573 10,296 173,869

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2016 by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the 
fair value measurement is categorised:

Level 1 Level 3 Total

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  
- Derivative assets  - 41,953 41,953
- Derivative liabilities  - (9,227) (9,227)
Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – debt 
securities 12,001 - 12,001
Available-for-sale investments – debt securities 106,039 - 106,039

118,040 32,726 150,766

During the period ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 there were no transfers between the Level 1 and Level 3.

Unobservable valuation differences on initial recognition 

Transaction price in the market, in which swaps transaction are entered into with NBRK may differ from the fair value of swap instruments in 
primary markets (Note 13). Upon initial recognition the Group measures fair value of swap transactions entered into with NBRK using the 
valuation technique. 

In many cases all significant inputs into the valuation techniques are wholly observable, for example by reference to information from similar 
transactions in the currency market. In cases where all inputs are not /observable, for example because there are no observable trades in a similar 
risk at the reporting date, the Bank uses valuation techniques that rely on unobservable inputs – e.g. volatilities of certain underlying, expectations 
of termination periods. When fair value at initial recognition is not evidenced by a quoted price in an active market or based on a valuation 
technique that uses data only from observable markets, any difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price is not 
recognised in profit or loss immediately, but is deferred (see note 3).

The reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets is presented as follows:

Derivative financial 
assets 

Derivative financial
 liabilities

1 January 2016 91,205 (9,769)

Total (losses)/gain recognised in profit or loss: (2,609) 542
Settlements (46,643) -
31 December 2016 41,953 (9,227)

Total (losses)/gain recognised in profit or loss: (2,386) 328
Settlements (20,072) (300)
31 December 2017 19,495 (9,199)
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To determine the fair value of the swaps, management assumed interest rates in KZT within the range of 14.79% to 15.13% and of 1.04% to 
1.18% in USD. Management believes that the NBRK does not use its right of early termination of transactions before their maturity. 

Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions could lead to 
different measurements of fair value. 

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2017:

 Level 2 Level 3
Total 

fair values
Total carrying 

amount

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 188,056 - 188,056 188,056
Due from banks 13,140 - 13,140 13,140

Loans to customers and banks 679,069 143,596 822,665 831,251
Other financial assets 12,471 - 12,471 12,471
Liabilities 
Customer and bank accounts 975,414 - 975,414 976,952

Due to banks and financial institutions 98,791 - 98,791 98,791

Debt securities issued 15,902 - 15,902 17,328
Subordinated bonds 69,131 - 69,131 75,454
Other financial liabilities 12,014 - 12,014 12,014

32. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: FAIR VALUES AND ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS, CONTINUED

(b) Fair value hierarchy, continued 

Unobservable valuation differences on initial recognition, continued  

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2016:

  Level 2   Level 3
 Total fair 

values
 Total 

carrying amount

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 258,787 - 258,787 258,787
Due from banks 6,834 - 6,834 6,834
Loans to customers and banks 661,151 154,269 815,420 818,742
Held-to-maturity investments 32,481 - 32,481 34,191
Other financial assets 4,969 - 4,969 4,969
Liabilities 
Customer and bank accounts 1,033,486 - 1,033,486 1,053,902

Due to banks and financial institutions 109,649 - 109,649 109,649
Debt securities issued 24,300 - 24,300 24,809

Subordinated bonds 53,198 - 53,198 53,333
Other financial liabilities 6,444 - 6,444 6,444
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Bank, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Related
 party balances

Average effective 
interest rate, %

Related 
party balances

Average effective 
interest rate, %

Cash and cash equivalents 3,323 204
- Shareholders having significant 
influence 3,323 2.20% 204 -
Loans to customers and banks, 
gross 5,349 4,777
- key management personnel of the 
Group or its Parent Bank - - 34 9.43%
- close family members of key 
management personnel 315 8.45% 68 10.31%
- other 5,034 7.89% 4,675 7.95%
Provision for impairment losses on 
loans to customers and banks 10 (23)
- key management personnel of the 
Group or its Parent Bank - - - -
- close family members of key 
management personnel 9 - - -
- other 1 - (23) -
Due to banks and financial 
institutions 11 2
- Shareholders with significant 
influence 11 - 2 -
Customer and bank accounts 18,370 9,386
- key management personnel of the 
Group or its Parent Bank 6,911 3.29% 5,505 3.29%
- close family members of key 
management personnel 6,696 3.91% 3,523 9.48%
- other 4,763 7.11% 358 4.92%
Guarantees issued and similar 
liabilities - 6
- Other - - 6 -
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, CONTINUED  

Secured and unsecured loans and guarantees are issued to key management personnel in the ordinary course of business. These loans are provided 
mostly on the same terms and conditions, including interest rates as those used in similar transactions with the persons of the same positions or, if 
applicable, to other employee. These transactions did not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavourable features.

Amounts deposited by the Parent Bank and other related parties earn interest at the same rates as those offered to the market or on the same 
terms and conditions applicable to other employees within the Group.

Included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are the following amounts which arose 
due to transactions with related parties:

For the year ended
 31 December 2017

For the year ended
 31 December 2016

Interest income 685 289
- key management personnel of the Group or its parent Bank 2 3
- close relatives of key management personnel 32 5
- other 651 281

Interest expense (924) (538)
- key management personnel of the Group or its parent Bank (64) (278)
- close relatives of key management personnel (187) (235)
- other (673) (25)

Operating expenses  (406) (378)
- key management personnel of the Group or its parent Bank (406) (378)

Key management personnel remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 represent short-term employee 
benefits. Total remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and Management Board amounted to KZT 406 million, and KZT 378 million for 
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, respectively. 

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On 13 February 2018 Bank CenterCredit JSC announces repurchase of 100% of the placed preference shares convertible into ordinary shares of 
Bank Center Credit JSC on the following terms: 

- Number of shares being repurchased – 39,249,255 (100% of placed preference shares);

- Price of one share is KZT 300 (three hundred) per share, which has been determined in accordance with the methodology of determination of 
a share price of Bank CenterCredit JSC in case of share repurchase by the Bank, which was approved by the general meeting of shareholders on 
26 May 2006. 

- Deadline for submission of applications and repurchase of shares is 14 March 2018, inclusive. 

As at 14 March 2017 the procedure of repurchase of the Bank’s preference shares was completed: 39,044,841 preference shares were 
repurchased, including 8,366,560 preference shares repurchased from Tsesnabank JSC and 27,067,109 preference shares repurchased from 
Financial Holding “Tsesna” JSC. 

On 14 March 2018 a block of ordinary shares owned by Tsesnabank JSC, comprising 29.56% of the total number of ordinary shares placed by 
the Bank, has been sold to the major participants of Bank CenterCredit JSC: Mr. Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov, Mr. Vladislav Sedinovich Lee 
and a group of individuals (minority shareholders). Based on results of the transaction, the shares of Mr. Bakhytbek Rymbekovich Baiseitov and 
Mr. Vladislav Sedinovich Lee amounted to 48.07% и 10.05% of the total number of ordinary shares placed by the Bank, respectively.
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oveRcoming difficulties

A round-the-world flight lasting 13 days and 12 hours
in a hot air balloon which covered 33,000 kilometers, 
was made by the American traveler, balloonist 
and businessman Steve Fossett in 2002. It was his 
sixth attempt! He flew fastest of all over the Indian Ocean, 
at a speed of about 300 kilometers per hour.  

in 2002

13 days        and 12 hours 
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